
  

 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Wednesday, 13 March 2024 - 6.00 
p.m. 
Morecambe Town Hall 

 

 
 

 
 
 
Mark Davies, 
Chief Executive, 
Town Hall, 
Dalton Square, 
LANCASTER, 
LA1 1PJ 

Lancaster City Council welcomes members of the public to attend meetings. However, space 
in the public gallery is limited to 30 seats due to Fire Regulations. The seats are allocated on a 
first come, first served basis and no standing is permitted. Meetings are livestreamed please 
click HERE to watch using MS Teams. Please contact Democratic Support via email 
democracy@lancaster.gov.uk if you wish to register to speak or ask a question at this 
meeting. The deadline to register is 12pm on Friday 8 March 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YzY2YTk0NmItM2RlZi00NDNmLWJjZTMtNDkzZTY4MTAwNmYy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%2261b49b28-22c1-4c9b-8830-70288744880e%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%220da7cf21-4021-4eb1-b50b-5de1ed62368b%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a
mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


 

 

  

 

 
 

Sir/Madam, 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Lancaster City Council to be held in the 
Town Hall, Morecambe on Wednesday, 13 March 2024 commencing at 6.00 p.m. for the 
following purposes: 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
2. MINUTES  
 
 To receive as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of the City Council held on 28 

February 2024 (previously circulated).   
  
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the 
meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

  
4. ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
5. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
 To receive any announcements which may be submitted by the Mayor or Chief 

Executive.   
  
6. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 11  
 
 To receive questions in accordance with the provisions of Council Procedure Rules 11.1 

and 11.3 which require members of the public to give at least 3 days’ notice in writing of 
questions to a Member of Cabinet or Committee Chairman.   



  
7. PETITIONS AND ADDRESSES  
 
 To receive any petitions and/or addresses from members of the public which have been 

notified to the Chief Executive in accordance with the Council's Constitution.   
  
8. LEADER'S REPORT (Pages 5 - 6) 
 
 To receive the Cabinet Leader’s report on proceedings since the last meeting of Council.   

 
Published 7 March 2024 

  
REPORTS REFERRED FROM CABINET, COMMITTEES OR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  
 
9. FLEXIBLE USE OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS STRATEGY 2024-25 (Pages 7 - 15) 
 
 Report of Cabinet. 

 
Published 8 March 2024 

  
10. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2024/25 - 2028/29 (Pages 16 - 94) 
 
 Report of Cabinet. 

 
Published 8 March 2024 

  
11. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2024/25 (Pages 95 - 116) 
 
 Report of People & Organisational Development Committee. 

 
Published 8 March 2024 

  
MOTIONS ON NOTICE  
 
12. MOTION ON NOTICE - 53 MONDAYS (Page 117) 
 
 To consider a motion on notice submitted by Councillors Caroline Jackson and Phillip 

Black. 
 
Officer briefing published 12 March 2024. 

  
13. MOTION ON NOTICE - NEW RAILWAY STATIONS AND ELECTRIFICATION ALONG 

THE LANCASTER - MORECAMBE - HEYSHAM BRANCH LINE (Pages 118 - 120) 
 
 To consider a motion on notice submitted by Councillors: Catherine Potter, Joanne 

Ainscough, Catherine Armistead, Matthew Black, Phillip Bradley, Roger Cleet, Claire 
Cozler, John Hanson, Prof Chris Harris, Paul Hart, Colin Hartley, John Livermore, 
Margaret Pattison, Susan Penney, and David Whitaker. 
 
Published 6th March 2024. 

  
OTHER BUSINESS  
 
14. APPOINTMENTS AND CHANGES TO COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP  
 



 Group Administrators to report any changes to Committee Membership.   
  
15. QUESTIONS UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 12  
 
 To receive questions in accordance with the provisions of Council Procedure Rules 12.2 

and 12.4 which require a Member to give at least 3 working days’ notice, in writing, of 
the question to the Chief Executive.   

  
16. MINUTES OF CABINET (Pages 121 - 129) 
 
 To receive the Minutes of Meeting of Cabinet held 6 February 2024.   
  

 

 
…………………………………………………. 

 

                                                                                                         Chief Executive  
 
 

Town Hall, 
Dalton Square,  
LANCASTER, 
LA1 1PJ 

 

Published on, 5 March 2024.   
 



COUNCIL  
 
 

Leader’s Report 
 

13 March 2024 
 

Report of the Leader of the Council 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To present the Leader’s report to Council.   
 

This report is public.   

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
To receive the report of the Leader of Council.   
 
 
REPORT 

 
1.0 Cabinet 

 
1.1 Information on Cabinet matters is provided in the minutes from the Cabinet 

meeting held 6 February later in this agenda. 
 
2.0 Decisions required to be taken urgently. 

 
2.1 No urgent Cabinet decisions have been taken since the last Leader’s Report. 
 

 
3.0 Leader’s Comments 

 
3.1 Due to the proximity of the February and March meetings of Council, the Leader 

will present a verbal report at the meeting. 
 
4.0 Decisions 

 
The following decisions were scheduled to be considered by Cabinet on 07 March 2024: 
 

Jubilee Court – Outcome of Homes England Audit Report 

Delivering our Priorities Q2 2023/24 

Strategic Risks 

Page 5 Agenda Item 8



Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2024-25 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 – 2028/29 

Lancaster City Council Parking Strategy 

Lancaster Canal Quarter Early Phase Housing Regeneration Proposals: Nelson Street 
Preferred Developer Tender 

 
 
No Officer Delegated Key Decisions have been taken since the last Leaders report. 
 
 

The following Individual Cabinet Member Decision has been taken since the last 
Leader’s report. 
 
 

ICMD 23 UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Grant 
Award: Supporting Local Business 

Taken by: Cllr Catherine Potter 
Published on: 23/02/24 

ICMD 24 UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Grant 
Award: Community and Place 

Taken by: Cllr Peter Jackson 
Published on: 23/02/24 

ICMD 25 Emergency Response – Waste 
Removal at Former Supaskips Site, 
Lancaster 

Taken by: Cllr Phillip Black 
Published on:27/02/24 

 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Cabinet agendas of the meeting held on 07 March 2024. 

Page 6



 
 

COUNCIL  

 
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2024-25 

13 March 2024 

 
Report of Cabinet 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

Statutory guidance from the Department for Levelling Up, Homes and Communities (DLUHC) 
and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) enables local authorities 
to make flexible use of capital receipts to fund projects which are likely to generate savings to 
the authority and / or other public bodies. 
 
To make use of this provision, authorities must submit to the Secretary of State a Flexible Use 
of Capital Receipts Strategy setting out how the provision will be applied in the next financial 
year. 
 
This report proposes a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy for 2024-25 to complement 
Phase 2 of the Council’s Outcomes-Based Resourcing programme – Fit for the Future 
 

This report is public. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION OF CABINET 
 
(1) That Full Council approves the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2024/25 set out in 

this report, in accordance with the relevant statutory guidance.  
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 All Councils are limited in their ability to utilise capital receipts, usually arising from the disposal 

proceeds from the sale of fixed assets. Statutory guidance issued under section 15(1) of the 
Local Government Act 2003 by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(as amended) generally precludes capital receipts being used to fund revenue expenditure 
and requires them to be applied to either fund capital expenditure or repay debt. The Act also 
requires local authorities to have regard to other guidance as issued or directed by the 
Secretary of State – this currently includes the following guidance issued by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy [CIPFA]:  

 
• The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities; and 
• The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

 

1.2 The Government’s Spending Review 2015 included a relaxation of these regulations allowing 
the use of capital receipts for a limited period, between 2016/17 and 2018/19, to fund revenue 
expenditure “that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of 
public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs or improve the 
quality-of-service delivery in future years”. This announcement was implemented by the 
issuing of regulations in March 2016. The period over which these amended regulations 
applied has continued to be extended.  

1.3 This was extended in an amended direction in December 2017 by a further three years up to 

Page 7 Agenda Item 9



and including 2021/22 to allow the continued flexible use of capital receipts for the above 
purposes. Further updated statutory guidance was issued by DLUHC in August 2022 which 
extended the scheme for the financial years 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25.  

 
1.4 Although there have been recommendation by bodies such as CIPFA for an enhanced capital 

flexibilities no formal guidance has been issued and so the current provision will cease 31st 
March 2025 

 
1.5 Cabinet met 7 March 2024 to consider this report and make its recommendation to Council. 
 
 

2.0 THE GUIDANCE / DIRECTIVE 
2.1 The guidance on the use of capital receipts flexibility was issued by the Secretary of State 

under section 15(1) of the Local Government Act 2003, and authorities are therefore required 
to have regard to it. The Guidance specified that: 

 

 Local authorities will only be able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, plant 
and equipment received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. They may not use 
their existing stock of capital receipts to finance the revenue costs of reform.  

 

 Local authorities cannot borrow to finance the revenue costs of the service reforms.  
 

 The expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied should be the up-front (set up or 
implementation) costs that will generate future ongoing savings and/or transform service 
delivery to reduce costs or to improve the quality-of-service delivery in future years. The 
ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot be classified as 
qualifying expenditure. 

 

 The key determining criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be funded by 
the new capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings to an 
authority’s, or several authorities,’ and/or to another public sector body’s net service 
expenditure net service expenditure. 

 

 In using the flexibility, the Council will have due regard to the requirements of the 
Prudential Code, the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and the current 
edition of the Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice. 

 
 
3.0 REQUIREMENTS FOR THE STRATEGY 
3.1 The guidance requires that authorities wishing to make use of this provision must submit their 

Strategy to the Secretary of State ahead of each financial year in which the provision is to be 
used; but that no approval or response is required from the Secretary of State for the Strategy 
to be implemented. Should Full Council approve the proposed Strategy, it will be submitted to 
the Secretary of State via the DELTA system. 

 
3.2 The Strategy must as a minimum set out the projects which plan to make use of the provision, 

along with their projected savings and / or service transformation and a summary of the impact 
on the authority’s Prudential Indicators for the forthcoming year and subsequent years. This 
information is set out in in sections 7 and 8. 

 
3.3 The Strategy should also review use of any provision in previous years and report on the 

savings and / or transformation achieved through use of the provision so far. Lancaster City 
Council has not yet made use of the provision, and as such any benefits arising from this 
Strategy will be reported in subsequent years, this is set out in section 9. 

 
 
 
3.4 The Strategy can be updated at any time during the financial year and re-submitted to the 

Page 8



 
 

Secretary of State. Authorities must not exceed the amounts stated in their Strategy without 
first submitting an updated Strategy to the Secretary of State. 

 
3.5 The Strategy must be made available to the public free of charge. This report, which is public, 

sets out Lancaster City Council’s Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy for 2024-25 in 
fulfilment of the above requirements. 

 
 
4.0 MONITORING AND UPDATING THE STRATEGY 
4.1 It is intended that the flexibility will be used to support the actions arising from the Outcomes-

Based Resourcing/ Fit for the Future process. The legitimacy of the use of capital receipts will 
be determined by the Section 151 Officer to ensure eligibility and compliance with the 
requirements set out by the Secretary of State. Progress on delivery of the programme, 
including financial implications and the realisation of benefits, will be reported through 
Delivering Our Priorities quarterly monitoring via Cabinet and Budget & Performance Panel.  

 
4.2 The Strategy may be updated within the financial year. Any updates will be proposed to 

Cabinet and then Council via a report, which subject to approval would then be submitted to 
the Secretary of State. 

 
4.3  Adoption of the Strategy does not necessarily oblige the Council to utilise capital receipts and 

initiatives may still be financed in whole or in part from other sources, e.g., revenue budgets.   
This recognises that not all capital receipts may be realised and that decisions need to be 
taken in the context of the Council’s overall revenue and capital financing position. 

 
4.4 Inclusion in the Strategy also does not constitute approval to progress a project. 
 
 
5.0 WHICH CAPITAL RECEIPTS ARE ELIGIBLE? 
5.1 The guidance sets out the criteria by which capital receipts are eligible for flexible use, 

summarised in the below excerpt from the guidance: 
  
 “…a qualifying disposal is an asset sale made within the period for which the direction applies, 

by the local authority to an entity outside the local authority’s group structure… 
 
 The intent of this condition is that capital receipts which are to be used by authorities under 

the flexibilities afforded by the direction should be from genuine disposals of assets by the 
authority. Where an authority retains some control of the assets, directly or indirectly, and 
retains exposure to the risks and rewards from those assets, the disposal does not give rise 
to a capital receipt that can be used in accordance with the direction.” 

 
5.2 It should be noted that the flexibility excludes Right-To-Buy capital receipts. It should also be 

noted that the Council’s budget process has assumed that forecast capital receipts have not 
been relied upon to fund any future expenditure. 

 
5.3 Forecast capital receipts from 2024/25 onwards have not been factored into the Council’s 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) by way of either reducing debt or financing capital 
expenditure. The use of these receipts under this flexibility will, therefore, have no effect on 
the Council’s Prudential Indicators. 

 
  

Page 9



 
6.0 WHICH EXPENDITURE IS ELIGIBLE? 
6.1 The guidance also sets out the criteria by which expenditure would be considered eligible for 

flexible use of capital receipts. The guidance summarises as follows: 
 
 “Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project that is designed to generate ongoing 

revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce 
costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in 
future years for any of the public sector delivery partners. 

 
 Set up and implementation costs of any new processes or arrangements can be classified as 

qualifying expenditure. The ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements 
cannot be classified as qualifying expenditure. In addition, one off costs, such as banking 
savings against temporary increases in costs/pay cannot be classified as qualifying 
expenditure. Under the direction the in force from April 2022, with respect to redundancy 
payments, qualifying expenditure will be limited to those amounts that are necessarily incurred 
as statutory redundancy payments provided the other requirements of qualifying expenditure 
are met. This restriction does not apply to other severance costs, including pension strain 
costs; the treatment of these costs remains unchanged from the previous direction.” 

 
6.2 The guidance provides a range of examples of expenditure which could be considered eligible, 

although the list is intended to be neither prescriptive nor exhaustive; based on the principles 
above, it is intended for each individual authority to consider whether a project should be 
eligible under the provision. The examples from the guidance are summarised below: 

 

 Sharing back-office and administrative services with one or more other council or public 
sector bodies. 
 

 Investment in service reform feasibility work, e.g., setting up pilot schemes. 
 

 Collaboration between local authorities and central government departments to free up 
land for economic use. 
 

 Funding the cost-of-service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation where this 
leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation. 
 

 Driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services and how the 
public interacts with constituent authorities where possible. 
 

 Aggregating procurement on common goods and services where possible, either as part 
of local arrangements or using Crown Commercial Services or regional procurement hubs 
or Professional Buying Organisations. 
 

 Improving systems and processes to tackle fraud and corruption in line with the Local 
Government Fraud and Corruption Strategy – this could include an element of staff 
training. 
 

 Setting up commercial or alternative delivery models to deliver services more efficiently 
and bring in revenue (for example, through selling services to others); and 
 

 Integrating public facing services across two or more public sector bodies (for example 
children’s social care or trading standards) to generate savings or to transform service 
delivery. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
 

7.0 THE COUNCIL’S PROPOSALS 2024/25 

7.1 The Council intends to use its capital receipts flexibility to fund or part fund savings connected 
to its Fit for the Future process with the aim of successfully delivering priority outcomes for the 
Lancaster district whilst at the same time achieving long-term sustainability of finance and 
resources. 

 
7.2 Within the revenue budget proposals for 2024/25 there are a number of savings and 

workstreams which underpin the corporate programmes listed in table 1 below. These 
programmes cover a wide range of areas such as the review of service operating models 
exploring opportunities around the increased use digital technologies, income generation as 
well the principals of Zero-Based Budgeting.  

 
Table 1: Corporate Proposals for 2024/25 

Project Description 
Estimated 

Investment/ 
Cost 

Projected  
Savings 

£M 
 

Service Levels & 
Efficiency 

Revisions and rationalisation of levels of 
service offering efficiency measures, 
increased commercialisation, and review 
of income streams TBC TBC 

 

Digitalization 

Improvements to residents access reliable 
advice, consistent information, and 
efficient Council services  
Reduce failure demand and help the 
Council meet high volume, routine 
transactions in a cost-effective manner. 
Review the functionality and costs of each 
ICT system with the objective of 
maximising the use of the functionality 
available and reducing the total number of 
systems used. TBC TBC 

 

Alternative 
Delivery Models 
& Partnerships 

Shared service savings, opportunities, 
contract reviews & alternative options for 
achieving outcomes TBC TBC 

 

Strategic Asset 
Management  

Improved asset management planning, 
asset usage reviews, potential disposals, 
optimising use of operational assets and 
prospects for energy and carbon 
reduction measures. TBC TBC 

 

 
 
7.3 Whilst these broad proposals are underpinned by a number of individual areas of which many 

are in their infancy and yet to be full costed. However, with all change programmes there will 
be a need for upfront investment in areas that will deliver capacity and objectivity.  

 
7.4 As has been noted within both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Capital Investment 

Strategies, the way the Council manages its assets will also play a significant part in not only 
delivering its services to its resident but also identify opportunities to fund both the Fit for the 
Future process but also its wider capital programme.  

 
7.5 A significant amount of work has been undertaken by Officers to identify suitable assets and 

table 2 provides summary details of the class of assets currently being marketed by the 
Council. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Table 2: Assets for Disposal 

 
Assets Currently Marketed 2024/25 

Expected Capital  
Receipts 2024/25 

£M 

Investment Properties 1.205 

Other Land & Buildings 0.180 

Estimated Value of Applicable Capital Receipts 1.385 

 
 
8.0 IMPACT ON PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS  
8.1 As referenced in paragraph 5.3, forecast capital receipts from 2024/25 onwards have not been 

factored into the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) by way of either reducing 
debt or financing capital expenditure. The use of these receipts under this flexibility will, 
therefore, have no effect on the Council’s Prudential Indicators. 

 
 

9.0 MONITORING OF THE 2023/24 STRATEGY  
9.1 The directive requires that progress against the strategy is reported and table 3 below 

summaries the level of savings identified as part of the 2023/24 budget process, with 
progress reported on a quarterly basis to Cabinet and B&PP as part the standard Delivering 
our Priorities quarterly reporting cycle. 

 
 Table 3: Savings Monitoring 

Project Description 
Estimated  
Savings 

£M 

Actual 
Savings 

£M 

Variance 
 

£M 
 

Service Levels & 
Efficiency 

Revisions and rationalisation of 
levels of service offered 
efficiency measures and review 
of income streams 

1.661 1.604 0.057  

Alternative 
Delivery Models 
& Partnerships 

Shared service savings, 
opportunities, contract reviews 
& alternative options for 
achieving outcomes 

0.148 0.011 0.137  

Organisational 
Structure & 
People 

Senior leadership restructure, 
establishment review to ensure 
fitness for purpose, alignment 
with desired strategic outcomes, 
deletion of vacant posts 

0.448 0.448 0 

 

 

Strategic Asset 
Management  

Improved asset management 
planning, asset usage reviews, 
potential disposals, optimising 
use of operational assets and 
prospects for energy and carbon 
reduction measures. 

0.166 0.166 0 

 

 
Total 2.423 2.229 0.194  

 
9.2 To date £2.229M of the £2.443M (92%) of the savings identified within the 2023/24 budget 

have been achieved with associated eligible costs of £0.898M. The Council expects to 
receive £0.438M of associated capital receipts which is below the level of costs incurred, this 
has resulted in an additional cost pressure on the revenue budget of £0.459M this year. Table 
4 below summaries the associated eligible costs, capital receipts received and the overall 
impact on the Councils General Fund. 

 
 

Page 12



 
 

 Table 4: Eligible Costs and Capital Receipts 

Eligible Costs Incurred 2023/24 £M 

Statutory Redundancy  (0.239) 

Pension Strain (0.588) 

Consultants (0.070) 

Total Eligible Costs (0.898) 

Capital Receipts Received April to December 2023/24  £M 

Wyresdale Road Land 0.325 

Misc Vehicle Sales 0.059 

Grants Clawed back 0.012 

Expected Capital Receipts Q4 0.042 

Total Expected Capital Receipts 0.438 

Impact on the Council's General Fund (0.459) 

 
 
10.0 DETAILS OF CONSULTATION 
10.1 The Council has undertaken substantial consultation including public briefings and a survey 

in establishing its overall budget proposals for 2024-25 onwards. This Strategy contributes to 
the delivery of those proposals by making use of the financial flexibility available to the 
Council in implementing its Fit for the Future approach. 

 
 
11.0 OPTIONS AND OPTIONS ANALYSIS (including risk assessment) 

Option 1: Adopt the Strategy 

Advantages 
The Council will be able to make use of the Flexible Capital Receipts provision in delivering its 
Fit for the Future programme. 
 

Disadvantages 
None identified from this report. 

 

Risks 
Capital receipts, savings and transformation benefits may not be realised as anticipated in the 
Strategy; the associated risks will be mitigated through the implementation of the Fit for the 
Future programme.  
 

Option 2: Do not adopt the Strategy 

Advantages 
None identified from this report. 

 

Disadvantages 
The Council will be unable to consider funding savings initiatives and service transformation 
through use of capital receipts, and may therefore be unable to achieve the savings, outcomes 
and benefits anticipated from these projects. 

 

Risks 
Not adopting a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy at this point would severely constrain 
the Council’s ability to deliver its Fit for the Future programme. 
 

 
  

Page 13



 
12.0 OFFICER PREFERRED OPTION  
12.1 The officer preferred option is Option 1, to enable the Council to make use of the Flexible 

Capital Receipts provision in supporting its savings and service transformation initiatives over 
the coming years. 

 
 
13.0 CONCLUSION 
13.1 This report, if approved, will enable the council to use capital receipts to fund savings and 

service transformation initiatives. Failure to adopt a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 
will severely constrain the council’s ability to pursue these initiatives. 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 
If adopted, the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy would form part of the council’s Policy 
Framework. From a strategic perspective, enabling the use of capital receipts to deliver savings 
and service transformation initiatives will give the council scope to pursue its Outcomes-Based 
Resourcing programme with greater flexibility and effectiveness. 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability etc) 
 
No direct impact arising from this report. All initiatives supported by flexible use of capital receipts 
will be considered for their impact as appropriate. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
As outlined in the report, forecast capital receipts generated during the year will be used flexibly 
in compliance with the requirements of the Secretary of State to support projected savings 
identified as part of the Outcomes-Based Resourcing/ Fit for the Future process. Use will be 
determined by the s151 officer to ensure both eligibility and the impact on the Council’s overall 
revenue and capital financing position. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The s151 Officer has contributed to the writing of this report, however, he wishes to draw Members 
attention to the following.  
 
Although there is the potential for further extensions and increased flexibilities to the use of capital 
receipts this has not been confirmed. Under the current proposals the flexibilities offered will cease 
31st March 2025. Delays in planning, marketing, and disposal of assets to fund the 2023/24 savings 
programme has resulted in a cost the Council £0.459M. This will fall directly on the Councils 
revenue reserves.  
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
The Local Government Act 2003 (“the Act”), section 15(1) requires a local authority “… to have 
regard (a) to such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance 
as the Secretary of State may by regulations specify …  
 
”. Two codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) contain guidance on capital receipts and local authority accounting that complement the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) guidance. These publications 
are:  

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  

 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting  
 
Local authorities are required to have regard to the current edition of The Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities by regulation 2 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 

Page 14



 
 

Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 and to the Local Authority Accounting Code as proper 
practices for preparing accounts under section 21(2) of the Act. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments to add. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Cabinet 
FUCRD 2024/25 
Agenda for Cabinet on Thursday, 7th March 2024, 6.00 
p.m. - Lancaster City Council 
 
Council 
Revenue Budget 2024/25 
Agenda for Council on Wednesday, 28th February 
2024, 6.00 p.m. - Lancaster City Council 
 
FUCRD 2023/24 
Agenda for Council on Wednesday, 15th March 2023, 
6.00 p.m. - Lancaster City Council 

Contact Officer: Paul Thompson 
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A  

 
 

Page 15

https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=297&MId=8399&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=297&MId=8399&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=8204&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=8204&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=7936&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=7936&Ver=4


COUNCIL  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2024/25 – 2028/29 

13 March 2024 

 
Report of Cabinet 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

To provide Council with an updated final consolidated Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2024/25 to 2028/29 

Key Decision  Non-Key Decision X Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming key decision  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION OF CABINET 

 
(1) That the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) estimates as set out in the report are 

noted. 

(2) Subject to approval by Council 13 March 2024 the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 

be included within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2028/29 

(3) Delegated authority be given to the Portfolio Holder and Chief Finance Officer to undertake 

any required amendments to reflect minor additional content and/ or presentational 

adjustments. 

 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 The Councils MTFS consists on a number of key, interlinked documents and strategies 

including.  

 The Council Plan 2024-2027, 

 Current and future budgetary projections,  

 The Capital Strategy and accompanying and Capital Programme 

 Treasury Management Strategy  

 Reserves Policy and Forecasts 

 Risk Management Policy 
 
1.2 All of these documents and strategies, with the exception of the Flexible Use of Capital 

Receipts, considered elsewhere on the agenda have been presented and approved by 
Cabinet, Council, or the appropriate Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitutional requirements, and so no further approval is required. 

 
 
2.0  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
2.1 On the basis that all of these elements have already been subject to the appropriate approval 

this paper merely seeks to consolidate these into one single document. The MTFS 
demonstrates the linkages between the Council Plan 2024 – 27, its supporting financial 
strategies and our monitoring processes, which are key to its delivery. The proposed MTFS 
is attached at appendix A 

 

Page 16Agenda Item 10



2.2 In regard to the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2024/25 currently included within 
the MTFS, the Council’s Constitution (Part 3 Section 5 – Budget & Policy Framework) 
provides the following,  

 
where either a new or existing plan/strategy/budget is being considered, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee or Budget and Performance Panel will have an opportunity 
to comment. If it considers it appropriate, Cabinet may then amend its proposals 
before submitting them to Council for consideration.  

 
2.3 Unfortunately, due a number of factors this strategy will not been considered by Budget & 

Performance Panel. As the approval of the strategy is a function of Full Council all Members, 
including those sitting on B&PP they may propose any changes, or amendments at that 
meeting and so Cabinet is asked to retain the strategy within the MTFS at this stage. 

 
 

3.0 DETAILS OF CONSULTATION  
3.1 The Council undertook substantial consultation including public briefings and a survey in 

establishing its overall budget proposals for 2024-25 onwards which were approved by Full 
Council 28 February 2024. 

 
 

4.0 OPTIONS AND OPTIONS ANALYSIS (INCLUDING RISK ASSESSMENT) 
4.1 The risks to the Council are contained throughout the MTFS and supporting strategies, as 

the report seeks to consolidate these areas Council may accept the consolidation, or not. 
 
 
5.0 OFFICER PREFERRED OPTION 
5.1 That Council accepts the consolidated MTFS. 

 

 

6.0 CONCLUSION 
6.1 This paper merely seeks to consolidate the various existing documents into one single 

strategy. The MTFS demonstrates the linkages between the Council Plan 2024 – 27, its 
supporting financial strategies and our monitoring processes which are key to its delivery.  

 
 
 
 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 

Performance, project, and resource monitoring provides a link between the Council Plan and 

operational achievement, by providing regular updates on the impact of operational initiatives 

against strategic aims. 

 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability etc) 

None identified at this stage  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

As set out in the report 

 

S151 OFFICER COMMENTS 

The s151 Officer has authored this report. 

 

Page 17



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Legal Services have been consulted and have no further comments. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Cabinet 

Agenda for Cabinet on Thursday, 7th March 2024, 6.00 

p.m. - Lancaster City Council 

 

Council 

Agenda for Council on Wednesday, 13th December 

2023, 6.00 p.m. - Lancaster City Council 

Agenda for Council on Wednesday, 28th February 

2024, 6.00 p.m. - Lancaster City Council 

 

Audit Committee 

Refreshed Risk Management Policy 22.03.23.pdf 

(lancaster.gov.uk) 

 

 

Contact Officer: Paul Thompson 
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A  

 
 

Page 18

https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=297&MId=8399&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=297&MId=8399&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=8220&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=8220&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=8204&Ver=4
https://committeeadmin.lancaster.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=305&MId=8204&Ver=4
https://modgov.lancaster.gov.uk/documents/s85123/Refreshed%20Risk%20Management%20Policy%2022.03.23.pdf
https://modgov.lancaster.gov.uk/documents/s85123/Refreshed%20Risk%20Management%20Policy%2022.03.23.pdf


Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2024/25 – 2028/29 
 
 

The Council Plan 2024-2027  
The Council published the Council Plan 2024-2027 in January 2023. The ambitious three-year plan 
sets out a strong vision for the future of the Lancaster district. Priority policies within the Council Plan 
2024-2027 were agreed following the formation of our new Cabinet. The local government 
association (LGA) worked with Cabinet to develop the refreshed priority list to inform the new Council 
Plan.  
  
A condensed ‘plan on a page’ details the refreshed priority polices within the Council Plan 2024-
2027:  
  

  

 

  

Vision and Priorities  
The Council Plan 2024-2027 highlights the strategic direction of Lancaster City Council and enables 
us to work towards clearly defined strategic ambitions. The plan will be used as an internal business 
planning document that sets out the council's future and priority policies. Policies will remain flexible 
and adaptable to accommodate the changing needs of the district.  
  
Principles   
The Council Plan sets out 4 Principles. The Principles are the cornerstones of all that we do.   
1: A Sustainable District   
2: An Inclusive and Prosperous Local Economy   
3: Healthy and Happy Communities  
4: A Co-operative, Kind and Responsible Council    
  

Page 19



Themes   
The Council Plan sets out 4 Themes. These Themes provide greater definition of the principles, to 
ensure strategy, policy, resources, and service delivery are focussed to effectively deliver the 
council’s agreed outcomes for the district.  
  
1: Action on the Climate Emergency: taking action to meet the challenges of the climate emergency   
2: Community Wealth Building (Morecambe Bay Model): building a sustainable and just local 
economy that benefits people and organisations  
3: Increasing well-being. Reducing Inequality: empowering and supporting healthy ways of living, 
and tackling the causes of inequality  
4: Deliver Effective Services, Take Responsibility: bringing people together to achieve the best 
outcomes for our communities, in tandem with running efficient quality public services   
   
 Ambitions  
The Council Plan sets out an ambitious vision of the future that will benefit the districts residents, our 
businesses and natural environment. There are 24 clearly defined ambitions and prioritised 1-6 
aligned to the Priorities and Themes within the plan.  
  
 

 

 

Financial Context - We will align budget and resource to deliver the prioritised ambitions.  
The Council faces a significant financial challenge. Central government have withdrawn in the region 
of 40% of our funding over the last decade and millions of pounds of cost burden has been passed 
on to the local council taxpayers and businesses in the district. Despite this, the council has 
experienced a significant reduction in real terms spending power. 
 
The council embarked on a programme called Outcomes-Based Resourcing (OBR) during 2023/24 
and is now embarking on phase 2 of that process – Fit for the Future (FftF) where will see it examine 
every area of its budget and match resources more closely with its priorities. The OBR programme 
includes looking at ways the council can do things differently by utilising technology and being more 
efficient, as well as considering areas in which it can generate more income. By matching resources 
closely with priorities, we are successfully delivering services and the ambitions of the Council Plan.   
 
  

Page 20



THE PURPOSE, PRIORITIES AND PRINCIPLES OF THE MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY 
 
What is the Medium-Term Financial Strategy? 
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) outlines the approach to setting out the Council’s 
financial future over the next five years (2024/25 to 2028/29). It estimates the additional costs and 
pressures that the Council is facing due to inflation, demand, and policy changes, alongside the 
estimated change in funding. The difference is the funding gap which must be closed to achieve a 
legally balanced budget. 
 
Purpose and Priorities 
The MTFS is a key part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework which aims to ensure that all 
financial resources are directed towards the delivery of Council priorities as set out in the Council 
Plan 2024 – 2027 above. The Strategy describes the financial direction of the Council for financial 
planning purposes and outlines the financial pressures over a five-year period but is reviewed and 
updated annually to reflect the dynamic nature and continuing uncertainty of local government 
funding.  
 
The MTFS establishes the estimated level of revenue resources available to the Council over the 
medium term and estimates the financial consequences of the demand for Council services. It 
improves financial planning and strategic financial management through providing the financial 
context within which the Council budget will be set.  
 
The review also allows for consideration of the Council’s reserves policy and level of reserves to 
ensure there is adequate protection against unforeseen events.  
 
In the current financial climate, the Council’s principal financial aim is to continue to effectively align 
scarce resources to support Council priorities. 
 
The Council’s strategic approach, provides a framework to demonstrate how the Council will work 
and make decisions in the future which will be policy and priority-led and help resource the Council 
Plan 
 
The Council’s MTFS sets out the financial context for the Council’s resource allocation process and 
budget setting. The Councils Performance Management Framework supports the aims within the 
Strategy by aligning performance with the overall approach to the budget to support the financial 
sustainability for the Council ensuring that resources are deployed on the outcomes for the District. 
 
There are huge financial pressures on not just Council resources, but those of partners, local 
businesses, and residents. The Council will continue to work with partners, other organisations, 
residents and communities to deliver positive outcomes within a reduced budget envelope. 
 
To remain affordable and deliver sustainable public services, the MTFS has three main objectives: - 
 

 Consider the scale of financial challenges over the medium term and take appropriate actions 
and interventions to achieve financial sustainability and a balanced budget year on year. 

 

 Ensure the Council aligns its limited resources to deliver against priorities. 
 

 Prioritise capital schemes based on deliverability of tangible outcomes whilst considering the 
context of the overall capital and revenue affordability. 

  

Page 21



APPROACH AND PRINCIPLES 
The MTFS is consistent with the 24 priorities the Council is pursuing. The principles underlying the 
MTFS 2024/25 to 2028/29 are as follows: 
 

 The overall financial strategy will be to ensure that the Council’s resources are directed to the 
Council Plan. Financial sustainability will be achieved and maintained through a balance of 
demand management interventions, reducing costs and more efficient ways of working and 
targeted investment. The Council’s MTFS will be reviewed on at least an annual basis. 

 

 The Council will consider a range of delivery mechanisms and funding sources to support 
capital investment to deliver its priorities, including the use of capital receipts through asset 
rationalisation and prudential borrowing. Investment will ensure that the full costs associated 
with financing the investment are considered when investment decisions are taken. 

 

 The Council will maintain its general reserve at a minimum of £5M to cover any major 
unforeseen expenditure. The Council will aim to balance its revenue budget over the period 
of the MTFS without reliance on the use of the general reserve.  

 

 The Council will maintain earmarked reserves for specific purposes which are consistent with 
achieving its key priorities. The use and level of earmarked reserves will be reviewed at least 
annually. 

 

 Overall Council spending should be contained within original budget estimates. If, following 
quarterly revenue monitoring, service budgets are projected to exceed original estimates, 
accountability and recovery plans should be prepared setting out the actions required to 
ensure spending at the end of the year does not exceed original estimates. 

 

 The Council recognises the impact of increases in Council Tax levels and fees and charges 
in an area of relatively low income and low wealth and will therefore balance the need for 
increases against the delivery of the thrive framework and the need for services.  

 

 The Council will meet its financial obligations and maintain financial sustainability through the 
setting of a balanced budget and the delivery of outturn within the overall budget each year 

 

 
STRATEGIC & OPERATIONAL BACKDROP 
The 2023/24 Budget has once again been set against the backdrop of significant change and 

economic volatility. This level change and volatility is likely to extend for a further 1 to 2 years, which 

increases the uncertainty around planning estimation and assumptions and puts significant pressure 

on the Council’s limited resources.  

 
Office for Budgetary Responsibility (OfBR) has noted that the medium-term fiscal outlook for the UK 
has materially worsened due to a weaker economy, higher interest rates and higher inflation. 
Economic activity has slowed considerably in recent years, with 2 successive quarters of negative 
growth in gross domestic product (GDP) the UK economy officially fell into recession at the end of 
2023. Current commentary suggests a shallow recession with a slow upturn during 2024. Current 
forecasts from the OBR and Bank of England (BoE) anticipate growth of between 0.4% - 0.7% for 
2024. 
 
CPI inflation peaked at 11.1% in the final quarter of 2022/23 which was a 40 year high. Current rates 
and forecasts show inflation has reduced to 4% and is expected to reduce further returning to the 
2% target in the following years.  

 
 

Page 22



 
 
Bank Rate has been subject to a succession of increases during the current financial year and is 
believed to have now peaked at 5.25% which has led to a significant forecast increase in investment 
interest.  Bank Rate is forecast to fall during 2024/25 to an anticipated 3.75% by March 2025 whilst 
the level of amounts available for investment is falling.  In addition, the Council has a need to borrow 
at a time when PWLB and Local Authority lending rates are rising.  This places pressures on the 
affordability of the Council’s Capital Programme and the need to consider how it is funded. 
 
 

 
 
Considering these economic challenges households in the district are especially impacted as they 
spend greater shares of their income on fuel and food. These include. 

 Single people on low incomes (on benefits or in work) 

 Families with children 

 Pensioners 

 Those with disabilities 

Page 23



To provide support for those in greatest hardship, Cabinet recently approved the continuation of the 
Council’s 100% Council Tax Support scheme for 2024/25 which means households most in need 
can apply for full relief from Council Tax. Lancaster City Council will be one of only a handful of local 
authorities in the Northwest to continue to have a 100% Council Tax Support scheme in 2024/25. 
 

Central Government released a single-year Finance Settlement resulting in difficulties in forecasting 

in the medium and longer term which is required when developing the Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Strategy. 
 

Further uncertainties remain around the future of Heysham 1 & 2 Power Stations and their 

decommissioning plans. Whilst Central Government provides a mechanism to limit the losses 

incurred by the Council, given they account for a significant proportion of the Council’s Business 

Rates income this remains a considerable risk to the Council’s financial position. 

 

On 19th January 2023 the Council was successful in its bid to secure £50M from Department for 

Levelling Up towards the Eden Project Morecambe. This is excellent news and a great boost for the 

district. Securing Government funding was an important step, but much work still remains to be done 

by Eden and the project partners. It will naturally be some years before the impact of increased 

income from business rates and tourism filter through.  In the meantime, officers are working with 

Eden and the other partners to implement the required governance and delivery mechanisms to 

ensure that the full benefits of the project are secured. 

 
Lack of Funding Reform to Address Areas with High Needs/Low Tax Bases Longer-term reform of 
local government funding has been delayed until the next Parliament and a structural solution is 
needed to meet the many statutory duties and demands placed on all local authorities.  
 
Local Government Finance Settlement 2024/25 

The Government released the provisional local government finance settlement on 19 December 
2023, with the final settlement released on 5 February 2024.  The final settlement included an 
additional £0.190M in the funding guarantee and services grant above that announced in the 
provisional settlement. The main aspects of the settlement are set out below: 

 

 The calculation of Core Spending Power  

 The level of Council Tax increase (excluding social care) beyond which a referendum is 
required increased to 3% or £5 whichever is the greater for 2024/25  

 The freezing of the small Business Rates “multiplier” for 2024/25 with the small and standard 
Business Rates multipliers now being de-coupled. 

 Continuation of a number of funding streams including Revenue Support Grant, which was 
originally due to cease in 2020/21, Services Grant, although at a reduced level and New 
Homes Bonus. The future of New Homes Bonus in its current form remains uncertain. 

 The Settlement includes a sector-wide Funding Guarantee grant to ensure that all Council’s 
receive a minimum of 4% increase in spending power before making any local decisions on 
council tax. 

 
A summary of the final settlement for Lancaster City Council is show in table one below. Assumptions 
have been included to estimate Government funding from 2025/26 onwards however actual 
allocations for this period are currently unknown. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



Final Settlement allocations for Lancaster City Council 2024/25 

  
 
Core Spending Power 
Core Spending Power (CSP) is a measure used by the Government to set out the resources available 
to a Council to fund service delivery. The calculation of CSP has changed over the years and now 
combines certain grants payable to Council together with estimates of Business Rates and Council 
Tax, these estimates are based on Government assumptions.  
 
On the basis of the provisional Settlement, the Council’s CSP for 2024/25 will increase from £18.93M 
to £20.09M or 6.1% when compared to CSP in 2023/24 and includes an assumption by Government 
that Councils will increase their Council Tax by the maximum allowable. This is in comparison to the 
average increase in CSP for all Councils in England of 7.5% 
 
Core Spending Power 2015/16 – 2024/25 

 
 
The table above compares the historic value of CSP, and shows the Council is now almost entirely 
reliant on Council Tax and Business Rates with a small amount of income from central government 
grants to fund net expenditure and it is, therefore, important to provide regular estimates of these 
key funding streams.  
 

Council Tax 

Council Tax is the Council’s primary source of funding and is calculated by multiplying the tax base, 

the number of eligible residential properties (expressed in band D equivalents), by the level of the 

district council precept which is determined each year. Growth in housing numbers inevitably 

increases the taxbase and, therefore, Council Tax income. 

Page 25



The tax base for 2024/25 has been calculated as 42,583 Band D equivalent properties after 

allowing for a collection rate of 98.68%, the same as in previous years. This equates to a 0.01% 

increase in the tax base. There are three issues underlying the lack of growth which in previous 

years has been in the region of 1% increase per annum.  Fewer new properties than forecast were 

completed during 2023/24 and the number of new properties forecast for 2024/25 is also reduced. 

There has also been an increase in exempt accounts together with an increase in the number of 

properties eligible for 25% occupancy reductions.  From 2025/26 1% growth in the Tax base has 

been used for forecasting. 

 
The Council recognises the impact that Council Tax has on its residents and will always take their 

ability to pay into consideration when setting Council Tax levels.  It provides a 100% Local Council 

Tax Support Scheme. However, the Council should adopt an approach where local sources of 

funding are maximised as far as is reasonably practicable to do so. 

 

Government’s referendum criteria limits increases in the Council’s element of Council Tax to 3% 

or £5, whichever is greater. For the purposes of forecasting, it has been assumed that the Council 

will increase council tax by 2.99%, the maximum allowed, before triggering a referendum in each 

of the next three years. The table below sets out Council Tax forecasts for the next four years 

including a sensitivity analysis showing the potential impact on council tax yield of different 

scenarios. 

Council Tax Forecasts 

 Actual 
2023/24 

Forecast 
2024/25 

Forecast 
2025/26 

Forecast 
2026/27 

Forecast 
2027/29 

Forecast 
2028/29 

Council Tax Band D 
2.99% increase 

 £256.63 £264.31 £272.31 £280.35 £288.73 

Council Tax Band D 
(£5 increase) 

£249.18 £254.18 £259.18 £264.18 £269.18 £274.18 

Tax base (1% growth 
from 2023/24) 

42,579 42,583 43,009 43,439 43,873 44,312 

Council Tax Income £10,610,019 £10,928,285 £11,367,591 £11,824,557 £12,299,892 £12,794,335 

Previous MTFS  £11,037,000 £11,480,000 £11,942,000 £12,422,000 £12,422,000 

Difference 
Increase/(Decrease) 

 (£108,715) (£112,409) (£117,443) (£122,108) (£122,108) 

Scenario 1 – no 
increase 
In Council tax over 
period 
Of MTFS 

 (£425,985) (£762,875) (£1,117,703) (£1,489,460) (£1,380,135) 

Scenario 2 – Council 
Tax Band D £5 
increase 

 (£213,070) (£332,786) (£466,120) (£611,994) (£272,334) 

Scenario 3 – 1.5% 
increase in tax base 
growth & 2.99% 
increase in Council 
Tax Band D 

 (£108,715) (£56,134) (£79) £61,469 £627,576 

Page 26



Business Rates  

Business rates is now a fundamental part of the local government finance settlement and, along 

with Council Tax, accounts for the majority of local government financing.  There are currently 

several significant uncertainties which make forecasting and planning extremely difficult, these are 

set out below.  The Council uses its business rates retention reserve to mitigate against significant 

fluctuations in income levels and provide some budgetary stability. 

Following on from the Chancellor’s autumn statement, the small and standard business rates 

multipliers have been de-coupled for the first time.  The small business rates multiplier has been 

frozen for the fourth year in a row whilst the standard multiplier has been uprated by the increase in 

CPI inflation of 6.7%.  The potential level of inflation to build in for future years and S31 grant received 

to compensate for the freezing of the small business rates multiplier can be difficult to forecast with 

accuracy.  The retained business rates calculation is also heavily dependent on the future tariff, 

baseline and safety net levels which drive it and these change in line with the Local Government 

Finance Settlement each year. 

 

Heysham Power Stations 

We are one of only a small number of Councils with a nuclear power station within its boundary.  

The rateable value of the Heysham1 and Heysham 2 nuclear reactors accounts for over 30% of 

the Council’s total rateable value.  Although the retained business rates scheme does have a safety 

net mechanism in place to ensure that an authority’s income does not drop below more than a set 

percentage of its index linked spending baseline, the Council is vulnerable to swings in income 

levels relating to the power station’ operations.   Heysham 1 is shortly due to be decommissioned 

with its operators, EDF currently giving an end of generation date of March 2026 rather than the 

date of March 2024 previously given.  There remains a level of uncertainty around the exact timing 

and whilst EDF have an ambition to continue generation for a further year past the March 2026 

date they have also commented that the March 2026 date may not be achieved and remains 

dependent on future graphite inspection results.  

Baseline Reset  

It was expected that, at some point as part of government funding reviews, there would be a 

business rates growth reset effectively removing all growth from the system by setting the business 

rates baseline to equal actual rates levels. To date this has not taken place the year against which 

the reset would be referenced and how this may interact with the potential nuclear power station 

decommissioning timetable is an unknown. 

 

Green Energy Disregard 

The Council receives a ‘disregard’ for renewable energy hereditaments which means that 100% of 

the business rates for these properties is retained by the authority.  It is estimated that in 2024/25, 

this will be worth £3.970M. There is, however, no absolute guarantee that the Government won’t 

discontinue this advantageous arrangement at some point in the future. 

 

The table below provides Business Rates forecasts for the next four years incorporating a number 

of assumptions. Current forecast assumptions are:  

 Heysham 1 reactor to be decommissioned March 2026  

 Growth of 2% in 2025/26 onwards together with a 2% uplift in baseline and tariff  

 Continuation of the green energy disregard in its current form 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



Business Rates Forecasts  

 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

£ £ £ £ £ 

Retained Business Rates 9,197,200 9,155,600 - - - 

Safety Net Payment - - 7,333,900 7,556,500 7,731,600 

Renewable Energy  
Disregard Income 

3,969,900 4,049,300 4,130,300 4,212,900 4,297,200 

Total net retained  
business rates 

13,167,100 13,204,900 11,464,200 11,769,400 12,028,800 

 

New Homes Bonus 

New Homes Bonus is a reward grant which is calculated from Council Taxbase figures. There 

remains a risk that the Government will seek to further reduce the grant in future years which would 

increase the budget gap at the Council. The current forecast of levels of New Homes Bonus is set 

out in the table below.   

 

New Homes Bonus  

 2024/25 
£000’s 

2025/26 
£000’s 

2026/27 
£000’s 

2027/28 
£000’s 

2028/29 
£000’s 

Annual Reward 10 90 90 90 90 

Previous MTFS 188 188 188 188 188 

Difference Increase/ (Decrease) (178) (98) (98) (98) (98) 

 

  

Page 28



GENERAL FUND PROJECTIONS 
The table below outlines the current forecast budgetary position for 2024/25 to 2028/29  
 
General Fund Revenue Projections 2024/25 to 2028/29 

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Revenue Budget Forecast 
 23 February 2023 23,407 25,253 27,342 27,690 0 

        

Base Budget Changes       

      

Operational Base Budget Changes 878 1,524 1,953 2,195 31,035 

Local Plan 423 98 0 0 0 

  24,708 27,075 29,295 29,885 31,035 

Outcomes Based Resourcing Proposals       

Savings & Income Proposals (1,233) (1,402) (1,429) (1,456) (1,484) 

Growth Proposals 125 51 52 53 54 

Impact of Review of the Capital Programme  (105) (574) 228 228 96 

  23,495 25,150 28,146 28,710 29,701 
        
Impact of Final Local Government Finance 
Settlement (401) (311) (311) (311) (311) 

Contribution to/ (from) Unallocated Reserves 1,914 1,168 (600) (500)   
        
General Fund Revenue Budget  
28th February 2024 25,008 26,007 27,235 27,899 29,390 
        

Core Funding       

Revenue Support Grant (433)      

Prior Year Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit 141      

Prior Year Business Rates (Surplus)/Deficit (621)     

Net Business Rates Income (13,167) (13,205) (11,464) (11,769) (12,029) 

Council Tax Requirement 10,928 12,802 15,771 16,130 17,361 
        

Estimated Council Tax Income       

(Increase Based on 2.99% for 2024/25 then 
maximum allowable (10,928) (11,367) (11,824) (12,300) (12,794) 

Resulting Base Budget (Surplus)/ Deficit 0 1,435 3,947 3,830 4,567 

 
Table shows that, despite of the work undertaken by Officers and Members to balance the budget 
for 2024/25, there still remains a significant challenge, with the Council facing a shortfall of £1.435M 
in 2025/26 with an estimated total shortfall of £4.567M over the 5-year period. This is position is 
further outlined in section 6. 
Budget Principles and Assumptions 
Within the revenue budget there are several principles and key assumptions  underpinning the 
proposed revenue strategy. These are: 
 

i.  Annually, a balanced revenue budget will be set with expenditure limited to 
 the amount of available resources. 
ii.  No long-term use of balances to meet recurring baseline expenditure. 
iii.  Resources will be targeted to deliver corporate ambitions and value for 
 money. Any additional investment and spending decisions will be made to 
 reflect Council priorities and strategic commitments. 

 

Page 29



The table below, lists the main assumptions that have been made within the MTFS with further details 
discussed in later paragraphs. 
 
5 Year MTFS Planning Assumptions 

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Council Tax Base 
Growth 

0.001% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 

Council Tax Increase 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 

Council Tax Collection 
Rate 

98.67% 98.67% 98.67% 98.67% 98.67% 

Small Business Rates 
Multiplier 

Frozen Frozen Frozen Frozen Frozen 

Fees & Charges Various Various Various Various Various 

Inflation – Pay 5.95% 3.50% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

Employer Pensions 
Contribution 

16.30% 16.30% 16.30% 16.30% 16.30% 

Inflation – Insurance 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 

Inflation 
Utilities 

Gas: 
Current Price 

Gas: 
Current Price 

Gas: 
Current Price 

Gas: 
Current Price 

Gas: 
Current Price 

Electric: 
Current Price 

Electric: 
Current Price 

Electric: 
Current Price 

Electric: 
Current Price 

Electric: 
Current Price 

Other inflation 
2.80% 1.70% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%  

Interest Rate – 
investments 

4.68% 3.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Interest Rate – new 
borrowing 

4.50% 3.80% N/A N/A N/A 

 
Savings and Income Generation Proposals 
The budget savings, or income growth identified as part of the 2024/25 budget discussion relate to 
several areas where actions are being undertaken by the Council and are incorporated within the 
MTFS. Some of the key areas are summarised by Service in the table below, with more information 
included within the Budget and Policy Framework General Fund Revenue Budget 2024/25 item on 
the agenda 
 
Directorate Summary Savings Proposals 

  2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Council Wide (Fees & Charges) (838) (855) (872) (889) (907) 

Communities & Leisure (113) (160) (163) (166) (169) 

Environment & Place (77) (78) (79) (80) (81) 

Housing & Property (15) (115) (117) (119) (121) 

People & Policy 12 12 12 12 12 

Planning & Climate Change (72) (73) (74) (75) (76) 

Resources (30) (31) (32) (33) (34) 

Sustainable Growth 25 (51) (52) (53) (54) 

Net Savings  (1,108) (1,351) (1,377) (1,403) (1,430) 

 
Failure to deliver these savings will place additional pressure on the Council’s resources and so as 
part of the Council’s quarterly monitoring process (Delivering our Priorities), progress by Budget 
Holders against these targets will be monitored and reported to Members via Cabinet and Budget & 
Performance Panel. 
 
 

Page 30



Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Budget Process & Review 
Cabinet and Strategic Leadership Team have considered new schemes for inclusion in the Capital 

Programme via the submission of strategic outline followed by full business cases during the budget 

process. The Council’s previous Capital Programme has also been reviewed with a view to 

repositioning and reprofiling several capital schemes. This has altered the impact that capital projects 

have on revenue due to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and interest costs. Details of the 

estimated additional expenditure or savings are detailed in the table below: 

  

Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Budget Process & Review 

  2024/25 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Revenue Impact of Capital Programme 
Changes 

(105) (574) 228 228 96 

 

 

 

 

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FINANCING 

Capital Investment 

Through its capital programme the Council plans net investment of £32.326M between 2023/24 and 

2028/29 with a further £6.883M currently planned up to 20232/33. This investment will support the 

delivery of its key Strategic Priorities and Outcomes such as Climate Emergency, Housing and 

Regeneration as well as investing in of  existing property, facilities, and equipment to deliver 

services, or to meet legislative requirements. 

 

The current programme is split between approved schemes, that is those which have a fully formed 

business case in line with Treasury Green Book requirements, and those still under development for 

which a provision has been made whilst work is undertaken to fully work up schemes. Schemes 

classified as Under Development have had strategic outline business cases approved in principle by 

Cabinet but cannot commence until full business cases have been considered, first by the Capital 

Assurance Group, and then approved by Cabinet. 

 

Schemes which are in this section of the Capital Programme which will require significant capital 

expenditures and borrowing will need a business case to demonstrate that income arising from the 

capital investment can cover all borrowing costs and delivering a positive return to the Council’s 

revenue budget. 

 

Summary details of the current 5-year capital programme are given below 

 

Capital Programme 

 
 

 

Page 31



Capital Financing 

The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is simply the total amount of capital expenditure 

(including that from prior years) that has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 

resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying need to borrow. Any capital 

expenditure, which has not immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will 

increase the CFR. Based on the draft capital programme the Council’s CFR is set to increase from 

the current estimated 2023/24 position of £101.04M to £112.54M in 2025/26 before decreasing in 

2028/29 to £101.88M.  

 

Capital Financing Requirement   
2022/23 
Actual 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 

£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 

£m 

       

Capital Financing Requirement   

CFR – Non-Housing 63.56 66.95 70.47 80.54 77.81 74.99 73.00 

CFR – Housing 35.13 34.09 33.05 32.00 30.96 29.92 28.88 

Total CFR 98.69 101.04 103.52 112.54 108.77 104.91 101.88 

Movement in CFR        

Non-Housing 4.50 3.38 3.52 10.07 -2.73 -2.82 -1.99 

Housing -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 

Net Movement in CFR 3.46 2.34 2.48 9.03 3.77 -3.86 -3.03 

        

Movement in CFR represented by 
    

 

Net financing need for the 
year (above) re Non-Housing 

4.61 6.02 6.53 13.26 1.92 1.75 2.48 

Less MRP/VRP and other 
financing movements 

-1.15 -3.68 -4.05 -4.23 -5.69 -5.61 -5.51 

 
       

Net Movement in CFR 3.46 2.34 2.48 9.03 -3.77 -3.86 -3.03 

 

Based on the capital programme, the overall physical borrowing position of the Council is projected 

to increase by £21.87M over the next three years from its estimated current position of £59.00M to 

£80.88M at the end of 2025/26 in order to finance the Council’s capital ambitions. It is then forecast 

to reduce slightly year on year reflecting repayments of the HRA self-financing loan. See table 

fourteen below.  

Forecast Borrowing Position  

 2022/23 
Actual 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 
£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 
£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 
£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 
£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 
£m 

External Debt        

Debt at 1 April  60.05 59.01 63.97 71.93 80.88 79.84 78.80 
Expected change in Debt 

-1.04 4.96 7.96 8.95 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 

Other long-term liabilities 
(OLTL) 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Expected change in OLTL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Actual gross debt at 31 
March  

59.01 63.97 71.93 80.88 79.84 78.80 77.76 

The Capital Financing 
Requirement 

 
98.69 

 
101.02 

 
103.52 

 
112.54 

 
108.77 

 
104.91 

 
101.88 

Under Borrowing -39.69 -37.07 -31.59 -31.66 -28.93 -26.11 -24.12 

 

Page 32



This level of borrowing is assessed for affordability, sustainability, and prudence in line with the 

Council’s Treasury Management Strategy and requires annual approval by Council following 

consultation with Budget & Performance Panel. Council will be asked to formally approve the annual 

Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

The Council is required to repay an element of the accumulated General Fund CFR each year 
through a revenue charge known as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) together with the interest 
charges associated with the borrowing. Council is asked to formally  approve the MRP policy 
annual as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.  
 
Tables fifteen and sixteen provide forecast levels of annual capital financing charges and their 
respective proportion of the revenue budget. 
 

Revenue Impact of Capital Decisions 

  

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

Interest 1.568 1.541 2.098 2.106 2.114 2.123 

MRP 2.638 3.010 3.194 4.653 4.567 3.474 

Total 4.206 4.551 5.292 6.759 6.681 5.597 

 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream  

 2022/23 
Actual 

% 

2023/24 
Estimate 

% 

2024/25 
Estimate 

% 

2025/26 
Estimate 

% 

2026/27 
Estimate 

% 

2027/28 
Estimate 

% 

2028/29 
Estimate 

% 

General Fund 5.90 19.94 18.20 20.20 24.65 23.79 22.30 

HRA 18.79 17.00 16.22 16.25 15.99 15.75 15.75 

 

As can be seen based on current General Fund capital programme and accompanying borrowing 

estimates debt financing costs within the General Fund are set to increase to just under a quarter of 

the Council’s annual net revenue budget. Levels will, therefore, need to be closely monitored and 

the impact on affordability of new capital schemes carefully considered as part of the business case 

assessment and governance processes. Estimates within the HRA are currently seen to decrease 

as the borrowing undertaken as part of HRA self-financing is repaid.  

 

The financing of capital projects can be from a variety of sources, such as external grants, the use 

of reserves, and the application of capital receipts. A significant workstream for the OBR Assets 

Group is to review and realign the Council’s existing asset base to identify those assets which no 

longer met the Council’s objectives and may be able to generate a capital receipt. However, the OBR 

process does provide a priority order for the use of capital receipts. Firstly, to fund transformation 

costs, that is costs that are associated with service transformation and delivery of efficiencies. 

Secondly, investment to reduce costs, which is not necessarily investing in a new asset; and given 

the levels of current financing costs, giving consideration to financing existing short life assets such 

as ICT and vehicles to reduce the MRP burden on the General Fund. Finally, the use of receipts to 

fund other schemes within the Capital Programme. 

 

Details of the Councils Capital Programme, Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy 

are included at Appendices A, B and C 

 

 

THE SHORT & MEDIUM-TERM BUDGET GAP  

Page 33



Government funding and income forecasts covered previously within this report, together with the 

budget expenditure, savings and income estimates that have been calculated as part of the 2024/25 

revenue budget process provide an updated forecast of the budget gaps over the next three years. 

This is shown below in the graph and Table seventeen 

 

 
 

Cumulative Deficit as Percentage of Revenue Budget  

  
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Revenue Budget (Estimate 20 February 
2024) 25,008 26,007 27,235 27,899 29,390 

Budget Gap (Incremental) 0 1,435 3,947 3,830 4,567 
Percentage of Net Revenue Budget 
(Incremental) 0% 6% 14% 14% 16% 

 

The forecast gaps are structural in nature, meaning that the Council’s forecast spending exceeds the 

income it expects to receive, and this is compounded year on year. This position represents a 

significant challenge over the short and medium term. It is imperative that the Council’s OBR process 

continues into its next phase – Fit for the Future. This will be fundamental in driving down budget 

gaps from 2024/25 and beyond and in realising financial sustainability. 

 

It should be noted that this forecast is based on a series of estimates and assumptions and so is 

subject to change when more up to date information becomes available. However, it provides 

Members with a clear view of the extent of the challenge facing the Council over the coming years.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROVISIONS, RESERVES AND BALANCES 

Page 34



A Council’s reserves are an essential part of good financial management. They help the Council to 
cope with unpredictable financial pressures and plan for future spending commitments. The level, 
purpose and planned use of reserves are important factors for the  Council as part of the MTFS. 
 
Councils generally hold two types of reserves, “Unallocated” to meet short term unexpected cost 
pressures or income reductions and “Earmarked”. The latter can be held to provide for some future 
anticipated expenditure for identified projects, particularly in respect of corporate priorities, address 
specific risks such as the previously identified upcoming pressures on business rates retention 
reserve resulting from the decommissioning of H1 & H2, or to fund transitional arrangements 
resulting from the OBR process. They may also provide up-front funding for measures which 
specifically result in future efficiencies, cost savings or increased income, or to hold funding from 
other bodies, (mainly Central Government), for specified purposes. 
 
Schedule of Earmarked Reserves 

Reserve Purpose of the Reserve 

Business Rates 
Retention 

To support the budget in the event that Business Rates Income does not 
reach budgeted levels or falls to Safety Net, due to fluctuations in appeals 
or other reductions in net income, and to hold any unbudgeted (surplus) 
rating income prior to use. 

Planning Income 

To hold surplus income generated as a result of the Government’s 20% 
increase in planning fee income. To be used to fund additional 
costs/growth relating to Planning functions (in line with any regulatory 
guidance).  

Capital Support 
To provide cover for any revenue costs arising through shortfalls in capital 
financing (i.e. from capital receipts).  

Elections To even out the cost of holding City Council elections every four years.  

Renewals 
To provide for the renewal (replacement or upgrade) of existing facilities 
and infrastructure needed for service delivery, such as vehicles, plant, and 
equipment.  

Amenity 
Improvements 

To provide public realm amenity improvements. 

Corporate 
Priorities 

To provide resources to help finance capacity / feasibility / review and 
other development work in support of the Council’s corporate priorities as 
adopted by Council in December 2023. 

Corporate Property 

To provide for feasibility studies, surveys and repair works to municipal 
buildings and facilities (in particular, for those that cannot be capitalised as 
part of the current works programme or are not otherwise budgeted for). In 
addition, to provide cover for any in-year rental shortfalls.  

Invest to Save To help finance any Invest to Save initiatives.  

Investment 
Property 
Maintenance 

A sinking fund to provide funds 
for future investment property 
maintenance 

Restructure 
To fund the costs associated with early termination of staff (in the interests 
of efficiency / redundancy) / Pay and Grading Review.  

Revenue Grants 
Unapplied 

Grants, usually for Government, which are provided for an expressed 
purpose. 

Lancaster District 
Hardship Fund 

To provide short term financial assistance for those in hardship and also 
address some of the reasons why people find themselves in acute financial 
hardship and provide discretionary support to prevent this. 

S106 Commuted 
Sums  

Three separate reserves to receive all sums paid to the Council from third 
parties for the maintenance of (1) open spaces adopted by the City Council 
(2) affordable housing schemes (3) other amenities such as cycle paths. 

Museums 
Acquisitions 

To acquire exhibition pieces for the City’s museums. 

Held in Perpetuity 
Two small reserves that have a specific purpose which are administered 
by the Council. These are Graves Maintenance and Marsh Capital 

By their nature reserves are finite and, within the existing statutory and regulatory framework, it is 

Page 35



the responsibility of the s151 Officer to advise the Council about the level of reserves that it should 
hold and to ensure that there are clear protocols for their establishment and use. In accordance with 
the S151 Officers advice the minimum level of General Fund unallocated reserve is £5M. 
 
The graph and table below provide details of our current forecast level of General Fund Unallocated 
Balances including the impact of funding the forecast deficit from this reserve. 
 

 
 
Estimated Level of General Fund Unallocated Reserves 

 2023/24 
£M 

2024/25 
£M 

2025/26 
£M 

2026/27 
£M 

2027/28 
£M 

2028/29 
£M 

Balance brought forward (11.678) (8.620) (8.412) (7.699) (3.752) 0.078 

Forecast Overspend 0.677 0.000 1.435 3.947 3.830 4.567 

Contributions (to)/from 2.381 0.458 (0.722) 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Impact of 2023/24 budget 
decisions 

0.000 (0.250) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Balance carried forward (8.620) (8.412) (7.699) (3.752) 0.078 4.645 

 
The graph and supporting table below provide details of our current forecast level of all available 
Council reserves. The analysis excludes a number of essentially ring-fenced reserves such as s106, 
reserves held in perpetuity, revenue grants unapplied & elections it does include reserves such as 
Business Retention and Renewals Reserves.  
 
The Business Rates Retention Reserve is a mandated reserve, its purpose is to manage the risk of 
fluctuations in business rates income, including changes in the Council’s appeals provision and 
movements in forecast prior year surpluses or deficits. Whilst the transfers can be made to the 
general fund it is required to be maintained at a prudent level to manage the risks with business rates 
and not to support ongoing budget deficits. On this basis the graph below is used to underline the 
serious of the current situation against the Council’s entire resource not only the general fund. 
 
 

Page 36



 

 
 

Estimated Combined Level of Reserves (excluding S106 Reserves & Reserves Held in 

Perpetuity etc) 

 2023/24 
£M 

2024/25 
£M 

2025/26 
£M 

2026/27 
£M 

2027/28 
£M 

2028/29 
£M 

Balance brought 
forward 

(22.308) (19.085) (20.005) (19.836) (15.785) (11.950) 

Forecast 
Overspend/Deficit 

0.677 0 1.435 3.947 3.830 4.567 

Contributions 
(to)/from 

2.546 (0.670) (1.266) 0.104 0.005 (0.495) 

Impact of 2023/24 
budget decisions  

0 (0.250) 0 0 0 0 

Balance carried 
forward 

(19.085) (20.005) (19.836) (15.785) (11.950) (7.878) 

 

Whilst this position represents an improvement on the previously reported position, these tables 

clearly highlight the significant pressure the Councils reserves are under should funding from 

reserves be required due to the forecast level of overspend in future years not being addressed. 

 

Reserves Policy 

The Council’s policy on reserves is as follows: 

 The Council will maintain its general reserve at a minimum of £5M to cover any major 

unforeseen expenditure. The Council will aim to balance its revenue budget over the period 

of the MTFS without reliance on the use of the general reserve. 

 The Council will maintain earmarked reserves for specific purposes which are consistent with 

achieving its key priorities. The use and level of earmarked reserves will be reviewed 

annually. 

 The Council’s general reserve is available to support budget setting over the period of the 

MTFS and usage should be linked to the achievement of financial sustainability over the 

medium term. 

 

Page 37



Governance Arrangements on the Use of Reserves  

Given the continuing financial pressures and the need for the prudent use of reserves the following 

arrangements exist for the approval of reserves expenditure: 

 All applications will need to be supported by a bid document setting out how expenditure 

funded from Reserves will deliver corporate priorities with a clear costing statement schedule 

of specific outcome measures. Details of the bid proforma document is attached 

 Reserve bids should be agreed by Portfolio Holder in consultation with relevant Chief Officer.  

 Once received bids will need to be formally agreed by the Leader of the Council, Chief 

Executive, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, Monitoring Officer and the s151 

Officer before expenditure is authorised and can be incurred. 

 

These arrangements will be reviewed again as part of the annual revenue budget process. The 

monitoring of reserves is incorporated into the quarterly performance and financial monitoring 

reporting process. The Councils current detailed 5 year reserves forecast is included at Appendix C 

 

THE WAY FORWARD – FIT FOR THE FUTURE & BALANCING THE BUDGET TO 2028/29   
The Council embarked on its OBR process in 2022/23 with its intention to ensure that funds are 
allocated according to a set of predefined outcomes, or priorities in order to ensure that funds are 
directed toward the Council’s key ambitions and statutory functions and away from areas which 
contribute less or not at all against the predetermined objectives.  
 
The table below shows the operational structure of OBR – Fit for the Future process and its 
governance processes along with the key Member and Senior Officer involvement. The process is 
split into task groups each charged with a discreet area of responsibility.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



Activity When Participants 

Cabinet/Leadership Team Workshop 

 Monitor overall progress of OBR – Fit for 

the Future projects 

 Review regular quarterly performance 

reporting 

 Project spotlight sessions from officers on 

specific projects 

 Review of Council Plan 

Every other 
month 

Cabinet / Leadership Team 

 

OBR Strategy and Coordination Group 
 

Fortnightly Cllr Black, Cllr Jackson, Cllr 
Hamilton-Cox + workstream 
leads and project support 

Chief Officer / Portfolio Holder Monthly (and 
ad-hoc) 

Chief Officer / Portfolio Holder 

Working Groups: 
Fit for the Future 
Assets 
People Comms and Engagement 

Determined 
by each 
group 

Cabinet and Leadership Team 
Members 

 

Areas of Responsibility 

Strategy & Coordination 

Oversee and coordinate the OBR/ FftF programme. 

Receive regular updates from working groups and projects. 

Escalation for informal decisions, resource allocations. 

 

Assets 

Review entirety of General Fund assets. 

Develop & propose costed short-, medium- and long-term plans for the council’s main assets. 

 

People, Comms and Engagement 

Ensure alignment of all OBR – Fit for the Future projects with People Strategy. 

Ensure appropriate governance for all OBR – Fit for the Future proposals. 

Consider engagement with staff and residents where appropriate. 

Support & liaise with the other groups to manage the project’s communication & engagement. 

 

Fit for the Future 

Ensure capital programme projects are aligned with relevant Chief Officers / Portfolio Holders 

Prioritise and deliver proposed projects. 

Collect business cases, outcomes documents for projects. 

Resource and plan projects. 

Receive regular progress updates from projects. 

 

The proposed actions through the OBR/ FftF process currently include: 
 Exploration of closer working and collaboration with other Councils, Public Sector Bodies and 

Partner Institutions 

 Application of alternative funding to deliver key Council outcomes. 

 Detailed review and sensitivity analysis on all key and significant income streams 

 Further rationalisation work on the Council’s asset base 

 Expansion of the investment to reduce cost principle.  

 The potential use of capital receipts to finance existing projects.  

 Capitalisation of transformation costs where appropriate 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Given the size of the ongoing financial issues the Council faces this fundamental reshaping of the 

Council’s services and realigning against its priorities through the OBR/ FftF process will be key to 

shrinking the estimated £4.567M budget gap and securing the financial sustainability of the Council 

going forward. It is imperative that the work, or similar principles continues. The application of OBR/ 

FftF across the Council will be a significant piece of work and to fully achieve its stated aims will take 

an estimated further 12 to 24 months. In light of this, balancing the budget both in the short and the 

medium term will be a tough task and we must recognise that despite the hard work undertaken to 

date there may well be a number of difficult but key decisions over the coming financial years which 

will affect the manner in which services are delivered. 

 

Cabinet and Senior Leadership Team have agreed on principles and common goals as they continue 
to work through the OBR – Fit for the Future process. 

 We need to continue tackle the structural deficit over the short medium and long term. 

 We need to use reserves carefully to transition. 

 We want to continue to deliver services that residents/ businesses need and rely on 

 We want to achieve positive outcomes for our district. 
 
Many of the financial pressures identified within the Councils General Fund are also present within 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). A full update on the HRA budget and financial outlook will be 
considered alongside the General Fund revenue budget including options to ensure that the service’s 
30-year business plan is viable and that its ongoing budget is balanced, whilst delivering value for 
money to tenants.  
 

 
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2024-25 
All Councils are limited in their ability to utilise capital receipts, usually arising from the disposal 

proceeds from the sale of fixed assets. Statutory guidance issued under section 15(1) of the Local 

Government Act 2003 by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (as amended) 

generally precludes capital receipts being used to fund revenue expenditure and requires them to be 

applied to either fund capital expenditure or repay debt. The Act also requires local authorities to have 

regard to other guidance as issued or directed by the Secretary of State – this currently includes the 

following guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy [CIPFA]:  

 

• The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities; and 

• The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

 

The Government’s Spending Review 2015 included a relaxation of these regulations allowing the use 

of capital receipts for a limited period, between 2016/17 and 2018/19, to fund revenue expenditure 

“that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or 

transform service delivery to reduce costs or improve the quality-of-service delivery in future 

years”. This announcement was implemented by the issuing of regulations in March 2016. The period 

over which these amended regulations applied has continued to be extended.  

 

This was extended in an amended direction in December 2017 by a further three years up to and 

including 2021/22 to allow the continued flexible use of capital receipts for the above purposes. Further 

updated statutory guidance was issued by DLUHC in August 2022 which extended the scheme for 

the financial years 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



The guidance on the use of capital receipts flexibility was issued by the Secretary of State under 

section 15(1) of the Local Government Act 2003, and authorities are therefore required to have regard 

to it. The Guidance specified that: 

 

 Local authorities will only be able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, plant 
and equipment received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. They may not use 
their existing stock of capital receipts to finance the revenue costs of reform.  

 Local authorities cannot borrow to finance the revenue costs of the service reforms.  

 The expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied should be the up-front (set up or 
implementation) costs that will generate future ongoing savings and/or transform service 
delivery to reduce costs or to improve the quality-of-service delivery in future years. The 
ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot be classified as 
qualifying expenditure. 

 The key determining criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be funded by 
the new capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings to an 
authority’s, or several authorities,’ and/or to another public sector body’s net service 
expenditure net service expenditure. 

 In using the flexibility, the Council will have due regard to the requirements of the 
Prudential Code, the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and the current 
edition of the Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice. 

 

Set up and implementation costs of any new processes or arrangements can be classified as 

qualifying expenditure. The ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot be 

classified as qualifying expenditure. In addition, one off costs, such as banking savings against 

temporary increases in costs/pay cannot be classified as qualifying expenditure. Under the direction 

the in force from April 2022, with respect to redundancy payments, qualifying expenditure will be 

limited to those amounts that are necessarily incurred as statutory redundancy payments provided 

the other requirements of qualifying expenditure are met. This restriction does not apply to other 

severance costs, including pension strain costs; the treatment of these costs remains unchanged from 

the previous direction.” 

 

The guidance provides a range of examples of expenditure which could be considered eligible, 

although the list is intended to be neither prescriptive nor exhaustive; based on the principles above, 

it is intended for each individual authority to consider whether a project should be eligible under the 

provision. The examples from the guidance are summarised below: 

 

 Sharing back-office and administrative services with one or more other council or public 
sector bodies. 

 Investment in service reform feasibility work, e.g., setting up pilot schemes. 

 Collaboration between local authorities and central government departments to free up 
land for economic use. 

 Funding the cost-of-service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation where this 
leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation. 

 Driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services and how the 
public interacts with constituent authorities where possible. 

 Aggregating procurement on common goods and services where possible, either as part 
of local arrangements or using Crown Commercial Services or regional procurement hubs 
or Professional Buying Organisations. 

 Improving systems and processes to tackle fraud and corruption in line with the Local 
Government Fraud and Corruption Strategy – this could include an element of staff 
training. 

 Setting up commercial or alternative delivery models to deliver services more efficiently 
and bring in revenue (for example, through selling services to others); and 

 Integrating public facing services across two or more public sector bodies (for example 
children’s social care or trading standards) to generate savings or to transform service 
delivery. 

Page 41



Quite clearly many of the examples above align with the OBR/ FftF process and so subject to 

agreement by Council the intention to use its capital receipts flexibility to fund or part fund savings 

connected to its FttF process with the aim of successfully delivering priority outcomes for the 

Lancaster district whilst at the same time achieving long-term sustainability of finance and resources. 

 

Corporate Proposals for 2024/25 

Project Description 

Estimated 

Investment/ 

Cost 

Projected  

Savings 

£M 
 

Service Levels & 

Efficiency 

Revisions and rationalisation of levels of service 

offering efficiency measures, increased 

commercialisation, and review of income streams TBC TBC 

 

Digitalization 

Improvements to residents access reliable 

advice, consistent information, and efficient 

Council services  

Reduce failure demand and help the Council 

meet high volume, routine transactions in a cost-

effective manner. 

Review the functionality and costs of each ICT 

system with the objective of maximising the use 

of the functionality available and reducing the 

total number of systems used. TBC TBC 

 

Alternative 

Delivery Models 

& Partnerships 

Shared service savings, opportunities, contract 

reviews & alternative options for achieving 

outcomes TBC TBC 

 

Strategic Asset 

Management  

Improved asset management planning, asset 

usage reviews, potential disposals, optimising 

use of operational assets and prospects for 

energy and carbon reduction measures. TBC TBC 

 

 
 

Whilst these broad proposals are consistent with the OBR/ FftF process they are underpinned by a 

number of individual areas of which many are in their infancy and yet to be full costed. However, with 

all change programmes there will be a need for upfront investment in areas that will deliver capacity 

and objectivity.  

 

A significant amount of work has been undertaken by Officers to identify suitable assets and the table 

below provides summary details of the class of assets currently being marketed by the Council. 

 

Assets for Disposal 

 

Assets Currently Marketed 2024/25 
Expected Capital  

Receipts 2024/25 

£M 

Investment Properties 1.205 

Other Land & Buildings 0.180 

Estimated Value of Applicable Capital Receipts 1.385 

 

  

Page 42



SERVICE, PROJECTS AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
The Council reports its Financial, Projects and Service Performance (KPIs) through its quarterly 
Delivering our Priorities reporting cycle to Leadership team, Cabinet and Budget and Performance 
Panel.  
 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
The KPIs have been in place since 2018 and are to be reviewed and refreshed during the early 
part of 2024 to ensure the council has the correct indicators in place to support the progression of 
the Council Plan 24-27. The KPIs are support by a full suite of service indicators, which are held 
locally by each service and used to monitor the effectiveness of the service and make 
improvements when needed.   
 

Priority Measure 

I    % of minor planning applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed time  
(National Target 70%) 

I    % of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed time  
(National Target 70%) 

I    % of major planning applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed time 
(National Target 60%) 

 S   % of household waste recycled 

 S   Kg of residual waste per household 

 S   Number of parks and cemeteries achieving the Green Flag award* 

 S   Number of volunteer groups supporting parks and open spaces* 

 S   Exposure to air pollution away from roads* 

 S   Exposure to pollution at roadside (nitrogen dioxide per cubic metre)* 

 S   Diesel consumption of council vehicle fleet 

 S   Cost/m2 energy across corporate buildings 

 S   Gas KWH usage in council buildings 

 S   Electricity KWH usage in council buildings 

  H  Number of people statutorily homeless 

  H  Number of Disabled Facilities Grants completed 

  H  Number of properties improved 

I  H  % of premises scoring 4 or higher on the food hygiene rating scheme 

  H  Number of admissions to Salt Ayre Leisure Centre 

  H  Average number of days taken to re-let Council houses (Internal KPI <28 
days) 

  H  Number of people recorded sleeping rough* 

   R Average number of days’ sickness per full-time equivalent 

   R % occupancy rates for commercial properties 

  H R Average time taken to process new Housing Benefit claims (days) 

 

I An inclusive and Prosperous Local Economy (Economy) 

S A Sustainable District (Environmental) 

H Healthy and Happy Communities (Social) 

R A Co-operative, Kind and Responsible Council (Governance) 

 
 
  

Page 43



Strategic Projects 
Whilst the council faces financial challenges, Lancaster City Council continues to progress 
strategic projects to deliver improvements for residents and businesses within the district, in line 
with the council’s Ambitions.  These projects are outlined in the Council Plan 24-27. 
 
A list of the Strategic Projects and the council principles they address is shown below: 

Principle Project Name 

 Heritage Action Project 

Canal Quarter 

Our Future Coast 

Fair Work Charter 

1 Lodge Street Urgent Structural Repairs 

Centenary House  

Frontierland 

Heysham Gateway 

Canal Quarter - Coopers Field 

Eden Project Morecambe 

Lune Flood Protection, Caton Road 

Williamson Park (Café and Play Development) 

Burrow Beck Solar Farm 

Roof Mounted Solar Array – Gateway, White Lund 

Mellishaw Park 

My Mainway 

Extra Care Scheme 

LATCo - Housing Companies 

Outcomes Based Resourcing (OBR) 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

High-Capacity Fibre Cable Network Provision 

5G Strategy 

 
Eden Project Morecambe 
This project involves a marine version of the Eden Project (Cornwall) being constructed on the 
seafront in Morecambe, close to the Midland Hotel.  The Council is a stakeholder in this project, as 
it owns the land on which the development is proposed.  The project will assist with: 

 Regeneration of Morecambe 
 Increased visitors to neighbouring area 
 Greater tourism / visitors to area 
 Making Morecambe and the surrounding area a more desirable place to live, work and visit. 

 
Eden Project Morecambe awarded £50m from Government’s Levelling Up Fund - Lancaster City 
Council 
Eden Project Morecambe, UK | Eden Project (external site) 
 
MyMainway 
This is an exciting and ambitious project to improve the Mainway estate, Lancaster, for all 
residents.   

 Refurbishment of Lune and Derby House: Creating a Modern Living Experience 

 Skerton High School Site: Phase One of the Masterplan 
The Skerton school site has remained unused since its closure in 2014.  It will be developed to 
include energy efficient flats and community space.  Lancaster City Council will be the landlord.   

 Looking Into The Future: A Vision for the Mainway Estate 
The Mainway Project's visionary outlook goes beyond Phase 1, encompassing the current 
homes across the entire Mainway Estate.  The strategic approach involves building new homes 
on the school site to create new homes for existing Mainway residents to move into, before 
progressing with the development of other blocks of flats. 

Page 44



Mainway proposals take a step forward - Lancaster City Council (press release from February 
2022) 
 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
The UK Shared Prosperity Fund is a central pillar of the UK Government’s Levelling Up agenda 
and provides £2.6 billion of funding for local investment up to March 2025. This fund replaces 
European Union structural funds. The fund is focused on building pride in place, supporting high 
quality skills training, supporting pay, employment and productivity growth and increasing life 
chances in local places. 
 
Lancaster City Council has been allocated £5.3million which will be split between the following 
three core Priorities, as defined by Government: 

 Communities & Place 
 Supporting Business 
 People & Skills 

 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Lancaster City Council 
 
Local organisations receive funding boost from UKSPF - Lancaster City Council 
 
 
Financial Performance 
Financial Performance is analysed across a number of general Corporate and Subjective headings 
as well as individual portfolio analysis.  which reinforces the links between Council Plan and 
Service Financial Performance. The aim of the Delivering our Priorities Reports to provide clear 
linkages between the Council’s Priorities as stated within Council Plan 2024-2027, financial 
performance as well as service and project performance. These reports can be seen on the 
council’s website as part of the minutes for Cabinet.   
 

 

RISK ASSESSMENT OF KEY THREATS 
The Council has a strategic risk register which is reviewed quarterly by the Leadership Team, before 
being shared with Audit Committee, Budget and Performance Panel and Cabinet.  Operational risk 
registers are also kept by each service and reviewed regularly.  It is recognised that effective risk 
management is essential to the council’s corporate governance arrangements.  The Strategic Risk 
Register can be accessed via the minutes produced for Audit Committee: Audit Committee 
(lancaster.gov.uk).   
 
The Councils Risk Management Policy can be found here: Risk Management Policy 22.03.23.  It is 
due to be refreshed at the end of March 2024 and will incorporate the new management structure, 
responsibilities, revised risk categories and risk appetites the Council set in December 2023 based 
on the HM Treasury Orange Book: Management of Risk, Principles and Concepts.   
  

Page 45



 
A summary of the Council’s key Financial Risks are shown below: 

Risk Title Control Measures 

SR01 Central Government funding is insufficient 
to provide the current level of service leaving the 
council unable to deliver the financial resilience 
initiative and achieve financial stability. 

Officer/Member working groups, Council 
strategies, Monthly income monitoring, 
Quarterly reporting, Commercialisation. 

SR02 The Council fails to meet the 2024/25 
funding gap as a result of ineffective delivery of 
the efficiency programme and failure to deliver on 
key projects. 

Budget and Performance Panel, Reserves 
Policy, Project and Programme Managers, 
Programme Board, Cabinet, Portfolio 
Holder, OBR Project, Quarterly Reporting. 

SR04 The use of council assets is not maximised 
leading to insufficient funding to meet the funding 
gap and deliver capital projects. 

Use of council assets 

SR05 Council services are disrupted and / or 
additional services are required and costs are 
incurred as a result of local and national 
emergencies 

Resourcing the emergency response, 
district emergency, business continuity 
plans, National Emergency planning, 
Financial planning, Business Resilience 
plans, Partnerships, County wide 
emergency plans. 

SR06 The Council fails to reduce its direct Co2 
emissions to 'net zero' by 2030. 

Delivery plan in place, Peoples Jury. 

SR08 The Council fails to deliver its key projects 
due to the lack of capacity and resources. 

Local plan, Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, Investment Strategy, Capital 
Programme, Resourcing Key Services, 
Collaborative and Partnership working. 

SR11 International and national issues rapidly 
impact on the strategic and financial context of 
the Council and / or partners, businesses and 
communities. 

Retention of in-house expertise, Strategic 
responsiveness, Agility and Resilience, 
Strategic risk management. 

SR12 Budgetary proposals are brought forward / 
agreed that are then challenged, causing delays 
or changes to implementation. 

Budget Development 

SR14 Major, sudden unforeseen expenditure or 
income reduction arises, necessitating significant 
change or reduction to services. 

Registration with BSE for high rise blocks, 
Reserves policy, Continue financial 
forecasting 

SR20 Non compliance with Building Safety 
Executive for LCC owned high-rise buildings 

Registration with BSE for high rise blocks 

SR21 Non compliance with Regulator of Social 
Housing Standards 

Social Housing Regulation 

SR25 LCC Property Portfolio (non housing) does 
not meet its Health and Safety compliance 
obligation 

Property Group Compliance 

SR26 - Increasing costs of temporary 
accommodation for the homeless 

Increasing homeless temporary 
accommodation costs 

 
A comprehensive financial risk assessment is undertaken for the revenue and capital budget 
setting process to ensure that all risks and uncertainties affecting the Council’s financial position 
are identified. These are reviewed each year as part of the refresh of the MTFS.  
 

Page 46



RISK & PESTEL 

This is a strategic tool to evaluate the external environment of an organisation by breaking down 
opportunities and threats into several factors. The table below highlights some considerations 
impacting on the Councils medium term strategy and plans. 
 

Political 
• Change in Government policy direction and regulation  
• Labour laws /National Living Wage can impact on legal views and costs 
• Environmental laws impact on planning, council buildings and costs 
• Stability of political parties will ensure policies do not change regularly 
• National infrastructure and transport links decisions can impact on local economy 
• PWLB rates can have a significant impact on capital projects and affordability 
• Brexit - Uncertainty of European Grants and unknown impacts on the economy 
• Welfare reform/Housing demands /Universal Credit- Governments changes are likely to have an 
impact in relation to potential bad debt of council tax income and housing rents and the services 
needed by residents. 
• Local Government Funding Reform – the aim to making councils more self-sufficient and less 
reliance on grants. 

Economic 
• National and local economic growth rates 
• Energy prices increasing or decreasing 
• Price pressures/ supply chain pressures 
• Labour market availability and shifts 
• Exchange rates 
• Inflation rates both CPI and RPI - Levels of inflation and medium-term trajectories of it have an 
impact on capital and revenue investment projects on rising costs and contractual commitments. 
• Interest rates on investments, borrowing and debt 
• National and local Unemployment rates 
• The Council plays a strong role in ensuring a strong and vibrant local economy which can in turn 
lead to better jobs and skilled local people 
• Levels of employment influence the need for resident welfare support as well as other type of local 
government support. 

Socio-cultural 
• Local health and Deprivation indices 
• Local population demographics – having a young, healthy workforce or aging population with 
complex needs changes service needs 
• Health of local workforce 

Technological 
• Pace of change impacts on upgrades to systems and customer expectations for accessing services 
• Level of digital skills locally will determine who can access online services and who need more 
support such as telephone or face to face service provision. 
• Appetite for innovation can influence service adaptation to customer needs 
• New technology 

Environmental 
• Weather and impacts 
• Local Climate Change Agendas 
• Government Climate Change Aspirations 
• Local Pollution 
• Aspirations to be Environmentally Friendly 
• Environmental impacts ripple through everything the Council does and as such all reports to 
Cabinet must consider these implications 

Legal 
• Discrimination law 
• Consumer law 
• Employment law 
• Health & Safety laws 
• Changes in regulation and legislation in relation to local government 
• Licenses and permits 

Page 47



CONCLUSION 

The factors and assumptions outlined above result in a forecast cumulative gap of £4.567M within 

the MTFS driven mainly by pay pressure and the cost of capital investment as well as the risk 

associated with the decommissioning of the power station and the impact on business rates. 

 

Achieving sustainable finances represents a formidable challenge for the reasons outlined in 

this report and some tough choices will need to be taken to achieve long term sustainability. It is 

essential that the delivery of Council priorities and achievement of priority outcomes is linked to 

resource allocation in a sustainable way. 

 

Sound and responsible financial management will provide a strong foundation to deliver against the 

challenges outlined throughout this document. The Council has a track record of financial 

performance and will continue to use resources in the best possible way to help residents of the 

District. 

 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy of the Council will be kept under review to ensure that the 

financial context within which the Council operates is understood and informs effective decision 

making in a dynamic environment. 

Page 48



Service / Scheme

Communities & Leisure £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Salt Ayre Asset Management Plan 259,000 259,000 976,000 976,000 291,000 291,000 0 0 0

Environment & Place
Vehicle Renewals (including electrification of fleet) 1,284,000 1,284,000 1,301,000 1,301,000 5,067,000 5,067,000 630,000 630,000 1,073,000 1,073,000 1,761,000 1,761,000

Electric Taxis Scheme 0 341,000 (341,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Happy Mount Park Pathway Replacements 8,000 8,000 0 0 0 0 0

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - The Streets Are Ours Public Realm 100,000 (100,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

UK Shared Prosperity Fund -  Heysham Village Toilets 0 99,000 (99,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Housing & Property 0

Mellishaw Park 1,900,000 (960,000) 940,000 0 0 0 0 0

Disabled Facilities Grants 2,099,000 (2,099,000) 0 3,382,000 (3,382,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0

Next Steps Accommodation Programme 23,000 23,000 0 0 0 0 0

Home Improvement Agency Vehicles 0 127,000 127,000 0 0 0 0

 1 Lodge Street Urgent Structural Repairs 422,000 422,000 0 0 0 0 0

Gateway Low Voltage Switchgear 102,000 102,000 0 0 0 0 0

Gateway Solar Array 0 984,000 984,000 0 0 0 0

Lancaster City Museum Boiler 10,000 10,000 0 0 0 0 0

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Lancs CVS Community Warm Hubs 26,000 (26,000) 0 37,000 (37,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Property - Capital Works 0 355,000 355,000 419,000 419,000 814,000 814,000 287,000 287,000 539,000 539,000

Commercial Property - Capital Works 0 62,000 62,000 480,000 480,000 126,000 126,000 41,000 41,000 0

White Lund Depot - Offices 838,000 838,000 996,000 996,000 0 0 0 0

People & Policy
UK Shared Prosperity Fund External Projects 269,000 (269,000) 0 598,000 (598,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Rural England Prosperty Fund External Projects 125,000 (125,000) 0 375,000 (375,000) 0 0 0 0 0

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Digital Tourism Transformation 50,000 (50,000) 0 22,000 (22,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Planning & Climate Change
Property De-carbonisation Works 0 500,000 (260,000) 240,000 4,625,000 (2,432,000) 2,193,000 0 0 0

SALC -optimised solar farm, air source heating pumps & glazing 17,000 (17,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Resources
ICT Systems, Infrastructure & Equipment 221,000 221,000 286,000 286,000 286,000 286,000 316,000 316,000 326,000 326,000 181,000 181,000

ICT Laptop Replacement & e-campus screens 124,000 124,000 0 0 0 0 0

ICT Nimble 0 300,000 300,000 0 0 0 0

Local Full Fibre Network 1,041,000 1,041,000 755,000 755,000 0 0 0 0

Sustainable Growth
Lancaster Heritage Action Zone 1,148,000 (289,000) 859,000 0 0 0 0 0

Lancaster Heritage Action Zone - St John's Church 0 0 500,000 500,000 0 0 0

Caton Road Flood Relief Scheme 100,000 (100,000) 0 1,569,000 (1,569,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Centenary House Grant Funded Works 0 749,000 (749,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Lawsons Bridge S106 Scheme 63,000 63,000 0 0 0 0 0

Lancaster Square Routes 0 21,000 (16,000) 5,000 0 0 0 0

Engineers Electric Vehicle 15,000 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Coastal Revival Fund - Morecambe Co-Op Building 11,000 (11,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

City Museum Shop 0 30,000 30,000 0 0 0 0

Morecambe Sea Front Parapet Repair 0 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 0

Bare Outfall Flooding 0 50,000 50,000 0 0 0 0

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Maritime Museum Access Improvements 13,000 (13,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Lodge St Environs Enabling Works 72,000 (72,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Museums Accessible Engagement 0 34,000 (34,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Schemes Under Development
Burrow Beck Solar 0 200,000 200,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 0 0 0

Canal Quarter - Nelson St/St Leonardsgate 0 2,769,000 (2,769,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Our Future Coast 283,000 (283,000) 0 62,000 (62,000) 0 63,000 (63,000) 0 85,000 (85,000) 0 0 0

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 10,623,000 (4,414,000) 6,209,000 17,010,000 (10,313,000) 6,697,000 18,092,000 (4,826,000) 13,266,000 4,332,000 (2,416,000) 1,916,000 4,088,000 (2,331,000) 1,757,000 4,812,000 (2,331,000) 2,481,000

Financing :
Capital Receipts 0 (127,000) 0 0 0 0

Direct Revenue Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0

Earmarked Reserves (187,000) (38,000) 0 0 0 0

Increase/(Reduction) in Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 6,022,000 6,532,000 13,266,000 1,916,000 1,757,000 2,481,000

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

General Fund Capital Programme 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

P
age 49



Service / Scheme

Communities & Leisure
Salt Ayre Asset Management Plan

Environment & Place
Vehicle Renewals (including electrification of fleet)

Electric Taxis Scheme

Happy Mount Park Pathway Replacements

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - The Streets Are Ours Public Realm

UK Shared Prosperity Fund -  Heysham Village Toilets

Housing & Property
Mellishaw Park

Disabled Facilities Grants 

Next Steps Accommodation Programme

Home Improvement Agency Vehicles

 1 Lodge Street Urgent Structural Repairs

Gateway Low Voltage Switchgear

Gateway Solar Array

Lancaster City Museum Boiler

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Lancs CVS Community Warm Hubs

Property - Capital Works

Commercial Property - Capital Works

White Lund Depot - Offices

People & Policy
UK Shared Prosperity Fund External Projects

Rural England Prosperty Fund External Projects

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Digital Tourism Transformation

Planning & Climate Change
Property De-carbonisation Works

SALC -optimised solar farm, air source heating pumps & glazing

Resources
ICT Systems, Infrastructure & Equipment

ICT Laptop Replacement & e-campus screens

ICT Nimble

Local Full Fibre Network

Sustainable Growth
Lancaster Heritage Action Zone

Lancaster Heritage Action Zone - St John's Church

Caton Road Flood Relief Scheme

Centenary House Grant Funded Works

Lawsons Bridge S106 Scheme

Lancaster Square Routes

Engineers Electric Vehicle

Coastal Revival Fund - Morecambe Co-Op Building

City Museum Shop

Morecambe Sea Front Parapet Repair

Bare Outfall Flooding

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Maritime Museum Access Improvements

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Lodge St Environs Enabling Works

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Museums Accessible Engagement

Schemes Under Development
Burrow Beck Solar

Canal Quarter - Nelson St/St Leonardsgate

Our Future Coast

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Financing :
Capital Receipts 

Direct Revenue Financing

Earmarked Reserves

Increase/(Reduction) in Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

General Fund Capital Programme 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

0 0 0 0 1,526,000 0 1,526,000

5,543,000 5,543,000 0 0 0 16,659,000 0 16,659,000

0 0 0 0 341,000 (341,000) 0

0 0 0 0 8,000 0 8,000

0 0 0 0 100,000 (100,000) 0

0 0 0 0 99,000 (99,000) 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 1,900,000 (960,000) 940,000

2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 24,129,000 (24,129,000) 0

0 0 0 0 23,000 0 23,000

0 0 0 0 127,000 0 127,000

0 0 0 0 422,000 0 422,000

0 0 0 0 102,000 0 102,000

0 0 0 0 984,000 0 984,000

0 0 0 0 10,000 0 10,000

0 0 0 0 63,000 (63,000) 0

147,000 147,000 0 0 17,000 17,000 2,578,000 0 2,578,000

0 14,000 14,000 1,000 1,000 0 724,000 0 724,000

0 0 0 0 1,834,000 0 1,834,000

0 0 0 0 867,000 (867,000) 0

0 0 0 0 500,000 (500,000) 0

0 0 0 0 72,000 (72,000) 0

0 0 0 0 5,125,000 (2,692,000) 2,433,000

0 0 0 0 17,000 (17,000) 0

176,000 176,000 467,000 467,000 328,000 328,000 190,000 190,000 2,777,000 0 2,777,000

0 0 0 0 124,000 0 124,000

0 0 0 0 300,000 0 300,000

0 0 0 0 1,796,000 0 1,796,000

0 0 0 0 1,148,000 (289,000) 859,000

0 0 0 0 500,000 0 500,000

0 0 0 0 1,669,000 (1,669,000) 0

0 0 0 0 749,000 (749,000) 0

0 0 0 0 63,000 0 63,000

0 0 0 0 21,000 (16,000) 5,000

0 0 0 0 15,000 0 15,000

0 0 0 0 11,000 (11,000) 0

0 0 0 0 30,000 0 30,000

0 0 0 0 120,000 0 120,000

0 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000

0 0 0 0 13,000 (13,000) 0

0 0 0 0 72,000 (72,000) 0

0 0 0 0 34,000 (34,000) 0

0 0 0 0 4,200,000 0 4,200,000

0 0 0 0 2,769,000 (2,769,000) 0

0 0 0 0 493,000 (493,000) 0

8,197,000 (2,331,000) 5,866,000 2,812,000 (2,331,000) 481,000 2,660,000 (2,331,000) 329,000 2,538,000 (2,331,000) 207,000 75,164,000 (35,955,000) 39,209,000

0 0 0 0 (127,000)

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 (225,000)

5,866,000 481,000 329,000 207,000 38,857,000

T
o

ta
l 

G
ro

s
s

 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

T
o

ta
l 

E
x

te
rn

a
l 

F
u

n
d

in
g

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 

Budget

External 

Funding N
e

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 10 YEAR TOTAL

General Fund Capital Programme 

2029/30

P
age 50



 APPENDIX B 

 

Lancaster City Council 

 

Investing in the Future:  

Our Capital Investment 

Strategy  

 

 

 

 
This document represents the Councils Capital Strategy as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code requirements. 

To be reviewed and approved annually by Council 

  

Page 51



Contents 
1.  Introduction 

Investing in the Future 

Sustainable, Strategic Investment 

Investment Models 

Housing Provision and the Housing Revenue Account 

Aims of the Strategy 

 

2. The Strategy: Four Investment Streams 

 A Sustainable District 

 An Inclusive and Prosperous Local Economy 

 Healthy and Happy Communities 

 A Co-Operative, Kind and Responsible Council 

 

3. Capital Investments Regulation & Guidance 

Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code 

 

4. Delivering the Strategy 

The Capital Investment Lifecycle 

Governance Arrangements 

Risk Management 

Monitoring and Evaluation 

Capacity, Skills and Professional Advice 

 

5.  Our Assets 

Asset Types 

Asset Management 

Valuations  

 

6.  Capital Expenditure 

Capital Programme 

Affordability & Financing 

Capital Investment Priorities & Compilation of Capital Bids 

Future Plans 

 

7. Treasury Management 

Governance & Scrutiny 

Investment 

Borrowing 

 

8. Commercial Activity 

Current Position 

Performance Monitoring 

  

Page 52



 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Investing in the Future 

The Council’s goals for the success of the Lancaster district’s people and environment are achieved through 

a broad range of different activities, characterised as: 

 Services: Regular ongoing activities such as Planning, Council Housing, Public Realm, and Public 

Protection. These services are generally funded by continuous ‘Revenue’ funding through the Council’s 

regular funding streams such as Council Tax and Business Rates. 

 Projects: One-off development activities in areas such as Regeneration, Housing, Carbon Zero or Culture 

& Heritage initiatives, which may complement or transform an existing service, or create new assets or 

capacity (such as land, property or cultural & social assets) for the district. Projects generally require a 

one-off ‘Capital’ funding allocation, often over a number of years. Capital funding will be sourced from 

external contributions and grants, bids, or joint arrangements with partners where possible. In some cases, 

capital funding may require use of the Council’s reserves, disposal proceeds or borrowing from an external 

source. 

 Asset Maintenance and Renewal: Where there is a known, long term need to regularly invest in an asset 

(e.g. regular vehicle fleet, planned reroofing, refurbishment cycles, ICT, or leisure equipment renewals etc). 

These are presented initially as a project proposal, and then continue to make use of capital funding over 

a number of years. These may need periodic review or adjustment, and borrowing may be incurred to 

fund them. Because they either purchase, or add value to our assets, they are generally a capital funding 

allocation.  

 Review and Repurposing: The Council holds a substantial number of assets to deliver it wide range 

services. Regular stock condition surveys will be undertaken and form the basis of the Council’s asset 

management plan these will used to inform future investment decisions to ensure best value is achieved. 

Capital investment funded through unsupported borrowing also has an impact on the Council’s revenue 

budget, through the requirement of a ‘Minimum Revenue Provision’ (MRP) to provide for repayments 

against borrowed funds. 

This strategy for the period 2024-33 sets out a framework for how the Council wishes to invest in the future 

of the Lancaster district through ambitious, prudent use of capital funding, known as the Council’s ‘Capital 

Programme’.  

The strategy will be approved by Council each year at budget setting time, and any material changes will be 

presented to Council prior to implementation. 

1.2. Sustainable, Strategic Investment 

Capital expenditure must be carried out in a way that aligns with the Council’s future financial sustainability; 

whilst also contributing to strategic aspirations around the district’s environment, economy and communities, 

as expressed in the Council’s strategic priorities, summarised below.  

A range of investment proposals will be developed, contributing to each of the four priorities, as part of the 

Council’s corporate planning activity. This will ensure that the Council can respond to all opportunities for 

external investment and grant funding with viable, innovative and impactful schemes that are ready for 

implementation. 

Page 53



 

The Capital Investment Strategy is designed to support overall strategic goals by providing clear guidance 

and a route by which projects and activities can be proposed, developed, and ultimately delivered through 

the prioritisation and allocation of capital funds. This strategy will therefore be strongly linked with the 

Council’s wider framework of strategy and policy, including its: 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Asset Management Strategy 

 Homes Strategy 

 Climate Emergency and Carbon Zero initiatives 

 Regeneration and Economic Development activity 

1.3. Investment Models 

The strategy recognises that there are various ways in which the Council can use capital funding to achieve 

strategic goals. These may include shared investment with partners of good financial and reputational 

standing.  

Another route is for the Council to establish Local Authority Trading Companies (LATCos), which are entirely 

separate commercial entities able to independently access capital funding as part of their operations. The 

LATCo model also has the potential to create established, long-term income streams including commercial 

income. 

A LATCo is subject to its own governance and decision-making, as a wholly separate entity from the Council. 

This strategy does not set out the terms on which a LATCo may invest to generate a commercial return. 

However, it does recognise that the LATCo model may contribute to the achievement of the Council’s wider 

investment goals. As Lancaster’s existing LATCos are wholly owned by the Council, they are Assets of the 

Council, and we may choose to invest in them in order to grow their Asset value.  

Page 54



1.4. Housing Provision and the Housing Revenue Account 

The Council operates a separate funding stream for the provision of local authority housing, known as the 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA). It is a legal requirement for HRA funding to be ring-fenced for the sole 

purpose of housing provision.  

Maintaining and developing the Council’s housing provision requires a substantial HRA capital programme, 

which is largely funded by housing revenue. The HRA capital programme is delivered in line with the Council’s 

HRA Business Plan, and determined via the Council’s budget-setting process, with HRA matters considered 

separately from General Fund activities.  

Where HRA investments may contribute to the Council’s overall social, environmental and place-making 

ambitions, decision-making will recognise the statutory HRA ring-fencing requirements. 

1.5. Aims of the Strategy 

Maintaining a focus on the outcomes described in the Council’s strategic priorities (summarised above), the 

Capital Investment Strategy seeks to: 

 Define the process for proposing, developing and delivering projects which require capital funding, 

including the acquisition of land and property. 

 Provide a systematic structure for considering the risks, benefits and outcomes associated with capital 

investment. 

 Articulate the relevant governance, financial, and monitoring requirements to support capital investment 

proposals. 

 Support opportunities for investment through LATCos and co-investment with partner organisations. 

2. The Strategy: Four Investment Streams 

Investing in the future via the Council’s Capital Programme, will be achieved through four core Investment 

Streams. These will provide a structure within which the balance of the Capital Programme can be maintained 

in order to deliver against the widest range of strategic objectives.  

For each Stream, financial returns and impacts on the Council’s budget will be considered alongside a 

balanced scorecard which captures quantifiable measures in respect of broad economic, environmental, and 

social returns as defined by the Council’s strategic Priorities and Outcomes. Where there is a negative financial 

return or an overall cost to the Council, this will be acknowledged as a growth impact on the revenue budget. 

The four Streams, set out below, correspond to each of the Council’s Strategic Priorities in turn. 

1) A Sustainable District 

This includes schemes developed to deliver demonstrable reduction to carbon emissions in line with the 

Council’s goal of reaching net carbon zero by 2030, as well as other priority outcomes for climate change and 

the environment. Schemes may include, but are not limited to: 

 Installation of solar panels, 

 Investment in larger scale solar energy facilities, 

 Decarbonising heat and improving thermal efficiency, 

 Supporting agile working to reduce our carbon footprint, 

 The increased electrification of our vehicle fleet, 

 Climate resilience, 

 Resource efficiency. 

 

 

Page 55



2) An Inclusive and Prosperous Local Economy 

This includes schemes developed to provide regeneration benefits that meet the council’s inclusive and 

prosperous local economy priority.  

Schemes of this kind will assist the Council’s lead role in place-making, regeneration and economic 

development activity, and the improvement of the district’s town centres to improve economic performance 

and encourage future private sector investment. Investment in supporting the district’s rich creative and 

heritage assets will also benefit local businesses and residents both economically and culturally. 

The Council may use its own assets, such as public land and buildings, to achieve long-term socio-economic 

development in the district. This may also include the acquisition of land or property or other assets such as 

communications infrastructure. Any proposals to acquire land or property must be considered in accordance 

with the Prudential Framework as set out in the Council's Treasury Management Strategy. 

LATCo investment may be utilised to deliver a financial return from long-term rental income, business rates 

and council tax growth to underpin the investment / borrowing and to allow for additional mitigation of risk, 

whilst also delivering regeneration and placemaking objectives. Council land and property may be transferred 

to a LATCo to facilitate scheme delivery and to enable the LATCo to be signatory to planning agreements. 

The Council or LATCo may enter joint arrangements with commercial partners to share risks and rewards and 

to ensure that the council can benefit from relevant expertise and experience.  

3) Healthy and Happy Communities 

The Council’s capital investments have the potential to generate significant social returns in the District by 

increasing wellbeing and improving access to local culture, heritage and leisure. Costs associated with these 

investments will be balanced against the achievement of the Council’s wider goals for the wellbeing of its 

communities. Initiatives may include: 

 Loans to third parties  

 Investing in Social Capital 

 Re-use of council assets 

 Provision of additional, or enhanced housing outside or within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

Schemes developed to deliver improved housing in the district to the terms of the council’s Homes Strategy 

may include the development of new housing, as well as purchase of existing housing with a view to 

improvements in quality and management. Schemes developed through this aspect of the Stream may be 

delivered via a LATCo to enable a long-term revenue income stream. 

The council may also enter joint arrangements with commercial partners to share risks and rewards and to 

ensure that the council can benefit from relevant expertise and experience.  

4) A Co-Operative, Kind and Responsible Council 

Schemes and projects that sustain the day-to-day operational delivery of the Council’s services and so 

underpin a broad range of Council priorities. Such schemes may include upgrades of key information and 

communication systems.  

Transformation and ‘Invest to Save’ proposals provide one-off project funding to services to help services 

become more efficient and effective. These schemes may deliver a direct financial return through efficiencies 

and savings, or an indirect benefit through enhanced service provision in respect of the Council’s strategic 

goals. 

Capital investment in property may also be considered where it complies with the Capital Investment 

Regulations and Guidance and meets the Council’s priorities. – LATCos and other forms of special purpose 

Page 56



vehicle may also be established to generate income that can be invested in delivering Council priorities to 

reduce reliance on Council expenditure and therefore support the Council’s financial sustainability. 

3. Capital Investments Regulation & Guidance 

Alongside the Council’s strategic ambitions, the Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting 

regulations requires the Council to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice (the Code) and 

Investment Guidance (the Guidance) issued by The Ministry of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

(LUHC) to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

Depending on the circumstances, the Council will fund acquisitions through grants, contributions or capital 

receipts; or by utilising borrowing, reserves, or a combination of both. It is worth noting that following the 

review of local authority borrowing from Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) it is no longer possible to utilise 

PWLB to fund investment for yield projects. 

HM Treasury has issued guidance to local authorities as to the appropriate use of PWLB. The guidance details 

the characteristics of projects that would be supported, set out as follows: 

 The project is addressing an economic or social market failure by providing services, facilities, or other 

amenities that are of value to local people and would not otherwise be provided by the private sector. 

 The local authority is making a significant investment in the asset beyond the purchase price: developing 

the assets to improve them and/or change their use, or otherwise making a significant financial 

investment. 

 The project involves or generates significant additional activity that would not otherwise happen without 

the local authority’s intervention, creating jobs and/or social or economic value. 

 While some parts of the project may generate rental income, these rents are recycled within the project 

or applied to related regeneration projects, rather than being applied to wider services. 

All capital schemes will follow the provisions of the Prudential Code, and where applicable other capital 

schemes will follow the DLUHC Investment Guidance. As a minimum the following will be kept under review: 

 Transparency and Democratic Accountability 

 Contribution  

 Proportionality 

 Prudential Indicators (Affordability & Sustainability) 

 Borrowing in Advance of Need 

 Capacity and Skills 

A LATCo can source capital borrowing to fund investment for a commercial return as part of its activities, 

Although, the rates of any borrowing incurred to fund these projects would ordinarily reflect the prevailing 

financial market conditions to address any associated internal and external risks so likely exceed those 

available directly to the Council. In addition, as a wholly owned company the Council would be liable for any 

debt entered into by such a company and the financial statements of a LATCo are required to be consolidated 

into the Council’s annual statement of accounts. Any investments seeking a commercial return could be 

delivered via a LATCo and considered under the LATCo’s independent governance and decision-making 

structure.  

 

 

Page 57



3.1. Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code 

CIPFA published the revised codes on 20th December 2021. This Council has to have regard to these codes of 

practice when it prepares the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and also related reports during the 

financial year, which are taken to Full Council for approval. The revised codes have the following implications:  

 a requirement for the Council to adopt a new debt liability benchmark treasury indicator to support 

the financing risk management of the capital financing requirement;  

 clarify what CIPFA expects a local authority to borrow for and what they do not view as appropriate. 

This will include the requirement to set a proportionate approach to commercial and service capital 

investment;  

 address ESG issues within the Capital Strategy;  

 require implementation of a policy to review commercial property, with a view to divest where 

appropriate;  

 create new Investment Practices to manage risks associated with non-treasury investment (similar to 

the current Treasury Management Practices);  

 ensure that any long term treasury investment is supported by a business model; 

 a requirement to effectively manage liquidity and longer term cash flow requirements;  

 amendment to Treasury Management Practice 1 to address ESG policy within the treasury 

management risk framework;  

 amendment to the knowledge and skills register for individuals involved in the treasury management 

function - to be proportionate to the size and complexity of the treasury management conducted by 

each council;  

 a new requirement to clarify reporting requirements for service and commercial investment, 

(especially where supported by borrowing/leverage).  

In addition, all investments and investment income must be attributed to one of the following three purposes:  

Treasury Management  

Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity, this type of investment 

represents balances which are only held until the cash is required for use.  Treasury investments may also 

arise from other treasury risk management activity which seeks to prudently manage the risks, costs or income 

relating to existing or forecast debt or treasury investments. 

 

Service delivery 

Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services including housing, regeneration and 

local infrastructure.  Returns on this category of investment which are funded by borrowing are permitted 

only in cases where the income is “either related to the financial viability of the project in question or otherwise 

incidental to the primary purpose”. 

 

 

 

Page 58



Commercial return 

Investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury management or direct service provision 

purpose.  Risks on such investments should be proportionate to a council’s financial capacity – i.e., that 

‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable detriment to local services. 

An authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 

 

4. Delivering the Strategy 

4.1. The Capital Investment Lifecycle 

Capital investment schemes across the four Investment Streams must be considered, prioritised and evaluated 

in a consistent way, ensuring a clear rationale for investment including: 

 Strategic Fit: What is the proposal aiming to achieve, and how does this align with corporate priorities?  

 Financial: What are the financial circumstances for the project, e.g. is funding readily available and is it 

affordable? Will the proposal deliver a return in line with the targets established for each Investment 

Stream? 

 Legislation and Compliance: Is the proposal required in order to meet statutory or legislative 

requirements? 

 Risk: What risks are identified, and how will the proposal mitigate and manage these? 

 Project Management: How will the project be delivered in order to maximise its financial and social 

return in a timely way? 

To achieve a capital funding allocation as part of the Capital Programme, all proposals will be subject to a 

comprehensive Business Case development process in five stages, known as the ‘Capital Investment 

Lifecycle’. The process will be designed to fit with the Council’s corporate project management processes, to 

streamline the development and delivery of capital investment projects and allow for information to be shared 

and monitored consistently and effectively. Projects progressing through the stages will use the Council’s 

project management systems and processes.   

Stage 1: Inception 

Prior to officer time being spent on scoping a project, a discussion will take place between the relevant 

Cabinet portfolio holder and officers, ensuring that the project fits with the Council’s wider strategy before 

pursuing further development activity. The inception summary will provide advice on any capacity or funding 

associated with developing the project to Stage 2.  

Stage 2: Scoping the Scheme and Preparing the Strategic Outline Case (SOC)  

The purpose of this stage is to confirm the strategic context and provide a robust case for change. This stage 

will consider the strategic, economic, procurement, financial and management cases and include a financial 

analysis taking account of the targets set out for each Investment Stream. The SOC will also provide advice 

on the costs associated with developing the proposal to Stage 3. The SOC will be considered by the advisory 

Capital Assurance Group (CAG), which will provide comment to Cabinet and / or the relevant  decision-making 

body. Approval of the SOC by Cabinet will confirm the project’s position in the longlist of ‘pipeline’ schemes 

for which a full business case will be produced. 

Stage 3: Full business case (FBC) 

The purpose of this this stage is to propose a viable, feasible project. The FBC will  

Page 59



 Recommend the most economically advantageous offer 

 Document any contractual arrangements  

 Confirm funding sources and / or requirements 

 Demonstrate compliance with the Prudential Framework and HM Treasury ‘Green Book’ investment 

appraisal guidance 

 Set out the detailed management arrangements, costs and plans for successful delivery and post 

evaluation.  

The FBC will be considered by CAG and Cabinet and / or the relevant decision-making body. Approval of the 

FBC by them  will confirm the scheme’s inclusion within the Capital Programme. 

Stage 4: Implementation 

The business case should be used during the implementation stage as a reference point for monitoring 

implementation, and for logging any material changes that the Council is required to make. The project will 

follow performance reporting protocols which will ensure that project progress, impact on outcomes and 

financial performance is measured throughout the project and following its completion. 

Stage 5: Evaluation 

The business case and its supporting documentation should be used as the starting point for post-

implementation evaluation, both in terms of how well the project was delivered (project evaluation review) 

and whether it has delivered its projected benefits as planned (post implementation review) to the Council, 

in meeting strategic aims. 

4.2. Governance Arrangements 

All capital investment proposals must be subject to due diligence processes to ensure 

 Transparency 

 Democratic Accountability 

 Ethical Responsibility 

 Strategic Alignment 

As part of the Capital Investment Lifecycle, proposals will be subject to a governance framework including 

the following elements: 

Capital Assurance Group (CAG) 

An advisory working group comprising representation from Cabinet, Strategic Leadership Team, Overview & 

Scrutiny, Budget & Performance Panel, Council Business Committee and relevant specialist officers. CAG will 

consider SOCs and FBCs and make advisory recommendations to budget holders. Comments from individual 

members will be provided to Cabinet. CAG’s Terms of Reference can be found at Appendix B. 

Capital Investments Appraisal Group (CIAG) 

An officer group with relevant expertise from sustainable growth, housing & property, legal and finance, 

supported by external expertise and resource as required. The group will consider all potential capital 

investments in the first instance, following approval from the relevant Cabinet portfolio holder. The group will 

develop proposals for consideration by CAG. Proposals will first be brought to CAG at Stage 2 (see above), 

accompanied by an SOC. SOCs approved by Cabinet will return to CAG at Stage 3, accompanied by an FBC. 

 

Assets Group 

Page 60



Aligned to the principles of the Council’s Fit for the Future project, the Assets Group is a temporary Officer 

and Member group hosted by Cabinet Portfolio Holder Finance & Resources and chaired by the Chief Officer 

Property and Housing. The group consists of various Council officers and is tasked with reviewing the 

Council’s entire asset base looking at a range of factors such as condition and associated costs of repair and 

maintenance, alternative use options including service delivery and commercial, as well as management issue 

such as rental income, debt levels, commercial market value. The group should report to CAG on its findings 

and any suggested courses of action. 

Cabinet 

Cabinet submits the annual Budget Framework to Council, including the Capital Investment Strategy and 

Capital Programme. It is responsible for consideration and decision-making on capital expenditure proposals 

within the Budget & Policy Framework and in line with the relevant guidance. Before officer time is spent on 

scoping a project, approval should be obtained from the relevant Cabinet portfolio holder. 

Overview & Scrutiny (O&S) 

Early involvement of the Chair of O&S in CAG meetings enables early scrutiny and added value through 

shaping of capital decision-making. This involvement does not remove or negate the right of O&S to call-in 

any decision made by Cabinet. 

Budget & Performance Panel (B&PP) 

The Panel will review the financial and operational performance of the Capital Investment Strategy as part of 

its Budget Framework scrutiny role. 

Council 

Full Council is responsible for approving the Capital Investment Strategy as part of the annual Budget 

Framework, including any material changes. Revisions to the Capital Programme and any associated financing 

requirements that are outside of the budget and policy framework may be presented for approval throughout 

the year. However, there is the expectation that this would be of limited application and only reflect urgent 

situations and given the need to amend various prudential code indicators and be aligned to the Treasury 

Management Report October/ November committee cycle  

A half yearly report on compliance with the prudential framework and investment guidance will be considered 

by Cabinet, Budget & Performance Panel and Council. 

4.3. Risk Management 

Effective risk management will allow the council to adapt rapidly to change and develop innovative responses 

to challenges and opportunities. The risk management cycle for capital projects incorporates risk 

identification, risk analysis, risk control and action planning and risk monitoring and review. 

All significant capital projects will comply with the council’s project management process which follows good 

practice in the management of risk. 

A full assessment of property risk will be carried out individually for each property acquisition proposal before 

entering any commitment.  A further due diligence review will be undertaken in respect of a wide range of 

risk factors for all investment proposals which are taken forward. 

The Council’s asset portfolio will be risk managed through a regular, systematic asset challenge process which 

will review each asset’s performance, investment requirements and ongoing viability within the portfolio. This 

process will be developed through a forthcoming Asset Management Strategy and managed through the 

Councils Fit for the Future Assets Group who will report into CAG. 

Page 61



4.4. Monitoring and Evaluation 

Each capital proposal will set out targeted benefits aligned with the Council’s strategic priorities. The 

performance of each proposal during the implementation and evaluation stages will be monitored to provide 

assurance on the achievement of its strategic and financial objectives. 

The monitoring and evaluation process will include: 

 Delivering Our Priorities: Performance, Projects and Resources | The capital programme will be 

regularly evaluated as part of overall performance monitoring which incorporates financial, project and 

performance measures. This information is reported quarterly to Cabinet and B&PP. 

 Capital Investment Strategy Monitoring | As the strategy is key to delivering the Council’s strategic 

goals, regular progress against the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities & Outcomes will take place to 

ensure resources are appropriately allocated. 

 LATCo Asset Monitoring | Investments made by a LATCo for a commercial return will be considered by 

the LATCo’s shareholder committee. The impact of the LATCo’s financial return on the Council’s financial 

position will be considered alongside other financial monitoring information. 

 Prudential Framework | A half-yearly report on prudential indicators demonstrating the Capital 

Programme’s ongoing prudence, affordability and sustainability will be considered by Council. 

4.5. Capacity, Skills and Professional Advice 

Guidance requires that elected members and officers involved in the investment decision-making process 

have appropriate capacity, skills and information to enable them to take informed decisions as to whether to 

approve a specific capital investment. In addition, it places a duty on the Council to ensure that advisors 

negotiating contracts on its behalf are aware of the core principles of the prudential framework and the 

regulatory regime in which the Council operates. This will be achieved by ensuring a proportionate and 

effective training programme, obtaining appropriate professional advice to inform the decision-making 

process and by ensuring that procurement arrangements provide relevant information to potential advisers 

of the specific principles, regulations and governance relevant to local government.   

The council will appoint specialist advisors to provide training to ensure that relevant officers and members 

have the required skills to make informed decisions and assess the associated risks. This training will take 

place before any investment decisions associated with the Capital Investment Strategy are considered, and 

on a regular basis, to ensure that Officers are engaged in continual professional development in relation to 

property investment activity; and that Members, as decision makers, have the skills, knowledge and relevant 

information to effectively assist the decision-making process. This will include training for new Members of 

the Council.  

Investing in land and properties to achieve business objectives and to generate returns is a specialist and 

potentially complex area. The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 

positions with responsibility for developing capital expenditure, borrowing and investment proposals. Where 

skills or capacity are lacking, the Council or LATCo will engage the services of professional property, legal and 

financial advisors, where appropriate, to access specialist skills and resources to inform the decision-making 

process associated with this Strategy. Ongoing measurement of the impact of investment decisions on 

borrowing and affordability through Prudential or other relevant indicators will ensure that the overall risk 

exposure remains within acceptable parameters. The Council currently uses Link Group, Treasury solutions as 

treasury management advisors. 

Page 62



5. Our Assets  

The Council has a range of assets which it utilises to deliver its wide range of services throughout the District. 

The total valuation of these at the start of the financial year 2023/24 was £320.73M. The main constituents of 

these assets are as follows 

 

Asset Type £M 

Council Housing & Other Assets 151.23 

Property Plant & Equipment 110.53 

Community Assets 8.67 

Investment Property 40.76 

Heritage Assets 9.52 

Intangible Assets 0.02 

Total 320.73 
 

Council Housing 

At the start of the financial year the Council held 3,644  dwellings in total within its Housing Revenue Account. 

These dwellings include 1, 2, 3 & 4 bedroomed, houses, bungalows, flats maisonettes and bedsits. 

 

Number and Type of Dwellings   

Bedsits   86 

1 Bedroom 
Houses & Bungalows 653 

Flats & Maisonettes 545 

2 Bedroom 
Houses & Bungalows 471 

Flats & Maisonettes 663 

3 Bedroom 
Houses & Bungalows 1,114 

Flats & Maisonettes 8 

4 or more bedroomed 

dwellings   
90 

Total Dwellings 3,630 
 

Property Plant & Equipment 

These are assets which the Council predominately uses to deliver its services. These assets include Municipal 

Buildings, works depot, leisure centre and car parks. It also includes its refuse collection and vehicle fleet as 

well as various land holdings. The value of these assets at the start of 2023/24 financial year is provided in 

the table below 

 

Land & 

Buildings 

Vehicles, 

Plant 

Furniture & 

Equipment 

Infrastructure 

Assets 

Surplus 

Assets 

Assets Under 

Construction 
Total 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

57.68 12.31 37.94 2.46 0.14 110.53  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



Investment Assets  

This type of Council asset is held primarily to generate income and comprise a mix of office and retail lets 

together with agricultural and commercial land and commercial buildings. Further detail in respect of the 

Council’s investment properties is given in section 8.  

 

Investment Asset Type £M 

Office 4.10 

Retail 6.73 

Agriculture & Allotments 1.29 

Commercial Land 8.07 

Commercial Building 11.90 

Mixed Commercial 8.67 

Total 40.76 

 

Heritage Assets 

The Council’s heritage assets include 82 pieces of civic regalia, its museums’ collections   at the Maritime, 

Cottage and City museums in Lancaster, pieces of artwork, items of Gillow furniture and public artwork 

including the statue of Eric Morecambe on Morecambe promenade. 

 

Intangible Assets 

These comprise software and software licenses held for the Council’s key systems. 

 

Asset Management  

The key objectives of the Councils’ Asset Management Policy are to:  

 Provide the right buildings in the right place and at the right time and cost to meet the current 

and future aims, objectives, policies and plans of the Council. 

 

 Optimise and prioritise the level of investment in property assets to minimise maintenance 

backlog, improve fitness for purpose and optimise occupancy levels. 

 

 Maximise the value received from our non-operational commercial portfolio. 

 

 Continue to improve the environmental sustainability of the Council’s property portfolio. 

 

 Promote the innovative use of property by enabling urban regeneration and facilitating joint 

working with our partners and stakeholders. 

 

 Challenge the use of land and buildings held by the Council to minimise revenue expenditure and 

maximise the generation of capital receipts. 

 

Valuations 

The Council is required by accounting regulations to value its assets on a regular basis and currently values 

its General Fund assets on a rolling 3-year cycle. It is required to undertake a formal valuation of is HRA assets 

every 5 years in line with Department for Levelling Up Housing & Communities requirements. The last formal 

valuation was undertaken 1st April 2021. A desktop revaluation is undertaken for HRA assets in the 

intervening years to ensure that values are current. 

 

Page 64



All valuations are performed “in house” by qualified valuers within the Council’s Property Services Team. The 

valuations are performed using appropriate stipulations as detailed by the Royal Institute of Chartered 

Surveyors (RICS) and presented in the Council's Statement of Accounts within accord of the Statement of 

Recommended Practice (SORP). 

 

The details of the assets are held and recorded in a variety of sources in order to meet the operational and 

management requirements of the Council. This enables a bespoke management system of operation so that 

maximum utilisation of the asset can be developed.  

Whilst services have bespoke arrangements for the assets held under their responsibility the Financial Services 

maintains the prime records that are used for the production of the Council's Statement of Accounts. These 

are reconciled on a regular basis to ensure accuracy and relevance. 

 

6. Capital Expenditure – 

Capital Programme 

The Council plans gross expenditure, which excludes grants from other bodies of approximately £58.96M on 

General Fund and £29.47M on HRA capital schemes between 2023/24 – 2028/29.   

  

Gross Capital 

Expenditure 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total 

2023/24 

to 

2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

General Fund 10.62 17.01 18.09 4.34 4.09 4.81 58.96 

Housing 

Revenue 

Account (HRA) 

8.33 4.77 3.93 3.90 4.19 4.35 29.47 

Total 18.95 21.78 22.02 8.24 8.28 9.16 88.43 

 

Financing & Affordability 

The Council’s Capital Programme is financed by a mixture of external grants, capital receipts generated from 

property and right to buy disposals, contributions from reserves and unsupported borrowing.  The planned 

application of resources to capital projects is set out below: 

 

Financed by: 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Total 

2023/24 

to 

2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

Capital 

receipts -1.82 -0.16 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 -1.98 

Capital grants -4.92 -10.73 -4.83 -2.42 -2.34 -2.33 -27.57 

Capital 

reserves -3.72 -4.32 -3.93 -3.90 -4.19 -4.35 -24.41 

Revenue -2.47 -0.04 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 -2.51 

Financing 

Total -12.93 -15.25 -8.76 -6.32 -6.53 -6.68 -56.47 

Net financing 

need for the 

year 6.02 6.53 13.26 1.92 1.75 2.48 31.96 

 

 

Page 65



This table shows a net need for financing the Capital Programme of £31.96M which would require the Council 

to undertake additional borrowing. Additional borrowing could be used only to finance capital expenditure 

in respect of General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.  

 

The Council sets its level of capital investment in line with the statutory requirements of prudence, 

affordability and sustainability as set out in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance issued by CIPFA. 

 

The Council assesses the affordability of the General Fund programme by looking at the financing costs of 

borrowing (interest and loan repayments) as a proportion of its net revenue stream. For general fund these 

are expected to increase over the life of the capital programme. The table below provides details of this key 

indicator  

 

  

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

% % % % % % 

General Fund 19.94 18.20 20.20 24.65 23.79 22.30 

HRA 17.00 16.22 16.25 15.99 15.75 15.75 

 

This table shows that the cost of debt financing is estimated to be between 18.20% and 24.65% of the 

Council’s general fund net revenue budget between 2023/24 and 2028/29. 

 

The Housing Revenue Account capital programme has its prudence, affordability and sustainability set out in 

a thirty-year business plan. 

 

Further details on the impact of the Capital Programme on the Council’s borrowing are included below 

 

7. Treasury Management 

Treasury management deals with the management of cash flows resulting from the Council’s day-to-day 

operations.  It ensures that the cash flows are adequately planned with cash being available when it is needed. 

Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low 

risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 

 

The Treasury management service also covers the funding of the Council’s capital plans which provide a guide 

to the borrowing need of the Authority. 

 

Governance & Scrutiny 

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy including its Prudential and Treasury indicators is approved 

annually by Full Council. Council also receives and approves a mid-year treasury management report which 

sets out in year progress of the treasury position and an annual treasury report which sets out how actual 

treasury operation compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 

Both Cabinet and Budget and Performance Panel scrutinise the above reports before they are presented to 

and approved by Council. 

 

The Section 151 officer and his staff have delegated authority to make decisions in respect of detailed 

investment and borrowing acting in line with the framework set out in the treasury management strategy. 

 

 

Page 66



Investment 

The Council’s investment strategy prioritises firstly security, secondly liquidity and then return.  This maintains 

a firm focus on minimising risk rather than on maximising returns. 

  

The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the authority’s approach to managing investment risk in line 

with the following principles: 

 Using minimum acceptable credit criteria to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties, 

facilitate diversification and avoid concentration of risk 

 Defining the list of types of investment instruments that the treasury management team are 

authorised to use 

 Setting lending limits for each counterparty and transaction limits for each type of investment 

 Setting the limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for longer than 365 days at 

nil 

 Specifying that investments will only be placed with counterparties with a minimum sovereign 

rating of AAA (Fitch) 

 

The Council’s Investments at 30.12.2023 were: 

  

Balance 31.12.2023 £M Liquidity 

Bank Accounts 0.48 Instant Access 

Money Market Funds 11.50 Instant Access 

Other Local Authorities 0.00 Instant Access 

Money Market Funds 0.00 Fixed Term 

Other Local Authorities 23.00 Fixed Term 

Total Investments 34.98   

 

Borrowing 

As part of its treasury management activities the Council considers forward projections for borrowing to fund 

its capital expenditure plans working within the self-regulating framework of the Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance. 

 

The framework requires authorities to determine that capital expenditure and investment decisions are 

affordable, prudent and sustainable and to set limits on the amount they can afford to borrow in the context 

of wider capital planning. 

 

The Council’s underlying need to borrow is represented by its Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR 

is the total amount of capital expenditure (including that from prior years) that has not yet been paid for from 

either revenue of capital resources. 

 

  

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

CFR – Non-

Housing 

66.95 70.47 80.54 77.81 74.99 73.00 

CFR – Housing 34.09 33.05 32.00 30.96 29.92 28.88 

Total CFR 101.04 103.52 112.54 108.77 104.91 101.88 

 

Page 67



The authority currently maintains an under-borrowed position meaning that it uses cash backed reserves to 

defer the need to externally borrow for capital investment. Forecasting of cash backed reserves facilitates a 

long term view of the level of risk associated with borrowing internally. 

 

The table below shows the projection of external debt and internal borrowing using cash backed reserves: 

 

  

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

External Debt 

Debt at 1 April  59.01 63.97 71.93 80.88 79.84 78.80 

Expected change in 

Debt 
4.96 7.96 8.95 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 

Actual gross debt 

at 31 March  
63.97 71.93 80.88 79.84 78.80 77.76 

The Capital 

Financing 

Requirement 

 

101.04 

 

103.52 

 

112.54 

 

108.77 

 

104.91 

 

101.88 

Under Borrowing -37.07 -31.59 -31.66 -28.93 -26.11 -24.12 

 

The council is required to “repay” an element of its General Fund CFR each year through a revenue charge, 

the minimum revenue provision (MRP). The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the MRP policy adopted 

by the authority. The Council also makes physical cash repayments on a loan taken out to purchase the 

authority’s housing stock in 2012 which are counted as MRP. 

 

The following table sets out how MRP will be used to repay the underlying debt: 

 

  

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

General Fund 

MRP 
-2.64 -3.01 -3.19 -4.65 -4.57 -4.47 

HRA MRP -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 

Total -3.68 -4.05 -4.23 -5.69 -5.61 -5.51 

 

The Council sets an authorised limit for external debt. This represents a limit beyond which a local authority 

must not borrow unless prudential indicators have been renewed or amended.  It also sets an operational 

boundary for external debt.  This represents a limit that is based on the maximum external debt of the 

authority based on expectations.  The expectation is that there would be no sustained breach of the 

operational boundary.  

 

The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the following operational boundary and authorised limit for 

borrowing: 

 

  

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£M £M £M £M £M £M 

Operational Boundary 102.04 104.52 113.54 109.77 105.91 102.88 

Authorised Limit 117.00 120.00 129.00 125.00 121.00 118.00 

Page 68



 

 

8. Commercial Activity 

Current Position 

The Council’s existing investment property portfolio is comprised of a mix of office and retail lets together 

with agricultural and commercial land and commercial buildings as set out below: 

 

The majority of this portfolio has been accumulated by the Council over a number of years rather than actively 

acquired. Tenancy agreements are produced by the Council’s Estates Management Team in consultation with 

Legal Services and range from leases, licences and other agreements such as easements, wayleaves and rights 

of way 

 

The Council is obliged to obtain the best price it reasonably can for its commercial lets. Most properties have 

rents which are set based upon market conditions and comparable evidence to support the decision making 

process includes that from local agents, rents associated with other Council properties, recent transactions, 

inflation etc.   

 

Performance Monitoring  

Performance monitoring will be developed to ensure that investments are monitored on a routine and 

exception basis and will determine what performance measures will trigger an exception report so that full 

council is aware at the earliest opportunity of any material increase in risk or threat to ongoing yield. The 

Capital Strategy will be updated with this information in due course. 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



Appendix C 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 to 2028/29 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background 

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which means broadly that 
income to be raised during the year will meet expenditure to be incurred, after allowing 
for any changes in reserves and balances.  Part of the treasury management operation 
is to ensure that the associated cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being 
available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or 
instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of 
the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council 
can meet its capital spending obligations.  This management of longer term cash may 
involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses.   
On occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or 
cost objectives.  
 
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as 
the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet 
spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger 
capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt 
and the investment income arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget.  
Since cash balances generally result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to 
ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result 
in a loss to the General Fund Balance. 

 
Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure) and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities. 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury 
management as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.” 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 70



 

 

1.2 Reporting Requirements 

Capital Strategy 
 
The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require, all local 
authorities to prepare an additional report, a capital strategy report, which will 
provide the following:  
 

 a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing 
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

 the implications for future financial sustainability 
 

The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full 
council fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital 
strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. 

 
 
Treasury Management Reporting 
 
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports 
each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.   
 
Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first, 
and most important report covers: 

 the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 
charged to revenue over time); 

 the Treasury Management Strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to 
be organised) including treasury indicators; and  

 an Annual Investment Strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be 
managed). 

 
A mid-year treasury management report – This will update Members with the 
progress of the treasury position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, 
and whether any policies require revision.  In addition the Authority will receive 
quarterly update reports. 

 
An annual treasury report – This is a backward-looking review document and 
provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual 
treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 
Scrutiny - The above reports are required to be adequately considered and 
scrutinised before being presented to Council.  This is undertaken by Cabinet and 
the Budget and Performance Panel. 
 
Quarterly reports - In addition to the three major reports detailed above, from 
2023/24 quarterly reporting (end of June/end of December) is also required.  
However, these additional reports do not have to be reported to Full Council/Board 
but do require to be adequately scrutinised.  This role is undertaken by Budget & 
Performance Panel.   
 
 

Page 71



 

 

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2024/25 

The strategy for 2024/25 covers two main areas: 
 

Capital Issues 

 the capital plans and the prudential indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury Management Issues 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 policy on use of external service providers. 

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA 
Prudential Code, Government MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and Government Investment Guidance. 

1.4 Training 

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate asssociated training.  This 
especially applies to Members responsibe for scrutiny.  

Furthermore, pages 47 and 48 of the Code state that they expect “all organisations to 
have a formal and comprehensive knowledge and skills or training policy for the 
effective acquisition and retention of treasury management knowledge and skills for 
those responsible for management, delivery, governance and decision making. 

 

The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexity of the organisation’s 
treasury management needs.  Organisations should consider how to assess whether 
treasury management staff and board/ council members have the required knowledge 
and skills to undertake their roles and whether they have been able to maintain those 
skills and keep them up to date.  

 

As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review 
knowledge and skills:  

 

 Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor 
attendance is identified.  

 Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and 
board/council members.  

 Require treasury management officers and board/council members to 
undertake self-assessment against the required competencies (as set out in 
the schedule that may be adopted by the organisation).  

Page 72



 

 

 Have regular communication with officers and board/council members, 
encouraging them to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis.” 

 

In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better Governance 
Forum and Treasury Management Network have produced a ‘self-assessment by 
members responsible for the scrutiny of treasury management’, which is available from 
the CIPFA website to download. 

 

A member training session has been arranged prior to Budget & Performance Panel 
on 14 February and further training will be arranged during the forthcoming year as 
required. 

 

A formal record of the training received by officers central to the Treasury function will 
be maintained by the Accountancy Services Manager.  Similarly, a formal record of the 
treasury management/capital finance training received by members will also be 
maintained by the Chief Resources & S151 Officer. 

The training needs of treasury management Officers are periodically reviewed.  

1.5 Treasury Management Consultants 

The Council uses Link Group,  Treasury solutions as its external treasury management 
advisors. 
 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains 
with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon 
external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all available 
information, including, but not solely, our treasury advisers. 
 
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The 
Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their 
value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular 
review.  

 

2 CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2023/24 – 2028/29 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity.  The plans are reflected in various prudential indicators which are designed 
to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans are prudent, 
affordable and sustainable. 

2.1 Capital Expenditure 

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, 
both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. 
 
The table below provides that summary, showing how the plans are being financed 
by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources results in an underlying 
borrowing or financing need. 
 
 
 

Page 73



 

 

 
 

2.2 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR).  The CFR is simply the total amount of capital expenditure (including that 
from prior years) that has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 
resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s indebtedness and so its 
underlying need to borrow.  Any capital expenditure, which has not immediately 
been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will increase the CFR.   

 

The CFR does not increase indefinitely.  This is because the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP), which is a statutory annual charge to revenue, broadly reduces 
the indebtedness in line with each asset’s life. 

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. finance leases).  Whilst these 
increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types 
of schemes include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not required to 
separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council currently has no leases within 
the CFR. 

Members are asked to approve the CFR projections below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital 
expenditure 
 

2022/23 
Actual 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 

£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 

£m 
 
General Fund 
 

10.44 10.62 17.01 18.09 4.34 4.09 
 

4.81 

Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) 
 

    5.31 8.33 4.77 3.93 3.90 4.19 
 

4.35 

Total 15.75 18.95 21.78 22.02 8.24 8.28 9.16 

Financed by:        
Capital receipts -0.22 -1.82 -0.16 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 
Capital grants -5.15 -4.92 -10.73 -4.83 -2.42 -2.34 -2.33 
Capital reserves -4.94 -3.72 -4.32 -3.93 -3.90 -4.19 -4.35 
Revenue -0.83 -2.47 -0.04 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 -0.00 

Net financing 
need for the 
year 

4.61 6.02 6.53 13.26 1.92 1.75 
 

2.48 

Page 74



 

 

 
2022/23 
Actual 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 

£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 

£m 

       

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

    

     

CFR – Non Housing 63.56 66.95 70.47 80.54 77.81 74.99 73.00 

CFR – Housing 35.13 34.09 33.05 32.00 30.96 29.92 28.88 

Total CFR 98.69 101.04 103.52 112.54 108.77 104.91 101.88 

Movement in CFR        

Non Housing 4.50 3.38 3.52 10.07 -2.73 -2.82 -1.99 

Housing -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 

Net Movement in 
CFR 

3.46 2.34 2.48 9.03 -3.77 -3.86 -3.03 

        

Movement in CFR represented by          

Net financing need 
for the year (above) 
re Non Housing 

    4.61 6.02 6.53 13.26 1.92 1.75 

 
2.48 

Less MRP/VRP and 
other financing 
movements 

-1.15 -3.68 -4.05 -4.23 -5.69 -5.61 -5.51 

 
       

Net Movement in 
CFR 

3.46 2.34 2.48 9.03 -3.77 -3.86 -3.03 

2.3 Liability Benchmark 

The Council is required to estimate and measure the Liability Benchmark (LB) for 
the forthcoming financial year and the following two financial years, as a minimum.  

There are four components to the LB: - 

1. Existing loan debt outstanding: the Authority’s existing loans that are still 
outstanding in future years.   

2. Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition in 
the Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved prudential 
borrowing and planned MRP.  

3. Net loans requirement: this will show the Authority’s gross loan debt less 
treasury management investments at the last financial year-end, projected into 
the future and based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned MRP and 
any other major cash flows forecast.  

4. Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans 
requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance. 

The Council’s liability benchmark presented as a chart of the above four balances 
is shown below: 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



 

 

 

 

 

Any years where actual loans are less than the benchmark indicate a future 
borrowing requirement.   

During 23/24 forecast levels of funds available for treasury investments is falling in 
line with cash flow forecasts and as overall levels of General Fund and HRA 
reserves decrease. 

There is, therefore, a need to borrow to cover the net loans requirement.  Given 
PWLB interest rates at present, temporary borrowing from other local authorities 
will be utlised until PWLB rates reduce.  

 It is intended that the gap between the net loans requirement and the liability 
benchmark (gross loans requirement) will be covered by day-to-day working 
cashflow surpluses.   

 

2.4 Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances  

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 
capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will 
have an ongoing impact on investments, unless resources are supplemented each 
year from new sources (e.g. asset sales).  The following table provides estimates 
of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated year end cash flow 
balances from other day to day activities: 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 

 

 

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher 
mid-year 

2.5 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement  

Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 

(England) Regulations 2003, where the Authority has financed capital expenditure by 

borrowing it is required to make a provision each year through a revenue charge (MRP). 

Regulation 28 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

(Amendment) regulations 2008 require the Authority to calculate a prudent provision of 

MRP whilst having regard to the current MRP Guidance (2018). The broad aim of 

prudent provision is to ensure that the outstanding debt liability is repaid over a period 

that is reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides 

benefits. The Guidance gives four ready-made options for calculating MRP but the 

Authority can use any other reasonable basis that it can justify as prudent.  

The MRP policy statement requires full Council approval in advance of each financial 

year. 

It is recommended that Council approves the following MRP Policy Statement.  

 Supported borrowing incurred before 1st April 2008 will apply the Asset Life 

Method using an annuity method over 60 years. 

 Unsupported borrowing will be subject to MRP using the Asset Life Method, 

which will be charged over a period which is reasonably commensurate with 

the average estimated useful life of the assets. An annuity method will be 

applied for the MRP calculation. 

 Unsupported borrowing on vehicles will be subject to MRP using the Asset Life 

Method, which will be charged over a period which is reasonably 

commensurate with the estimated useful life of the vehicles. An annuity method 

will be applied for the MRP calculation. 

Year End Resources 2022/23 
Actual 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 

£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 

£m 

Fund balances / 
reserves 

33.85 24.78 25.20 26.91 27.69 27.84 27.76 

Capital receipts 2.39 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Provisions 4.74 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 

Total core funds 40.98 29.78 30.20 31.91 32.69 32.84 32.76 

Working capital* 19.02 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 

Under borrowing -39.69 -37.07 -31.59 -31.66 -28.93 -26.11 -24.12 

Expected investments 20.31 7.71 13.61 15.25 18.76 21.73 23.64 

Page 77



 

 

 The interest rate applied to the annuity calculations will reflect the market 

conditions at the time. For the current financial year the interest rate used will 

be the Authority’s weighted average borrowing rate. 

 MRP will commence in the financial year following the one in which the 

expenditure was incurred, or in the year after the asset becomes operational.  

 MRP in respect of unsupported borrowing taken to meet expenditure, which is 

treated as capital expenditure by virtue of either a capitalisation direction or 

regulations, will be determined in accordance with the asset life method as 

recommended by the MRP guidance. 

 

 MRP in respect of assets acquired under PFI or Finance Leases will be charged 

at a rate equal to the principal element of the annual lease rental for the year 

in question. 

 

 MRP Overpayments - The MRP Guidance allows that any charges made in 

excess of the statutory MRP, i.e. voluntary revenue provision (VRP) or 

overpayments, can be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent. 

In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must 

disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. The VRP overpayments 

up to 31st March 2023 are £11.45M and relate to the repayment of the HRA 

self financing debt. 

 

 On an annual basis the Section 151 officer shall review the level of MRP to be 

charged, to determine if this is at a level which is considered prudent based on 

the Authority’s circumstances at that time, taking into account medium / long 

term financial plans, current budgetary pressures, current and future capital 

expenditure plans. Dependant on this review the Section 151 officer will adjust 

the annual MRP charge by making VRP or reclaiming previous VRP. The 

amount of MRP charged shall not be less than zero in any financial year. 

 

 

2.6 Affordability Prudential Indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess 
the affordability of the capital investment plans.   These provide an indication of the 
impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances. Members 
are asked to approve the following indicators: 

 

2.7 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long 
term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

 

 2022/23 
Actual 

% 

2023/24 
Estimate 

% 

2024/25 
Estimate 

% 

2025/26 
Estimate 

% 

2026/27 
Estimate 

% 

2027/28 
Estimate 

% 

2028/29 
Estimate 

5 

General Fund 5.90 19.94 18.20 20.20 24.65 23.79 22.30 

HRA 18.79 17.00 16.22 16.25 15.99 15.75 15.75 

 
 
The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals 
in this budget report. 
 
 

3 BORROWING 

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity 
of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is 
organised in accordance with the the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash 
is available to meet this service activity and the Council’s capital stragegy.  This will 
involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 
organisation of approporiate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the relevant 
treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual 
investment strategy. 

 

3.1 Current Portfolio Position 

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are  summarised below. The table 
shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need (the 
Capital Financing Requirement or CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 

 

 

There are a number of key indicators to ensure that the Council operates its activities 
within well defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that its 
gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2024/25 and the following 
two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative 
purposes.       

The Chief Resources & Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this 
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals 
in the budget report.   

3.2 Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 

The Operational Boundary 

This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed.  In 
most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher 
depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by 
other cash resources. 
 

Operational 
boundary  

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 

£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 

£m 

Debt* 101.04 103.52 112.54 108.77 104.91 101.88 

       

Other long term 
liabilities 

1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Total 102.04 104.52 113.54 109.77 105.91 102.88 
 

The Authorised Limit for External Debt 

A further key prudential indicator represents a control on the maximum level of 
borrowing.  This represents a legal limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, 

 2022/23 
Actual 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 

£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 

£m 

External Debt        

Debt at 1 April  60.05 59.01 63.97 71.93 80.88 79.84 78.80 
Expected change in 
Debt -1.04 4.96 7.96 8.95 -1.04 -1.04 

 
-1.04 

 
Other long-term 
liabilities (OLTL) 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Expected change in 
OLTL 

0.00 0.00 
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Actual gross debt 
at 31 March  59.01 63.97 71.93 80.88 79.84 78.80 

 
77.76 

 

The Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 

 
98.69 

 
101.04 

 
103.52 

 
112.54 

 
108.77 

 
104.91 

 
101.88 

Under Borrowing -39.69 -37.07 -31.59 -31.66 -28.93 -26.11 -24.12 

Page 80



 

 

and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council.  It reflects the level of 
external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is 
not sustainable in the longer term.   

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either 
the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this 
power has not yet been exercised. 

2. Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit: 
 
 
 

Authorised Limit  2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

2026/27 
Estimate 

£m 

2027/28 
Estimate 

£m 

2028/29 
Estimate 

£m 

Debt 116.00 119.00 128.00 124.00 120.00 117.00 

       

Other long-term 
liabilities 

1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Total 117.00 120.00 129.00 125.00 121.00 118.00 

 
 

3.3 Prospects for Interest Rates 

The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  Link provided 
forecasts on 08.01.2024.  These are forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields  plus 80 
bps: 
 
 

 

  Mar-24 Mar-25 Mar-26 Mar-27 

Bank Rate 5.25 3.75 3.00 3.00 

3 Month average earnings 5.30 3.80 3.00 3.00 

6 Month average earnings 5.20 3.70 3.10 3.10 

12 Month average earnings 5.00 3.60 3.10 3.20 

5yr PWLB rate 4.50 4.10 3.60 3.50 

10yr PWLB rate 4.70 4.20 3.80 3.70 

25yr PWLB rate 5.20 4.60 4.20 4.10 

50yr PWLB rate 5.00 4.40 4.00 3.90 

 
 
Further commentary by Link on this forecast table: - 

 
 

Our central forecast for interest rates was previously updated on 7 November 
and reflected a view that the MPC would be keen to further demonstrate its 
anti-inflation credentials by keeping Bank Rate at 5.25% until at least the 
second half of 20-24.  We expect rate cuts to start when both the CPI inflation 
and wage/employment data are supportive of such a move, and when there is 

Page 81



 

 

a likelihood of the overall economy enduring at least a slowdown or mild 
recession over the coming months. 

Naturally, timing on this matter will remain one of fine judgment: cut too soon, 
and inflationary pressures may well build up further; cut too late and any 
downturn or recession may be prolonged. 

In the upcoming months, our forecasts will be guided not only by economic data 
releases and clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and the 
Government over its fiscal policies, but also international factors such as policy 
development in the US and Europe, the provision of fresh support packages to 
support the faltering recover in China as well as the ongoing conflict between 
Russia and Ukraine, and Gaza and Israel. 

 

PWLB RATES 

 The short and medium part of the gilt curve has rallied since the start of 
November as markets price in a quicker reduction in Bank Rate through 2024 
and 2025 than held sway back then.  This reflects market confidence in inflation 
falling back in a similar manner to that already seen in the US and the 
Eurozone.  At the time of writing there is circa 70 basis points difference 
between the 5 and 50 year parts of the curve.  

 

Borrowing advice: Our long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank Rate 
remains at 3% and reflects Capital Economics’ research that suggests AI and 
general improvements in productivity will be supportive of a higher neutral interest 
rate. As all PWLB certainty rates are currently above this level, borrowing strategies 
will need to be reviewed in that context.  Overall, better value can be obtained at 
the shorter end of the curve and short-dated fixed LA to LA monies should be 
considered. Temporary borrowing rates will remain elevated for some time to come 
but may prove the best option whilst the market continues to factor in Bank Rate 
reductions for 2024 and later.  

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of 
all interest rate forecasts.  Naturally, we continue to monitor events and will update 
our forecasts as and when appropriate. 

3.4 Borrowing Strategy 

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that the 
capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded 
with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s provisions, reserves, balances and 
working capital has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent as 
medium and longer dated borrowing rates are expected to fall from their current levels 
once prevailing inflation concerns are addressed by tighter near-term monetary policy.  
That is, Bank Rate remains elevated through to the second half of 2024. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 
adopted with the 2024/25 treasury operations.  The Section 151 Officer, under 
delegated powers will monitor  interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic 
approach to changing circumstances: 

 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates then 
borrowing would be postponed. 

 

Page 82



 

 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE borrowing rates 
than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding would be drawn whilst interest rates 
are lower than they are projected to be in the next few years. 

Any decisions will be reported to Cabinet at the next available opportunity. 

 

3.5 Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate 
sums falling due for refinancing and are required for upper and lower limits. 

The Council is asked to approve the following indicators and limits: 

 

 

Maturity structure of fixed 
interest rate borrowing 2022/23 

£m Current 
% 

Lower 
% 

Upper 
% 

Under 12 months 1.04 1.63 0 100 

12 months and within 24 months 7.04 11.01 0 100 

24 months and within 5 years 3.12 4.88 0 100 

5 years and within 10 years 5.21 8.14 0 100 

10 years and within 20 years 8.33 13.02 0 100 

20 years and within 30 years 0.00     0.00 0 100 

30 years and within 40 years 39.22 61.32 0 100 

40 years and within 50 years 0.00 0.00 0 100 

 

3.6 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need  

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.  Any decision to borrow in advance 
will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates,  and will be 
considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and that the 
Council can ensure the security of such funds.  

3.7 Debt Rescheduling 

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio may be considered whilst 
premature redemption rates remain elevated but only if there is surplus cash available 
to facilitate any repayment, or rebalancing of the portfolio to provide more certainty is 
considered appropriate. 
 
If rescheduling was done it would be reported to Cabinet at the earliest meeting 
following its action.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



 

 

4 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

4.1 Investment Policy – Management of Risk 

The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DHLUC) and CIPFA have 
extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial 
investments.  This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed by the 
treasury management team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of 
income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy (a separate report). 
 
Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: 
 

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and 
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021 
 
The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, liquidity second, then return. 
 
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk 
appetite.  
 
In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a degree of 
liquidity to cover cash flow needs but also to consider “laddering” investments for 
periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, whilst investment 
rates remain elevated, as well as wider range fund options. 
  
The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA place a high priority on the 
management of risk.  This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk 
and defines its risk appetite by the following means: 
 
1.  Minimum acceptable credit criteria are appliedin order to generate a list of highly 

creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables diversification and thus avoidance 
of concentration risk.  The key ratings used to monitor cournerparties are the short 
term and long term ratings. 

 
2. Other Information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an 

institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on 
both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 
environments in which institutions operate.  The assessment will also take account 
of information that reflects the opinion of the markets.  To achieve this the council l 
will engage with its advisors to maintian a monitor on market pricing such as “credit 
default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. 

  
3.     Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 

other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most 
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 

 
 
4. The authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the 

treasury management team are authorised to use.  There are two lists in annex  B2 
under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments. 

 

Page 84



 

 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and 
subject to a maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left to run 
to maturity, if originally they were classified as being non-specified 
investements solely due to the maturity period exceeding one year. 

 

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may 
be for periods in excess of one year, and/or more complex instruments 
which require greater consideration by members and officers before 
being authorised for use. 

 

 

5. Non-specified investments limit.  The Council has determined that it will limit the 
maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 20% of the total 
investment portfolio. (see paragraph 4.3) 

   
6.  Lending limits (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty will be set through 

applying the matrix table in paragraph 4.2 
 
7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2 
 
8. The Council will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for 

longer than 365 days (see paragraph 4.4) 
 
9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified 

minimum sovereign rating (see paragraph 4.3) 
 
10. The Council has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 1.5), to provided 

expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and 
yield, given the risk appetite of this authority in the context of the expected level of 
cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

 
11. All investments will be denominated in sterling. 
 
12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2023/24 under IFRS9, the 

authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which could result 
in in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant 
charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. 

 
The Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will monitor 
the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks  for investment 
performance.  Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during 
the year. 

 
Changes in risk management policy from last year. 
The above criteria are unchanged from last year 
 

4.2 Creditworthiness Policy  

This Council will apply the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  
This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from 
the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The 
credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays:  
 

Page 85



 

 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

 Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in 
credit ratings; 

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries. 

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in 
a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for 
which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative 
creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are used by the Council to 
determine the suggested duration for investments.  The Council will therefore use 
counterparties within the following durational bands:  
 

 Yellow (Y) up to but less than 1 year 
 Dark pink (Pi1)  liquid - Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25  
 Light pink (Pi2)  liquid – Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 
 Purple (P) up to but less than 1 year  
 Blue (B) up to but less than 1 year (only applies to nationalised or 

 part- nationalised UK Banks) 
 Orange (O) up to but less than 1 year 
 Red (R) 6 months 
 Green (G) 100 days   
 No colour (N/C) not to be used 

 

  
 

  Colour (and long 
term rating where 

applicable) 

Money  

Limit 

Time  

Limit 

Banks /UK Govt. backed 
instruments* 

yellow £12m       ≤1 year  

Banks  purple £6m  ≤1 year  

Banks  orange £6m ≤1 year 

Banks – part nationalised blue £12m ≤1 year 

Banks  red £6m ≤6 mths 

Banks  green £3m ≤100 days 

Banks  No colour Not to be 
used 

 

Limit 3 category – Council’s 
banker (for non-specified 
investments) 

n/a £1.5m 1 day 

DMADF UK sovereign 
rating 

unlimited ≤6 months 

Local authorities n/a £12m ≤1 year 

  Fund rating** Money 
and/or % 

Limit 

Time  

Limit 

Page 86



 

 

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA £6m liquid 

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA £6m liquid 

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA £6m liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.25  

 Dark pink / AAA £6m liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.5  

Light pink / AAA £6m liquid 

 
* the yellow colour category includes UK Government debt, or its equivalent, money 
market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt –
see  Annex B2. 
 
** “fund” ratings are different to individual counterparty ratings, coming under either 
specific “MMF” or “Bond Fund” rating criteria. 
 
 
The creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information other than just primary 
ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 
 
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria (built in) that the Council use will be a Short 
Term rating of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A- (Fitch, or equivalents). There may be 
occasions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower 
than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances consideration will be given 
to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical market information, to support 
their use. 

 
All credit ratings will be monitored daily. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of 
all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service.  

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting 
the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. 

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx European Senior 
financials benchmark and other market data on a dailly basis via its Passport website, 
provided exclusively to it by Link. Extreme market movements may result in 
downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition, the Council 
will also use to some limited extent market data and market information, information on 
sovereign support for banks and the credit ratings of that supporting government to help 
support its decision making process. 

 
Creditworthiness 
 

Significant levels of downgrades to Short- and Long-Term credit ratings have not 
materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any 
alterations were limited to Outlooks. Nonetheless, when setting minimum sovereign 
debt ratings, the Council will not set a minimum rating for the UK. 
 
 

Page 87



 

 

CDS prices 
Although bank CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), spiked upwards 
during the days of the Truss/Kwarteng government, they have returned to more 
average levels since then. However, sentiment can easily shift, so it will remain 
important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the 
current circumstances. Link monitor CDS prices as part of their creditworthiness 
service to local authorities and the Council has access to this information via its Link-
provided Passport portal. 

4.3 Country Limits 

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total invesment 
portfolio to non-specified investments, countries, groups and sectors 

a)  Non-specified investment limit.  The Council has determined that it 
will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified invesments as 
being 20% of the total investment portfolio. 

 b) Country limit.  The Council has determined that it will only use 
approved counterparties from other countries with a minimum 
sovereign credit rating of AAA  (Fitch) or equivalent from each of the 
credit rating agencies.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
Officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy. 

4.4 Investment Strategy 

In-house Funds: Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and 
cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (up to 12 months).   
Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods.  The current 
shape of the yield curve suggests that is the case at present, but there is the propect of 
Bank Rate having peaked in the second half of 2023 and possibly reducing as early as 
the second half of 2024 so an agile investment strategy would be appropriate to 
maximise returns. 
 
While most cash balances are required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash 
flow, where cash sums can be reliably identified that could be invested for longer 
periods the value to be obtained from longer term investments will be carefully 
assessed. 
 
Investment Returns Expectations:  The current forecast includes a forecast for  Bank 
Rate to have peaked at 5.25%.  
 

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed 
for periods up to about three months during each financial year are: 

 

 2023/24 5.30% 

 2024/25 4.55% 

 2025/26 3.10% 

 2026/27    3.00% 

 2027/28 3.25% 

 

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all 
interest rate forecasts. 

Page 88



 

 

Investment treasury indicator and limit - the total principal funds that can be invested for 
greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the 
availability of funds after each year-end.  Council is asked to approve the following treasury 
indicator and limit:  

 

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days     

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

Principal sums 
invested > 365 
days 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
 

Nil 

 

4.5 End of year investment report 

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of 
its Annual Treasury Report. 

 

 

Page 89



 

 

ANNEX B1 

Treasury Management Glossary of Terms 
 
 Annuity – method of repaying a loan where the payment amount remains uniform 

throughout the life of the loan, therefore the split varies such that the proportion of the 
payment relating to the principal increases as the amount of interest decreases. 

 

 CIPFA – the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, is the professional 
body for accountants working in Local Government and other public sector 
organisations, also the standard setting organisation for Local Government Finance. 

 

 Call account – instant access deposit account. 
 

 Counterparty – an institution (e.g. a bank) with whom a borrowing or investment 
transaction is made. 

 

 Credit Rating – is an opinion on the credit-worthiness of an institution, based on 
judgements about the future status of that institution.  It is based on any information 
available regarding the institution: published results, Shareholders’ reports, reports from 
trading partners, and also an analysis of the environment in which the institution 
operates (e.g. its home economy, and its market sector).  The main rating agencies are 
Fitch, Standard and Poor’s, and Moody’s.  They currently analyse credit worthiness 
under four headings (but see changes referred to in the strategy): 

 

 Short Term Rating – the perceived ability of the organisation to meet its 
obligations in the short term, this will be based on measures of liquidity. 
 

 Long Term Rating – the ability of the organisation to repay its debts in the long 
term, based on opinions regarding future stability, e.g. its exposure to ‘risky’ 
markets. 
 

 Individual/Financial Strength Rating – a measure of an institution’s 
soundness on a stand-alone basis based on its structure, past performance 
and credit profile. 
 

 Legal Support Rating – a view of the likelihood, in the case of a financial 
institution failing, that its obligations would be met, in whole or part, by its 
shareholders, central bank, or national government. 

 
The rating agencies constantly monitor information received regarding financial 
institutions, and will amend the credit ratings assigned as necessary. 

 DMADF and the DMO – The DMADF is the ‘Debt Management Account Deposit 
Facility’; this is highly secure fixed term deposit account with the Debt Management 
Office (DMO), part of Her Majesty’s Treasury. 
 

 EIP – Equal Instalments of Principal, a type of loan where each payment includes 
an equal amount in respect of loan principal, therefore the interest due with each 
payment reduces as the principal is eroded, and so the total amount reduces with 
each instalment. 
 

 Gilts – the name given to bonds issued by the U K Government.  Gilts are issued 
bearing interest at a specified rate, however they are then traded on the markets like 

Page 90



 

 

shares and their value rises or falls accordingly.  The Yield on a gilt is the interest paid 
divided by the Market Value of that gilt. 
E.g. a 30 year gilt is issued in 1994 at £1, bearing interest of 8%.  In 1999 the market 
value of the gilt is £1.45.  The yield on that gilt is calculated as 8%/1.45 = 5.5%.   
See also PWLB. 
 

 Liquidity – Relates to the amount of readily available or short term investment money 
which can be used for either day to day or unforeseen expenses. For example Call 
Accounts allow instant daily access to invested funds.  

 

 Maturity – Type of loan where only payments of interest are made during the life of the 
loan, with the total amount of principal falling due at the end of the loan period. 

 

 Money Market Fund (MMF) – Type of investment where the Council purchases a 
share of a cash fund that makes short term deposits with a broad range of high quality 
counterparties. These are highly regulated in terms of average length of deposit and 
counterparty quality, to ensure AAA rated status. As from 21 July 2018 there will be 
three structural options for existing money market funds – Public Debt Constant Net 
Asset Value (CNAV), Low Volatility Net Asset Value (LVNAV) and Variable Net Asset 
Value (VNAV) 

 

 Policy and Strategy Documents – documents required by the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management in Local Authorities.  These set out the framework 
for treasury management operations during the year. 

  

 Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) – a central government agency providing long 
and short term loans to Local Authorities.  Rates are set daily at a margin over the Gilt 
yield (see Gilts above).  Loans may be taken at fixed or variable rates and as Annuity, 
Maturity, or EIP loans (see separate definitions) over periods of up to fifty years.  
Financing is also available from the money markets, however because of its nature the 
PWLB is generally able to offer better terms. 

 

 Link Asset Services – Link Asset Services are the City Council’s Treasury 
Management advisors.    They provide advice on borrowing strategy, investment 
strategy, and vetting of investment counterparties, in addition to ad hoc guidance 
throughout the year. 

 

 SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average) – this reflects the average of the interest 
rates that banks pay to borrow sterling overnight from other financial institutions and 
other institutional investors.  It is used as a replacement for LIBOR (and LIBID 
calculations), the publication of which ceased at the close of 2021. 

 

 Yield – see Gilts 
 
Members may also wish to make reference to The Councillor’s Guide to Local Government 
Finance. 
  

Page 91



 

 

ANNEX B2 

 
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the 
institution, and depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above 
categories. 
 
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles 
are: 
 

 
 Minimum credit 
criteria / colour 
band 

Max % of 
counterparty 
limit - 
*Specified 

Max % of 
counterparty 
limit – **Non -
Specified 

Max. maturity 
period 

DMADF – UK Government N/A 100% N/A 6 months 

UK Government gilts 
UK sovereign 
rating  

100% N/A 1 year 

UK Government Treasury blls 
UK sovereign 
rating  

100% N/A 1 year 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

AAA  100% N/A 6 months 

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA 100% N/A Liquid 

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA 100% N/A Liquid 

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA 100% N/A Liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.25  

AAA 100% N/A Liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.5   

AAA 100% N/A Liquid 

Local authorities N/A 100% N/A 1 year 

Term deposits with banks and 
building societies 

Yellow 
Purple 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
0% 

20% 
20% 
N/A 
20% 
20% 
20% 
0% 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

Certificates of Deposit and 
corporate bonds with banks and 
building societies 

Yellow 
Purple 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

20% 
20% 
20% 
20% 
0% 
0% 
0% 

0% 
0% 
0% 
0% 
0% 
0% 
0% 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

 
 
*SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities up to maximum of 1 year, meeting the quality criteria as applicable. 
 
**NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the 
specified investment criteria.  A maximum of up to 20% ** will be held in aggregate in 
relevant non-specified investments (as at the trade date of investing). 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 92



 

 

ANNEX B3 

Background information on credit ratings 
 

Credit ratings are an important part of the Authority’s investment strategy. The information below 
summarises some of the key features of credit ratings and why they are important. 
 
What is a Credit Rating? 
A credit rating is: 

 An independent assessment of an organisation; 

 It gauges the likelihood of getting money back on the terms it was invested; 

 It is a statement of opinion, not statement of fact; 

 They help to measure the risk associated with investing with a counterparty; 
 
Who Provides / Uses Credit Ratings? 
There are three main ratings agencies, all of which are used in the Authority’s treasury strategy. 

 Fitch 

 Moody’s Investor Services 

 Standard & Poor’s 
 
The ratings supplied by these agencies are used by a broad range of institutions to help with 
investment decisions, these include: 
 

– Local Authorities; 
– Other non-financial institutional investors; 
– Financial institutions; 
– Regulators; 
– Central Banks; 
 

Rating Criteria 
There are many different types of rating supplied by the agencies. The key ones used by the Authority 
are ratings to indicate the likelihood of getting money back on terms invested. These can be split into 
two main categories: 
 

– ‘Short Term’ ratings for time horizons of 12 months or less. These may be 
considered as the most important for local authorities. 

 
– ‘Long Term’ ratings for time horizons of over 12 months. These may be considered 

as less important in the current climate. 
 

In addition, the agencies issue sovereign, individual and support ratings which will also feed into the 
investment strategy. 
 
Rating Scales (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) 
The table below shows how some of the higher graded short and long term ratings compare across 
the agencies; the top line represents the highest grade possible.   (There are other ratings that go 
much lower than those shown below, and ratings for other elements). 
 

Short Term Long Term 

Fitch Moody’s S&P Fitch Moody’s S&P 

F1+ P-1 A-1+ AAA Aaa AAA 

F1 P-1 A-1 AA Aa2 AA 

F2 P-2 A-2 A A2 A 

 

Page 93



31 March 

2023

From 

Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2024
From Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To Revenue
31 March 

2025
From Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To Revenue
31 March 

2026

From 

Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To 

Revenue

31 March 

2027
From Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To 

Revenue

31 March 

2028

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Unallocated Balances (11,678,400) 3,058,000 (8,620,400) (1,070,000) 1,277,500 (8,412,900) (820,000) 97,500 (9,135,400) (9,135,400) (9,135,400)

Earmarked Reserves:

Corporate Priorities (421,200) 402,900 (18,300) 82,700 64,400 82,700 147,100 147,100 147,100

Capital Support (73,000) (73,000) (73,000) (73,000) (73,000) (73,000)

Corporate Property (313,500) (313,500) (313,500) (313,500) (313,500) (313,500)

Covid 19 Support Reserve (9,700) (9,700) (9,700) (9,700) (9,700) (9,700)

Investment Property Maint (34,900) (34,900) (34,900) (34,900) (34,900) (34,900)

Invest to Save (301,700) 228,200 (73,500) (73,500) (73,500) (73,500) (73,500)

Museums Acquisitions (36,300) (4,500) (40,800) (4,500) (45,300) (4,500) (49,800) (4,500) (54,300) (4,500) (58,800)

Planning Fee Income (30,400) (30,400) (30,400) (30,400) (30,400) (30,400)

Restructure (520,900) 121,000 (399,900) (399,900) (399,900) (399,900) (399,900)

To Support Revenue & Capital 

Expenditure
(1,741,600) (4,500) 752,100 (994,000) (4,500) 82,700 (915,800) (4,500) 82,700 (837,600) (4,500) (842,100) (4,500) (846,600)

Renewals Reserves (1,061,900) (491,800) 131,000 (1,422,700) (491,800) 38,000 (1,876,500) (491,800) (2,368,300) (491,800) (2,860,100) (491,800) (3,351,900)

General Renewals (775,500) (295,800) 7,000 (1,064,300) (295,800) (1,360,100) (295,800) (1,655,900) (295,800) (1,951,700) (295,800) (2,247,500)

Salt Ayre Leisure Centre (29,700) (150,000) 124,000 (55,700) (150,000) 38,000 (167,700) (150,000) (317,700) (150,000) (467,700) (150,000) (617,700)

Williamson Park (29,000) (18,000) (47,000) (18,000) (65,000) (18,000) (83,000) (18,000) (101,000) (18,000) (119,000)

Car Parks (123,200) (12,000) (135,200) (12,000) (147,200) (12,000) (159,200) (12,000) (171,200) (12,000) (183,200)

Happy Mount Park (35,900) (14,000) (49,900) (14,000) (63,900) (14,000) (77,900) (14,000) (91,900) (14,000) (105,900)

Arnside & Silverdale AONB (68,600) (2,000) (70,600) (2,000) (72,600) (2,000) (74,600) (2,000) (76,600) (2,000) (78,600)

Elections (115,400) (45,000) 170,000 9,600 (45,000) (35,400) (45,000) (80,400) (45,000) (125,400) (45,000) 180,000 9,600

Homelessness Support (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800)

Lancaster District Hardship 

Fund
(240,500) 240,000 (500) (500) (500) (500) (500)

Business Rates Retention (7,471,700) (1,854,700) 1,632,400 (7,694,000) (751,000) (8,445,000) (129,900) (8,574,900) 600,000 (7,974,900) 500,000 (7,474,900)

Revenue Grants Unapplied (642,400) 483,700 (158,700) 73,400 (85,300) 3,600 (81,700) (81,700) (81,700)

S106 Commuted Sums -     

Open Spaces

S106 Commuted Sums - 

Affordable Housing
(218,800) 63,000 (155,800) (155,800) (155,800) (155,800) (155,800)

S106 Commuted Sums - 

Highways, Cycle Paths etc.
(1,047,600) (456,000) 105,000 (1,398,600) (200,000) (1,598,600) (200,000) (1,798,600) (200,000) (1,998,600) (200,000) (2,198,600)

Welfare Reforms (324,900) (324,900) (324,900) (324,900) (324,900) (324,900)

Amenity Improvements (29,000) (29,000) (29,000) (29,000) (29,000) (29,000)

Reserves Held in Perpetuity:

Graves Maintenance (22,200) (22,200) (22,200) (22,200) (22,200) (22,200)

Marsh Capital (47,700) (47,700) (47,700) (47,700) (47,700) (47,700)

Total ring-fenced/held against 

risk
(11,332,900) (2,847,500) 194,000 2,631,100 (11,355,300) (1,487,800) 38,000 73,400 (12,731,700) (866,700) 3,600 (13,594,800) (736,800) 600,000 (13,731,600) (736,800) 680,000 (13,788,400)

Total Earmarked Reserves (13,074,500) (2,852,000) 194,000 3,383,200 (12,349,300) (1,492,300) 38,000 156,100 (13,647,500) (871,200) 86,300 (14,432,400) (741,300) 600,000 (14,573,700) (741,300) 680,000 (14,635,000)

Total Combined Reserves (24,752,900) (20,969,700) (22,060,400) (23,567,800) (23,709,100) (23,770,400)

Reserves Statement (Including Unallocated Balances)

P
age 94



COUNCIL  

 
Pay Policy Statement 2024/2025 

Wednesday 13th March 2024 
 

Referral from People and OD Committee 
 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To ask that Council consider and agree the People and OD Committee’s recommendation for 
the Pay Policy Statement for 2024-2025 as required by the Localism Act 2011 
 

This report is public 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
(1) To consider and agree the Pay Policy Statement 2024-2025 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 places a requirement on local authorities to 

publish a Pay Policy Statement by the 31st March each year. This includes the 
remuneration of its Chief Officers. This Statement must be approved by resolution of 
Council, and this function may not be delegated.  
 

1.2 The Statement sets out the Council’s arrangements relating to:  
 

 the remuneration of its Chief Officers; 

 the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees, and  

 the relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and the remuneration 
of its employees who are not Chief Officers. 

 
1.3 The Pay Policy Statement has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the Localism Act 2011 and having regard to the guidance issued by the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) under Section 40 of the Act. 

 
2.0 Proposal Details 
 
2.1 During the course of the year, if the Authority makes any determination relating to the 

remuneration or any other terms and conditions of a Chief Officer, it must comply with 
its Pay Policy Statement 

 
2.2 It is recommended that the revised Pay Policy Statement be effective from 1st April 

2024. 
 
3.0 Details of consultation 
 
3.1 There has been no consultation, but in preparing the revised Statement, regard has 

Page 95 Agenda Item 11



been made to Government guidance and national negotiations and consultations. 
 
4.0 Options and options analysis (including risk assessment) 
 
4.1 In order to comply with the Localism Act 2011, it is necessary for Council to approve 

a Pay Policy Statement. 
 
5.0 Conclusion 
 
5.1 Council is requested to approve and recommend to Full Council the Pay Policy 

Statement for 2024-2025 

 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing): 
 
No notable impact. 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council has a statutory obligation, pursuant to s38 of the Localism Act 2011 to approve 
annually a Pay Policy Statement. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
2024/2025 pay agreement is pending. 
 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces 
 
The Pay Policy Statement 2024-2025 has been prepared by HR.  
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
 The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
2024/2025 Pay Policy  
JNC Conditions of Service Handbook 

Contact Officer: Alex Kinch 
Telephone: 01524 582083 
E-mail: akinch@lancaster.gov.uk 
 
  
 

  
 

Page 96



Lancaster City Council Pay Policy Statement 2024 - 2025 

1. Introduction and Purpose 

 

1.1 In accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011, this Pay 

Policy statement has been produced to reflect the Council’s approach to pay policy 

for the year 2024/2025. 

 

1.2 This statement sets out the Council’s policies in relation to the remuneration of our 

Chief Officers and all other employees.  It also clarifies the relationship between Chief 

Officer remuneration and the remuneration of our lowest paid employees. 

 

1.3 The purpose of this statement is to demonstrate transparency with regards to setting 

the pay of Council employees. 

 

2. Setting Terms and Conditions  

 

2.1 The Council’s Chief Officers, including the Chief Executive, are employed under the 

nationally agreed Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) terms and conditions.  All other 

employees are employed under the nationally agreed National Joint Council (NJC) 

terms and conditions.  

 

2.2 Pay increases relating to cost of living are agreed nationally by the NJC and JNC 

negotiating bodies. 

 

3. Definitions of Chief Officers within Lancaster City Council  

3.1 Chief Officers (in senior positions) within this Council are currently defined as the 

Chief Executive, and: 

• Senior Chief Officer 

• Chief Officer – Resources (S151) 

• Chief Officer – Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

• Chief Officer – People and Policy 

• Chief Officer – Planning and Climate Change 

• Chief Officer – Sustainable Growth 

• Chief Officer – Environment and Place 

• Chief Officer – Housing and Property 

 

3.2 In addition to the above, the Council has further posts which may fall into the wider 

statutory definition of Chief Officer posts via reporting lines, although they are not 

designated as such within this Council. These other posts are as follows 

 

• Senior Manager – Democratic Services 

• Senior Manager - ICT 

• Senior Manager – Community & Leisure 

3.3 All the posts named at 3.2 fall into a pay grade which currently starts from £57,714 up 

to a maximum pay point of £71,907 (grade 14). The terms of service for these posts 

are governed by the National Joint Council for Local Government National Agreement 

on Terms and Conditions of Service (the NJC Green Book). 

 

3.4 The Monitoring Officer function attached to the Chief Officer – Governance post, and 

the Section 151 Officer role attached to the Chief Officer – Resources posts are paid 

an allowance for this responsibility.  

Page 97



 

An allowance of £9000 (per annum) is made for the Monitoring Officer and 151 

Officer functions. An allowance of £6000 per annum is divided up and awarded pro 

rata to Deputies carrying out these statutory functions (e.g. 1 Deputy for each role 

would attract £6000, 2 Deputies £3000). 

 

4. Remuneration of the Chief Executive  

4.1 The post of Chief Executive (which also acts as Head of Paid Service) is paid on a 

fixed salary of £128,055. There has not been an agreement of pay award for 

2024/2025, therefore the salary will remain the same as 2023/2024, pending any 

national pay award agreement. 

 

5. Remuneration of other Chief Officers 

5.1  Chief Officers are paid within a band which starts from £73,557 up to a maximum of 

£80,714. There has not been an agreement of pay award for 2024/2025, therefore 

the salary will remain the same as 2023/2024, pending any national pay award 

agreement.  

 

Statutory Chief Officers are remunerated in accordance with their technical expertise 

and background.  

 

6. Policy on Other Aspects of Chief Officer Remuneration 

6.1 Aside from ‘pay’ there are other aspects of Chief Officer remuneration which are 

outlined below:  

6.1.1 Travel and other expenses: reimbursed through normal Council policies and 

procedures in the same way for all staff. 

6.1.2 Bonuses: The terms of employment do not provide for the payment of any bonuses. 

6.1.3 Honoraria: through normal Council policies and procedures in the same way for all 

staff. 

6.1.4 Severance arrangements (for Chief Officers ceasing to hold office): 

 The Council’s normal policies in relation to redundancy and early retirement apply to 

these posts, in line with relevant regulations.  

 Any payments falling outside the provisions above or the relevant periods of notice 

within the contract of employment shall be subject to formal decision made by People 

and OD Committee, as per the constitution. 

6.2 There are no provisions for any other increases or additions to Chief Officer 

remuneration, other than as outlined in this policy. 

 

7. Returning Officer Fees 

7.1 Fees for Returning Officers and other electoral duties are identified and paid 

separately for local government elections, elections to the UK Parliament and EU 

Parliament and other electoral processes such as referenda.  As these relate to 

performance and delivery of specific election duties as and when they arise, they are 

distinct from the process for the determination of pay for Chief Officers. 

 

8 Other Chief Officer Conditions of Service  

Page 98



 

8.1 The other terms and conditions of service are set out in the relevant conditions of 

service handbooks, as follows:  

 Chief Executive: The Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief 

Executives – Conditions of Service  

 All other Chief Officers: The Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers in 

Local Authorities – Conditions of Service  

 

9. Pension Contributions 

9.1 For all employees, including Chief Officers, where employees have exercised their 

right to be a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme, the Council will 

make contributions to the Pension Fund in line with the Employer contribution rates 

determined by the Actuary. 

 

10. Recruitment of Chief Officers  

10.1 The Council’s policy and procedures in relation to the recruitment of Chief Officers is 

set out within the Council’s Constitution.  

10.2 When recruiting for all posts, the Council will take full and proper account of all 

provisions of employment legislation and its own agreed policies. 

10.3 The remuneration offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer will be in accordance 

with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the time of recruitment.  New 

appointments for staff up to and including Chief Officers are normally made at the 

minimum of the grade for the post, although this can be varied if necessary, to ensure 

the best candidate can be appointed. 

10.4 Where the Council is unable to recruit Chief Officers, or there is a need for interim 

support to provide cover for a substantive Chief Officer post, the Council will, where 

necessary, consider engaging individuals under a ‘contract for service’ (rather than 

them being direct employees of the Council).  These will be sourced through a 

relevant recruitment process, under relevant Officer delegations, ensuring the Council 

is able to demonstrate the maximum value for money from securing the service. 

 

11. Approval of Salary Packages in Excess of £100K 

11.1 Before any offer of appointment is made, the Council will ensure that salary packages 

in excess of £100,000 will be considered by full Council.  This salary package will be 

defined as base salary, bonuses, fees, routinely payable allowances and any benefits 

in kind which are due under the contract. 

 

12. Re- Employment of Former Chief Officers 

12.1 It is the Council’s policy not to re-employ any Chief Officer who was previously made 

redundant from the authority / received any other severance payment, or later engage 

them under a contract for service or interim contract except under exceptional 

circumstances 

 

13. Publication and Access to Information regarding Chief Officer Remuneration 
 

13.1 Upon approval by Council, the Pay Policy Statement will be published on the 
Council’s website.  In addition, relevant information will be reported in the Council’s 
annual Statement of Accounts. 

Page 99



 

14. Payment of Lower Paid Employees within the Council  

14.1 The Council uses the NJC negotiated pay spine (i.e. a nationally agreed and defined 
list of salary points) as the basis for its local pay structure, which determines the 
salaries for most of its workforce. The Council uses the NJC payspine SCP 3 - 47.  

 

14.2 The Council operates a Job Evaluation Scheme to determine the pay grade for posts 

and uses the Willis Towers Watson Global Grading Scheme. 

14.3 The Council ensures that all staff (aside from Apprentices) are paid at least the ‘Real 

Living Wage’ rate.  Spinal Column Point (SCP) 3 automatically defaults to the Living 

Wage on 1st April each year and the Council uses this to define its ‘lowest paid’ 

employees. 

14.4 The Council employs Apprentices who are not considered within the definition of 

‘lowest paid employees’.  They are paid under the separate Apprentice Pay Rates, 

the highest of which equates to the real Living Wage rate. 

14.5 The Council does not have a policy on maintaining a specific pay ratio between its 

Chief Officers and its lowest paid staff, although it is conscious of the need to ensure 

that Chief Officer salaries are not excessive.   

 

15. Pension Contributions 

15.1 Where employees have exercised their right to join the Local Government Pension 

Scheme, the Council agrees to contribute to the Scheme at rates set by Actuaries.  

16. Payments on Termination  

16.1 The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 

employment of Chief Officers, prior to retirement, is set out within its policy statement 

and in accordance with: 

• Local Government (Early Termination of Employment Discretionary 

Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006.  

• Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 

Regulations 2007.  

• Local Government Pension Scheme (Admin) Regulations 2008 (regulation 66).  

• The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.   

• The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 

Amendment) Regulations 2014.  

 

17. Changes to Pay Policy  

 

17.1 Should any amendments be required to this policy during the year, then matters will be 

reported to the People and OD Committee for consideration, for subsequent referral to 

Council. 

 

18. Accountability and Decision Making  

 

18.1 In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, People and OD Committee are 

responsible for decision making in relation to policies for recruitment, pay, terms and 

conditions and severance arrangements in relation to employees of the Council.  

 

Page 100



1 
 

 
 
 

JOINT NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE 
for 

LOCAL AUTHORITY CHIEF OFFICERS 
 
 

CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 
HANDBOOK 

 
 

 

 

 
UPDATED 8 August 2017 

 
 

Employers’ Secretary: 
  

NAOMI COOKE 
Local Government Association 

18 Smith Square 
London  

SW1P 3HZ 
 

Tel:  020 7187 7373 
email: info@local.gov.uk 

 

Officers’ Side Secretary: 

REHANA AZAM 
GMB 

Mary Turner House 
22 Stephenson Way 
London NW1 2HD 

 
Tel: 020 7391 6700 

email: info@gmb.org.uk  

 
 

Page 101

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:info@gmb.org.uk


2 
 

The Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers of Local 
Authorities is the national negotiating body for the pay and conditions 
of service of chief officers in England and Wales. 
 
The Authorities’ Side consists of elected members nominated by the 
Local Government Association and the Welsh Local Government 
Association. The Staff Side consists representatives of GMB and 
UNISON. 

 
CONTENTS 

 
PART 1 - CONSTITUTION 
                   
1 Title  ……………………………………………………….  3 
2 Scope ……………………………………………………....  3 
3 Membership ……………………………………………….  3 
7 Functions  ……………………………………………….  4 
8 Procedure ……………………………………………….  4 
15 Finance ……………………………………………….  5 
16 Arbitration ……………………………………………….  5 
17 Amendments ……………………………………………….  5 
 
PART 2 – CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 
 
1 Application of Terms & Conditions Generally………..…  6 
2 Questions of Interpretation …………………………….…  6 
3 Periods of Notice to Terminate Employment……………  6 
4 Annual Leave……………….……………………………...  6 
5 Honorarium Payments………………………………….…  6 
6 Relocation Expenses……...………………………………  6 
7 Setting Remuneration Levels…………………….………  7 
8 Performance Appraisal……………………………………  7 
9 Restrictions on Re-Employment…………………………  8 
10 Salary……………………………………………………….  8 
11 Returning Officer Fees……………………………………  9 
12 Official Conduct……………………………………………  9 
 
PART 3 – DISCIPLINE, CAPABILITY AND REDUNDANCY 
 
1 Specific Statutory Officers…………………………………  11 
2 Chief Officers other than Statutory Officers…...…………  11 
3 Redundancy…………………………………………………  12 
         
Annex 1 Joint Guidance on Appraisal of the Chief Officer  14 
 
NB: All hyperlinks and email addresses contained in this Agreement are 
correct at the time of publication. Please notify the Joint Secretaries of any 
discrepancies by emailing them at the addresses shown on the cover page. 
 
 

Page 102



3 
 

PART 1 - CONSTITUTION 
 
TITLE 
 
1 The Committee shall be known as the Joint Negotiating Committee for 

Chief Officers of Local Authorities (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Committee”). 

 
SCOPE 
 
2 The Committee shall have within their scope any officer of a local 

authority in England and Wales who 
 

a is a chief officer designated by the employing authority 
as the administrative and executive head 

 
  either  i of a separate department 
 
  or ii of a particular function or service 
 

which in either case is regarded by the authority as 
important in relation to the total activities of the authority; 
or 

 
b is designated by the authority as a recognised deputy to 

any chief officer covered by (a) above including an 
officer of deputy status but whose post may carry a 
different title. 

 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
3 The Committee shall consist of 36 members, appointed as follows:- 
 
 Representing local authorities: 
 
  
  

Local Government Association   9 
 Welsh Local Government Association 1 

  
Representing officers: 

 
  
  
  

GMB                  23 
Unison        3 
      

 
4 If any of the organisations named in paragraph 3 hereof fail to appoint 

the number of representatives provided for by the Constitution, such 
failure to appoint shall not vitiate the decisions of the Committee 
always providing the quorum referred to in paragraph 13 is met. In the 
event of any member of the Committee or any sub-committee thereof 
being unable to attend any meeting of the Committee or of the sub-

Page 103



4 
 

committee, as the case may be, the organisation represented by such 
member shall be entitled to appoint another representative to attend 
and vote in his/her place. 

 
5 A member of the Committee shall automatically retire on ceasing to 

be a member of the organisation which he/she represents. 
 
6 On the occurrence of a casual vacancy, a new member shall be 

appointed by the organisation in whose representation the vacancy 
occurs and shall sit until the end of the period for which his/her 
predecessor was appointed. 

 
FUNCTIONS 
 
7 The functions of the Committee shall be to secure the largest possible 

measure of joint action in respect of the salaries and service 
conditions of officers within the scope of the Committee; and to seek 
to resolve any differences between a local authority and its officers 
which may be referred to the Committee, in accordance with 
procedures to be determined by the committee from time to time.  

 
PROCEDURE 
 
8 Sub-Committees The Committee may appoint from their own 

members such sub-committees as they may consider necessary and 
with such authorities as they may from time to time determine. The 
reports of all sub-committees shall be submitted to the full Committee. 

 
9 Chair and Vice-Chair The Committee shall appoint annually a Chair 

and Vice-Chair.  When the Chair is a member of the Authorities’ Side, 
the Vice-Chair shall be appointed from the Officers’ Side and vice 
versa. The Chair shall be held in alternate years by a member of the 
Authorities’ Side and a member of the Officers’ Side. The Chair, or in 
his/her absence, the Vice-Chair, shall preside at all meetings of the 
Committee. In the absence of both the Chair and Vice-Chair at any 
meeting, a chair shall be elected to preside. In no case shall a Chair 
have a second or casting vote.  

 
10 Officers The Committee shall appoint joint secretaries and a 

treasurer. 
 
11 Meetings Meetings of the Committee shall be held as often as may 

be necessary, and the Chair shall call a special meeting if so 
requested by one-third of either side of the Committee. The notice 
summoning any special meeting shall state the nature of the business 
proposed to be transacted thereat, and no other matters shall be 
discussed. A special meeting shall take place within fourteen days 
after the request has been received. 

 

Page 104



5 
 

12 Voting Voting in the Committee and in sub-committees shall be by 
show of hands or otherwise as the Committee or sub-committee, as 
the case may be, shall determine. No resolution shall be regarded as 
carried unless it has been approved by a majority of the members 
entitled to vote present on each side of the Committee or sub-
committee, as the case may be. 

 
13 Quorum The quorum of the Committee shall be 10, consisting of 4 

representatives of local authorities and 6 of the officers. In the 
absence of a quorum the Chair shall vacate the chair, and the 
business then under consideration shall be the first business to be 
discussed either at the next ordinary meeting or at a further special 
meeting to be held within fourteen days after the date fixed for the first 
special meeting, as the case may be. The quorum of a sub-committee 
shall, subject to any directions given by the Committee, be 
determined by the sub-committee. 

 
14 Notices of meetings All notices of meetings of the Committee and of 

any sub-committee thereof shall be sent to the respective members at 
least seven clear days before the date of the meeting. 

 
FINANCE 
 
15 The expenses of the Committee, excluding any necessary travelling 

or subsistence expenses incurred by the members, shall be shared 
equally by the two sides. 

 
ARBITRATION 
 
16 In the event of a dispute over terms and conditions of employment 

arising between the two sides of the Committee on any matter of 
general application to staff or of application to particular classes of 
staff, the dispute shall, at the request of either side, be reported to the 
Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service by the Joint Secretaries 
with a request that the matter be referred for settlement by arbitration.  
The arbitration award shall be accepted by the two sides, and shall be 
treated as though it were an agreement between the two sides. 

 
AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTION 
 
17 Alterations in the Constitution of the Committee shall be made as 

follows: 
 

a in paragraph 3 of this Constitution any change to the 
organisations represented on each Side, shall be a matter for 
each Side to determine. 

 
b all other clauses can only be changed with the assent of both 

Sides. 
 

Page 105



6 
 

PART 2 – CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 
  
1. APPLICATION OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS GENERALLY 
 
 A chief officer shall enjoy terms and conditions in other respects not 

less favourable than those accorded to other employees of the local 
authority. Where terms and conditions are not specified locally, ‘Green 
Book’ provisions shall apply. Such terms and conditions may include: 

 
Adoption Scheme 
Car Allowances 
Continuous Service 
Grievance 
Health, Safety & Welfare 
Maternity / Paternity Scheme 
Reimbursement of Expenditure 
Sickness Scheme 
Training & Development 

 
2. QUESTIONS OF INTERPRETATION 
 
 Any questions concerning the interpretation of the paragraphs of this 

booklet shall be referred to the Joint Secretaries who if necessary, 
may agree to refer it to the Joint Negotiating Committee for 
determination. 

 
3. PERIODS OF NOTICE TO TERMINATE EMPLOYMENT 
 
 The period of notice on either side will normally be three months, but 

this can be changed by mutual agreement. 
 
4. ANNUAL LEAVE 
 
 The chief officer shall be entitled to a minimum of 30 days’ annual 

leave (in addition to statutory and other public holidays but inclusive of 
any long service leave, extra statutory and local holidays). In 
exceptional circumstances and by mutual agreement annual leave 
may be carried forward to the next leave year. 

 
5. HONORARIUM PAYMENTS 
 
 A local authority may consider granting an honorarium (of an amount 

dependent upon the circumstances of each case) to an officer within 
purview of this Committee who performs duties outside the scope of 
his/her post over an extended period.  

 
6. RELOCATION EXPENSES 
 
 In the case of officers being relocated it is the practice of some 

authorities to contribute towards the approved costs of removal 

Page 106



7 
 

expenses and of other incidental expenses reasonably attributable to 
the removal; it would be in the best interests of local government and 
facilitate movement of officers if this practice were more widely 
followed. 

 
7.  SETTING REMUNERATION LEVELS 
 
7.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to produce and publish 

a pay policy statement. According to the Act and statutory guidance 
published in 2012 and 2013, the statement should include the local 
authority’s policy on specific aspects of chief officers’ remuneration: 
remuneration on recruitment, increases and additions to remuneration, 
use of performance-related pay and bonuses, termination payments, 
and transparency arrangements. It should also set out the approach to 
be adopted towards pay dispersion, (i.e. differentials). In addition, the 
Local Government Transparency Code 2015 requires local authorities 
to publish the differential between the taxable benefits of senior 
managers and the median taxable earnings figure for the local 
authority’s whole workforce, and details of senior employee salaries 
(above £50,000), names (with the option for individuals to refuse to 
consent for their name to be published), job descriptions, 
responsibilities, budgets and numbers of staff. 
 

7.2 In this context it is essential for good governance that local authorities 
can demonstrate that decisions on pay and reward packages for chief 
officers have been made in an open and accountable way.   
 

7.3 One option is for a local authority to establish a remuneration 
committee. The establishment of a remuneration committee is of course 
optional and different models may well suit individual authorities. What 
is clear though is that more than lip service must be paid to the notion 
of providing a verifiable and accountable process for recommending the 
remuneration level of the most highly-paid officials. 

 
7.4  The issues that local authorities will need to consider if they set up such 

a committee are set out at Appendix 3 of the JNC Conditions of 
Service Handbook for local authority Chief Executives. 

 
8. PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 
 
8.1 Chief officers’ responsibilities and accountabilities should be set out in 

writing at the appointment stage. Where this has not been done at the 
appointment stage it should be agreed with the individual officer 
concerned prior to the implementation of the performance appraisal 
scheme. Subsequently, there should be an annual process of 
performance appraisal linked to those responsibilities and 
accountabilities. 

 
8.2 The performance appraisal process is separate from any scheme 

relating to either pay or performance related pay. 

Page 107



8 
 

8.3 The performance appraisal process should involve the setting of both 
general and specific objectives for the year ahead and the review of 
performance in achieving previously set objectives. The focus of the 
process should be on clarifying what the chief officer will be expected 
to achieve and on identifying any continuing personal development 
needs to maintain a high level of performance. 

 
8.4 The authority will provide training for all parties involved in the 

process, including elected members if involved. 
 
8.5 The setting of objectives should be by consensus between the chief 

officer and his/her line manager, and/or the chief executive, and if 
desired an appropriate elected member. The result of the 
performance appraisal process will be to identify agreed objectives 
that are relevant and challenging but achievable and realistic in the 
light of available resources and time.  (Joint Secretaries guidance on 
appraisal of chief officers is set out in full at Annex 1)  

 
9. RESTRICTIONS ON RE-EMPLOYMENT 
 
9.1 After termination of the chief officer’s employment he/she: 
 

a will not divulge any information to any third party which is 
confidential to the authority. 

 
b will not, without the consent of the authority, which will not 

unreasonably be withheld, within a period of 12 months take up 
employment with or provide services for reward to any body: 

 
i if during the chief officer’s last two years of employment 

with the authority the officer has been directly involved in 
transactions with that body for which the offer of 
employment or provision of services could reasonably 
be regarded as a reward 

 
ii which is likely to benefit from commercially sensitive 

information which is known to the chief officer by virtue 
of his/her past employment by the authority. 

 
9.2 These provisions would not apply if the termination of employment 

with the local authority arose as the result of redundancy or the 
externalisation of work and consequent transfer to a new employer. 

 
10. SALARY 
 
 The salary paid to a chief officer will be that determined by the 

employing local authority. Salaries shall be deemed to be inclusive, 
and all other fees and emoluments, unless they are covered by 
Paragraph 11 or the authority expressly agrees that they shall be 

Page 108



9 
 

retained by the officer, shall be paid by the officer into the local 
authority’s accounts. 

 
11. RETURNING OFFICER FEES 
 
 The chief officer shall be entitled to receive and retain the personal 

fees arising from such of the duties of returning officer, acting 
returning officer, deputy returning officer or deputy acting returning 
officer and similar positions as he or she performs subject to the 
payment of pension contributions thereon, where appropriate, unless 
a specific term has been included in the chief officer’s contract 
referring to alternative arrangements. 

 
12. OFFICIAL CONDUCT 
 
12.1 The public is entitled to demand of a local government officer conduct 

of the highest standard. 
 
12.2 An officer’s off-duty hours are his/her personal concern but he/she 

should not subordinate his/her duty to his/her private interests nor put 
himself/herself in a position where his/her duty and his/her private 
interests conflict, or where public confidence in the conduct of the 
authority’s business would be weakened. 

 
12.3 Officers within purview of this Committee shall devote their whole-time 

service to the work of the local authority and shall not engage in any 
other business or take up any other additional appointment without 
the express consent of the local authority. 

 
12.4 An officer shall not be required to advise any political group of the 

local authority, either as to the work of the group or as to the work of 
the local authority, neither shall he/she be required to attend any 
meetings of any political group. This shall be without prejudice to any 
arrangements to the contrary which may be made in agreement with 
any officer and which includes adequate safeguards to preserve the 
political neutrality of the officer in relation to the affairs of the local 
authority. 

 
12.5 No officer shall communicate to the public the proceedings of any 

committee meeting nor the contents of any document relating to the 
authority which in either case is regarded by the authority as 
confidential unless required by law or expressly authorised to do so. 

 
12.6 If it comes to the knowledge of an officer that a contract in which 

he/she has any pecuniary interest, whether direct or indirect (not 
being a contract to which he/she is himself/herself a party), has been 
or is proposed to be, entered into by the authority, he/she shall, as 
soon as practicable, given notice in writing to the chief executive of 
the authority of the fact that he/she is interested therein.  (Attention is 

Page 109



10 
 

drawn to the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 
Section117). 

 
12.7 Information concerning an officer’s private affairs shall not be supplied 

to any person unless the consent of such officer is first obtained. 
 
 

Page 110



11 
 

PART 3 - DISCIPLINE, CAPABILITY AND REDUNDANCY 
 
1. SPECIFIC STATUTORY OFFICERS 
 
1.1 Where disciplinary action against the Monitoring Officer or s151 Officer 

or, in Wales, the Head of Democratic Services is contemplated, the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as 
amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015) in England, and the Local Authorities 
Standing Orders (Wales) Regulations 2006 in Wales, provide a degree 
of protection for these officers against unwarranted political 
interference in their statutory role within local authorities. 

 
1.2 (England) Paragraph 13 and 13A and Appendix 5A of the Conditions 

of Service Handbook of the Joint Negotiating Committee for Local 
Authority Chief Executives, which give effect to these statutory 
requirements, can be used as a reference guide in circumstances 
where disciplinary action against the Monitoring Officer or s151 Officer 
is contemplated. 

 
1.3  (Wales)  Paragraph 13 and 13B and Appendix 5B of the Conditions of 

Service Handbook of the Joint Negotiating Committee for Local 
Authority Chief Executives, which give effect to these statutory 
requirements, can be used as a reference guide in circumstances 
where disciplinary action against the Head of Democratic Services is 
contemplated. 

 
2. CHIEF OFFICERS OTHER THAN SPECIFIC STATUTORY 

OFFICERS 
 
2.1      The size and structure of local authorities varies greatly and it is 

therefore difficult to set out single disciplinary and capability procedures 
which would fit all authorities. However, authorities will have local 
procedures to deal with such issues. 

 
2.2      In general, informal conciliation is to be preferred to formal disciplinary 

and capability procedures if it can bring about a mutually agreed 
solution to the problems that have arisen. Such solutions should make 
it clear what specific changes in behaviour and/or performance are 
expected and within what timescales. However, provision is required to 
undertake more formal action where necessary. 

 
2.3      The principles of natural justice and good management practice must 

govern the conduct of any proceedings against a chief officer on the 
grounds of either alleged misconduct (i.e. ‘discipline’) or an alleged 
inability to carry out their role (i.e. ‘capability’). Authorities should have 
full regard to the principles and standards set out in the ACAS Code of 
Practice on Disciplinary Procedures. 

 

Page 111



12 
 

2.4  A particular consideration for Chief Officers is that the procedures must 
take account of an officer’s position in the hierarchy when determining 
who conducts investigations, undertakes disciplinary/capability 
hearings taking any appropriate action and who hears appeals. 
Depending on the structure of the authority and the circumstances of 
the case these functions should normally be undertaken by officers as 
appropriate but in some cases may require a committee of members to 
be involved in hearings or appeals. 

 
2.5 Where the chief officer’s continuing presence at work compromises an 

investigation or impairs the efficient exercise of the local authority’s 
functions, the chief officer may (subject to whatever consultation or 
approval may be required under the authority’s standing orders) be 
suspended from duty. The Council, or appropriate committee or senior 
officer, acting under delegated powers, may carry out such suspension 
on full pay. Written notice stating the reasons for any such suspension 
shall be given at the earliest opportunity possible. 

 
2.6 Suspension protocols regarding communication and matters such as 

annual leave and sickness should be agreed. The necessity for the 
chief officer to remain suspended should be reviewed at regular 
intervals and where possible lengthy periods of suspension should be 
avoided. 

 
2.7   In England, where an authority operates a mayor or leader cabinet 

executive system and as a result of disciplinary proceedings there is a 
recommendation to dismiss, they should check whether the executive 
objections procedure set out in schedule 1, part I, paragraph 6 and part 
II, paragraph 6 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001 applies, and if so ensure it is followed before the 
chief officer is dismissed.   

 
2.8 Where the chief officer in question is a Director of Public Health in 

England then the authority should ensure that it complies with section 
73A of the National Health Act 2006, which provides that before 
terminating the appointment of its Director of Public Health, a local 
authority must consult the Secretary of State for Health. Further 
information on this is available in the Department of Health’s guidance, 
Directors of Public Health in Local Government: Roles, responsibilities 
and context. 

 
2.9      The Joint Secretaries (or their representatives) are available to act in 

an impartial conciliation role, whether formal or informal if required to 
do so by the local parties. 

 
3. REDUNDANCY 
 
3.1 Employing authorities should consult with any chief officer affected at 

the earliest possible stage when there is a suggestion that the chief 
officer’s post might be abolished or proposed for abolition. 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/249810/DPH_Guidance_Final_v6.pdf


13 
 

 
3.2 If after such consultation a proposal is formulated to abolish the chief 

officer’s post, and that is part of a proposal to dismiss 20 or more 
employees from one establishment within 90 days the procedure of 
Section 188 of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) 
Act 1992, requiring consultation with trade unions, should be followed, 
the required statutory information being sent to the chief officer and to 
each independent trade union recognised by the employers for 
collective bargaining purposes for the chief officer. Where the 
provisions of the Act do not apply in any event a period of not less than 
twenty-eight days should be allowed for the individual consultation 
process. The chief officer and a trade union representative should also 
be afforded an opportunity of making oral representations to the 
Committee or Council meeting concerned before a final decision is 
made. 

 
3.3 If following such consultations the authority decide that the post must 

nevertheless be abolished, the officer should be offered any suitable 
alternative employment that may be available or which may become 
available in consequence of the re-organisation giving rise to the 
abolition of the chief officer’s post. 

 
3.4 The authority should also bear in mind the possible application of 

discretionary powers of premature retirement, and permissible 
enhancement of benefits or redundancy payments, and the possibilities 
of providing an alternative post or of extending the period of notice to 
assist the chief officer in finding other employment. 

 
3.5 Where the chief officer in question is a Director of Public Health in 

England then the authority should ensure that it complies with section 
73A of the National Health Act 2006, which provides that before 
terminating the appointment of its Director of Public Health, a local 
authority must consult the Secretary of State for Health. Further 
information on this is available in the Department of Health’s guidance, 
Directors of Public Health in Local Government: Roles, responsibilities 
and context. 

 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/249810/DPH_Guidance_Final_v6.pdf


14 
 

ANNEX 1 
 

JOINT GUIDANCE ON APPRAISAL OF THE CHIEF OFFICER 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This guidance is intended for use by senior officers, elected members 

and the chief executive when agreeing a process for appraising the 
performance of the chief officer. The focus of this process should be on 
clarifying what the chief officer is expected to achieve and on identifying 
any continuing developmental needs which, if met, would maintain a 
high level of performance. The process of setting objectives should be 
by agreement and the result should be to identify objectives which are 
relevant and challenging but achievable. 

 
1.2 The process should not become complex. At all times it needs to focus 

clearly on a few basic issues: what the chief officer’s job is; what has 
been done well; what could have been done better; the major issues 
over the next year; and what developmental needs the process clearly 
identifies. 

 
2. RESPONSIBILITY FOR APPRAISAL 
 
2.1 The responsibility for appraising a chief officer lies primarily with their 

line manager and/or chief executive. It is a contractual obligation on the 
part of both the chief officer and the employing local authority to engage 
in a regular process of appraisal. 

 
2.2 It will be for local decision in the light of local circumstances whether the 

appraisal should include any input from elected members representing 
all political groups or by a senior representative or representatives of 
the controlling group. Whichever approach is adopted, those conducting 
the appraisal need to bear in mind at all times that the chief officer is 
employed by the local authority as a whole, not by the controlling group, 
and is therefore required to serve all of the local authority. 

 
3. AIMS OF APPRAISAL 
 

• To identify and clarify the key objectives, priorities and targets of 
the local authority and appropriate timescales for their 
achievement over the next (e.g. twelve) months 
 

• Agree what the chief officer should personally achieve over the 
next (e.g. twelve) months and identify required standards of 
performance, in order to help deliver the local authority’s key 
objectives, priorities and targets. Wherever possible standards of 
performance should be expressed in ways which can be 
monitored objectively 
 

Page 114



15 
 

• Discuss positive achievements over the past (e.g. twelve) months 
and identify reasons for good performance 
 

• Discuss instances over the past (e.g. twelve) months where 
targets have not been met, identifying the factors preventing the 
achievements of agreed goals 
 

• Discuss developmental requirements. The chief officer will have 
strengths and weaknesses and the parties should identify the 
professional development necessary to equip the chief officer with 
the requisite skills to meet the local authority’s objectives. The 
parties should be proactive and anticipate future developmental 
needs in the context of the local authority’s changing priorities. 
This discussion could lead to the design of a formal programme of 
continuous professional development (CPD). Equally this 
discussion may lead to agreement on changes to the working 
relationship between the chief officer and the chief executive.  It 
should not be assumed that it is only the chief officer who may 
need to adjust his / her approach to the working relationship 

 
3.1 Appraisal should be set in the context of the local authority’s objectives, 

priorities and targets, generally expressed in corporate plans. Appraisal 
targets when taken as a whole should be related to agreed targets for 
the local authority as a whole. 

 
4. THE APPRAISAL CYCLE 
 
 Appraisal should take place on a predetermined date, at least 

annually, backed up by regular monitoring meetings at which targets 
can be reviewed for continuing relevance. A formal system of appraisal 
should not prevent the continuous review of progress and performance. 

 
5. KEY ELEMENTS OF THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 

• Continuous two-way monitoring of performance against objectives 
 

• Preparation for an appraisal interview 
 

• An appraisal interview where recent and current performance, 
future objectives and development needs are discussed 
 

• Agreement on action required from either party to ensure required 
performance is achievable 
 

• A continuing process of informal discussion regarding 
performance 

 
 
 
 

Page 115



16 
 

6. THE APPRAISAL INTERVIEW AND AFTERWARDS 
 

• Both parties should be well informed and prepared for the 
interview 
 

• The process should be two-way 
 

• The interview should be free from interruptions, and notes should 
be taken when necessary 
 

• The parties should concentrate as far as possible on established 
facts rather than unsubstantiated opinions 
 

• Targets which are realistic and capable of being monitored should 
be agreed 
 

• Any agreed personal development plans should be implemented 
within the agreed timescale 
 

• The chief officer should be given a reasonable opportunity to 
correct any shortfalls in performance 
 

• A date for the next review should be agreed 
 
7. OTHER MATTERS 
 
 The detailed content of appraisal interviews should normally be treated 

as confidential to the participants, unless both parties agree that it 
would be helpful for the targets agreed for the ensuing period to be 
shared more widely. However, it may be useful to report to an 
appropriate committee meeting that an appraisal interview has taken 
place. 

 
 

Page 116



BRIEFING NOTE   

 
MOTION: 53 Mondays 
  
This Council notes that  
 
Universal Credit suffers from a perennial administrative problem that creates unfairness for 
housing tenants who pay rent weekly. 
 
Universal Credit is calculated monthly on the basis of a 52-week year (364 charging days) and 
in a year with 53 Mondays, does not allow for the additional week’s rent levied by councils and 
housing associations. This occurs every five to six years and will impact residents in Lancaster 
District from 1st April 2024 affecting an estimated 1,470 council housing tenants who will have 
to find an extra week’s rent with no benefit payment to cover the cost. Residents in receipt of 
housing benefit are not affected because housing benefit is paid weekly, not monthly. 
 
This council believes that regardless of the type of benefit received, the benefits system should 
be administered fairly to meet the needs of residents and councils. 
 
This council also notes that the pressures caused by the cost-of-living crisis and in addition, 
an extra week’s rent, will impact on some of the most vulnerable residents in the district who 
live on the lowest incomes. The potential impact on rent arrears to the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) may be significant and will require considerable administrative time from 
officers to manage. 
 
This Council therefore resolves to write to the Secretary of State for the Department for Work 
and Pensions to request that the Universal Credit system be altered in 2024 by way of a 
payment adjustment and that a change is made so that this does not arise again in subsequent 
53-week years. 
 
PROPOSERS: 
 
Proposed by Councillor Caroline Jackon, Seconded by Councillor Phillip Black. 
 
OFFICER BRIEFING NOTE 
 
The Council Housing Team are ensuring residents in our properties who are affected are 
communicated with and supported.  
 
For all residents the Council is supportive of measures which can be undertaken to support 
residents struggling financially.  
 
The motion proposed creates no additional burden on the Council. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no comments. 
 

 

Page 117 Agenda Item 12



BRIEFING NOTE   

 
 

MOTION: New railway stations and electrification along the Lancaster - 
Morecambe - Heysham branch line 
  
Lancaster City Council notes that: 
 

a) Morecambe and Heysham Councillors representing the almost 37,000 residents of the 

wards: Heysham Central, Heysham South, Heysham North, West End, Westgate and 

Poulton, are calling on the Council to support new railway stations or halts alongside 

other improvements to the Lancaster-Morecambe-Heysham railway line. 

b) The 37,000 residents of these communities only have the public transport option of 

bus services, yet there is a railway line running right past them.  Having access to the 

railway network would enhance the lives of our residents, connect us directly to 

national railway services, take traffic off our roads, reduce congestion throughout the 

district and help us achieve our net zero targets.  It should also make the rail line more 

profitable for the operator as it will deliver many thousands more paying customers per 

year. 

c) We are all great supporters of the Eden development in Morecambe and are well 

aware of how transformational it has the potential to be.   

d) Lancashire County Council has responsibility for transport and not City, however 

Lancaster City Council is the accountable body for the Eden funding and is represented 

on the working group looking into the parking and transport needs of the visitors to 

Eden.   

e) The great majority of residents are fully supportive of the coming of Eden however their 

main concerns are the traffic and parking impact on the lives of the people who live in 

the area. 

f) Eden will be generating up to 4,000 visitors to Morecambe per day, a significant 

proportion of whom will be encouraged to arrive by train, necessitating an improvement 

to the service between Lancaster and Morecambe and beyond to Heysham Port.   

g) We understand that discussions are in their very early stages about such 

modernisation and improvements, including a new transport hub and some form of 

electrification, either through overhead lines or through the use of battery trains.  

h) Lancaster Civic Vision has made a point of lobbying Lancashire County Council and 

Lancaster City Council with regards to this electrification of the service.   

i) Transport improvements shouldn’t just be to the benefit of Eden and its visitors but 

equally should benefit local residents. 

 
Lancaster City Council believes: 
 
Substantial benefits to the local community can be achieved by new stations or halts to be 
built in Heysham, between Oxcliffe Road and Mossgate Park, in Westgate near to the football 
stadium and in Poulton at York Bridge.  Visitors to Morecambe could be served by a station 
with an adjacent ‘park and ride’ car park on land already owned by City and County at the end 
of the Bay Gateway near the Trumacar roundabout.  These new stations should be built whilst 
other improvements to the service including its electrification are being implemented to benefit 
visitors to Eden. 
 
 

Page 118Agenda Item 13



Lancaster City Council will: 
 

1) adopt the above as its preferred position in relation to railway stations on the Lancaster 

– Morecambe – Heysham line; 

2) make the case to the appropriate bodies and organisations at every available 

opportunity for new railway stations in Westgate, Poulton, Heysham and also 

potentially at the end of the Bay Gateway with an adjacent ‘park and ride’ car park; 

3) call for all parties to work towards a solution that will deliver an improved rail service 

for the residents of Morecambe and Heysham as well as for visitors to Eden and users 

of the port. 

 
PROPOSERS: 
 
Proposed by Councillor Catherine Potter. Seconded by Councillors Joanne Ainscough, 
Catherine Armistead, Matthew Black, Phillip Bradley, Roger Cleet, Claire Cozler, John 
Hanson, Prof Chris Harris, Paul Hart, Colin Hartley, John Livermore, Margaret Pattison, 
Susan Penney, and David Whitaker. 
 
OFFICER BRIEFING NOTE 
 
The City Council has previously tried to lobby for improved railway infrastructure, including 
stations along the route. 
 
During the planning application process for Morecambe Football Club’s Globe Arena (now the 
Mazuma Stadium), officers and the applicant tried to persuade Network Rail to include a rail 
halt as part of the development, but to no avail.  Prior to this, the Council also tried allocating 
land for aspirational rail halts in the district, one of which could have been at Mossgate Park, 
but Network Rail did not express an interest in developing the infrastructure that was required 
at the time. 
 
But the reallocation of funding from the cancellation of the later phase of HS2 towards major 
local transport improvements provides new encouragement for ambitious transport projects in 
the district. 
 
As part of the Eden Morecambe discussions, officers have been working with colleagues at 
Lancashire County Council to explore the potential for new infrastructure.  These discussions 
have included the potential for an electrified or battery-powered railway line to Morecambe; 
investment in the quality of Morecambe Railway Station (station buildings and facilities); and 
improvements to the number and/or regularity of services connecting Morecambe to the West 
Coast Mainline.  
 
Approximately 24% of the north’s rail network is currently electrified.  Electrification costs will 
vary depending upon the extent of infrastructure change that is required.  For example, aside 
from the provision of overhead lines, there will be changes needed to level crossings, signal 
equipment, station platforms and bridges to accommodate the new infrastructure.  As a broad 
benchmark, the ongoing electrification of six miles of the Bolton to Wigan line was estimated 
to cost £78m and involved extensive changes to infrastructure.  Whilst the Morecambe line is 
not as long as the Bolton-Wigan line, construction costs will have risen since. 
 
Additional railway stations in the locations indicated would provide local residents with greater 
travel choices.  A new station at Heysham is particularly needed given that Heysham does not 
currently benefit from a viable passenger rail service or a credible station despite its 
considerable population and employment hubs, especially at the power station and the port.  

Page 119



The creation of a passenger station alongside a park and ride could provide genuine change 
to help ease local commuting/school run patterns and improve air quality. 
 
As ever with the creation of new stations, there is a balance to be considered.  More stations 
along a branch line means more stops, which means longer journeys.  This may have the 
impact of reducing the overall number of services that can operate along the line.  This is 
because service patterns must align with the rail network’s national priority services, which are 
inter-city trains between Scotland and London and freight trains using the West Coast 
Mainline.  The fact that the branch line joins the West Coast Mainline means that there are 
limitations regarding the volume of services that can operate in between these national 
services. 
 
The motion aligns with the Council’s climate emergency declaration and the excellent work 
that the Council’s various teams are progressing in preparing for a low carbon future. 
City Council officers have a good working relationship with their County Council colleagues 
regarding rail matters, and both Councils have previously successfully collaborated regarding 
HS2 and local rail improvements.  Prior to the recent announcement, the County Council were 
active on the district’s behalf in discussing the potential for improvements to the Morecambe 
branch line with Network Rail and service operators.   
 
It is recommended that in the first instance officers meet with County Council colleagues to 
explore the feasibility of the options referred to in the motion.  
 
Where there is full (or even partial) support from the County Council in their role as transport 
authority and from the rail service operators (who will advise whether the proposals represent 
value for money in terms of service viability), then the City Council will lobby for an ambitious, 
improved Lancaster – Morecambe – Heysham branch line. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no comments. 
 

 

Page 120



 CABINET  
6.00 P.M.  6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 
 
PRESENT:- Councillors Phillip Black (Chair), Caroline Jackson, Joanne Ainscough, 

Gina Dowding, Tim Hamilton-Cox, Peter Jackson, Jean Parr, 
Catherine Potter, Nick Wilkinson and Jason Wood 

   
 Officers in attendance:-  
   
 Mark Davies Chief Executive 
 Luke Gorst Chief Officer - Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 Paul Thompson Chief Officer - Resources and Section 151 Officer 
 Joanne Wilkinson Chief Officer - Housing and Property 
 Peter Linsley Council Housing Service Support Manager 
 Liz Bateson Principal Democratic Support Officer 
 
59 MINUTES  
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 16 January 2024 were approved as a 

correct record. 
  
60 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS AUTHORISED BY THE LEADER  
 
 The Chair advised that there were no items of urgent business. 
  
61 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 No declarations were made at this point. 
  
62 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
 Members were advised that there had been no requests to speak at the meeting in 

accordance with Cabinet’s agreed procedure. 
  
63 BUDGET & POLICY FRAMEWORK UPDATE 2024/25 TO 2028/29  
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Cabinet received a report from the Chief Finance Officer that set out the latest position in 
respect of the budget and policy framework and Cabinet’s proposed General Fund 
revenue budget for 2024/25. 
 
The options, options analysis, including risk assessment and officer preferred option, 
were set out in the report as follows: 
 
Council may adjust its revenue budget proposals, so long as the overall budget for 
2024/25 balances and fits with the proposed Council Tax level.  
 
Depending on the nature of any alternative proposals put forward, Officers may need 
time to assess the risks and implications. This is to ensure that relevant considerations 
are taken into account, to support informed and lawful decision making.  

Page 121 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

 
Cabinet will have the opportunity to consider any further changes or amendments at its 
meeting 20th February where it will be asked to recommend its Budget to Full Council 
for approval at its accordance with the Constitution.  
 
The officer preferred option is that Cabinet considers the updates to the General Fund 
Revenue Budget 2024/25 recognising that a final report will be presented at its meeting 
20th February 2024. 
 
Consideration was given to the comments made by the Budget and Performance Panel 
on 18 January 2024  as detailed in paragraph 5.1 of the report.  With regard to the green 
waste subsidy, it was noted that the costs of this were difficult to determine and 
removing the subsidy would likely impact on the number of subscribers.  Work continues 
to take place at Salt Ayre to ensure value for money can be evidenced along with its 
contribution to Council priorities. This includes benchmarking, performance management 
and consideration of best practice. The request for council tax information  had been 
addressed and work was ongoing in relation to identified savings.  This would be 
reported back to Budget & Performance Panel. 
 
As the report was for noting there was no vote on this item. 

  
64 CAPITAL STRATEGY & CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2024/25 TO 2028/29  
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Cabinet received a report from the Chief Finance Officer to present Cabinet’s final 
budget proposals in order that the Council can approve a General Fund Capital 
Programme for 2023/24 to 2028/29 and a Capital Strategy 2024/25 as required by 
regulation. 
 
The options, options analysis, including risk assessment and officer preferred option, 
were set out in the report as follows: 
 
Cabinet may put forward alternative proposals or amendments to the proposed Strategy 
ahead of consideration by Budget & Performance Panel. For capital, Council may adjust 
its capital investment and financing proposals taking account of spending commitments 
and priorities, but its proposals for 2024/25 must balance.  
 
Depending on the nature of any alternative proposals put forward, Officers may need 
time to assess the risks and implications. This is to ensure that relevant considerations 
are taken into account, to support informed and lawful decision- making. 
 
The officer preferred option was for Cabinet to consider the Capital Programme and 
Strategy as attached to the report and refer it to Budget and Performance Panel for 
review. 
 
The report addressed the actions required to complete the budget setting process for its 
Capital Programme and Capital Strategy. If Cabinet, or Budget Council changed its 
Capital Programme from that which was proposed in the report then this would require a 
change in the prudential indicators which are part of the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
Councillor Hamilton-Cox proposed, seconded by Councillor Wood:- 

Page 122



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

 
“That the recommendations, as set out in the report, be approved.” 
 
Councillors then voted:- 
 
Resolved unanimously: 
 
(1) That Cabinet recommends the following for consideration and comment by 

Budget & Performance Panel:  

 the updated Capital Programme covering financial years 2023/24 to 2032/33  
the Capital Strategy (Investing in the Future) 2024/25 

 
Officer responsible for effecting the decision: 
 
Chief Officer Resources 
 
Reasons for making the decision: 
 
The Council’s revenue and capital budgets should represent, in financial terms what the 
Council is seeking to achieve through its Policy Framework. The proposed capital 
programme and supporting strategy is part of the Council’s budget and policy 
framework, and fits into the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  Cabinet will have the 
opportunity to consider any comments at its meeting 20th February where it will be 
asked to recommend the strategy to Full Council for approval at its accordance with the 
Constitution. 
 
The proposed budget incorporates measures to address the climate emergency and 
digital improvements as well as activities to address wellbeing, health and community 
safety. 

  
65 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY  
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Cabinet received a report from the Chief Finance Officer to present to Cabinet the draft 
Treasury Management Strategy and associated documents for 2024/25 and to provide 
an opportunity for consideration and comment ahead of formal presentation to Budget & 
Performance Panel for their consideration and comment. 
 
The options, options analysis, including risk assessment and officer preferred option, 
were set out in the report as follows: 
 
Cabinet may put forward alternative proposals or amendments to the proposed Strategy 
ahead of consideration by Budget & Performance Panel, but these would have to be 
considered in light of legislative, professional, and economic factors, and importantly, 
any alternative views regarding the Council’s risk appetite. As such no further options 
analysis is available currently.  
 
Furthermore, the Strategy must fit with other aspects of Cabinet’s budget proposals, 
such as deposit interest estimates and underlying prudential borrowing assumptions, 
feeding into Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators. There are no options 
available regarding other components of the overall framework. 

Page 123



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

 
The officer preferred option was for Cabinet to consider the framework as attached to 
the report and refer it to Budget and Performance Panel for review. 
 
The report addressed the actions required to complete the budget setting process for 
Treasury Management, and for updating the Council’s associated financial strategy. This 
was based on the Council continuing to have a comparatively low risk appetite regarding 
the security and liquidity of investments particularly, but recognising that some flexibility 
should help improve returns, whilst still effectively mitigating risk. It was stressed that in 
terms of treasury activity, there was no risk free approach. It was felt, however, that the 
measures set out in the report provided a fit for purpose framework within which to work, 
pending any update during the course of next year.  
 
If Cabinet, or Budget Council changes its Capital Programme from that which was 
proposed in this report then this would require a change in the prudential indicators 
which are part of the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
Councillor Hamilton-Cox proposed, seconded by Councillor Wood:- 
 
“That the recommendation, as set out in the report, be approved.” 
 
Councillors then voted:- 
 
Resolved unanimously: 
 

(1) That Cabinet recommend the Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 and  
Appendices A to C for consideration and comment by the Budget & Performance 
Panel.  

 
Officer responsible for effecting the decision: 
 
Chief Officer Resources 
. 
Reasons for making the decision: 
 
Treasury Management forms part of the Councils budget framework. Effective Treasury 
Management and use of the Councils’ resources is fundamental to the delivery of its 
priorities and outcomes.  Cabinet will have the opportunity to consider any comments at 
its meeting 20th February where it will be asked to recommend the strategy to Full 
Council for approval at its accordance with the Constitution. 

  
66 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  
 
 This item was deferred.  An additional Cabinet meeting would be convened in the week 

prior to March Council to consider this report. 
  
67 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Caroline Jackson) 

 
Cabinet received a joint report from the Chief Officer for Housing & Property and the 
Chief Officer Resources (Section 151 Officer) that sought Cabinet decisions on Council 

Page 124



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

Housing rent setting proposals and HRA revenue and capital budget proposals. 
 
The options, options analysis, including risk assessment and officer preferred option, 
were set out in the report as follows: 
 
The options with regards to rent setting are set out under section 4, the maximum 
permitted increase being CPI+1%. By applying this increase, it allows for a budget that 
can deliver on the Council’s ambitions on improving housing standards and addressing 
the climate change emergency, whilst adhering to the Rent Standard and legislative 
requirements.  
 
In relation to garage rents, the previous decision was to freeze rents for 2023/24. In 
order to protect current occupancy and income levels, and in line with sector 
benchmarking, a further 12-month freeze is recommended. Garage rents and occupancy 
will remain under review.  
 
With regard to the revenue budget generally, Cabinet could consider other proposals 
that may influence spending in current and future years, as long as their financing is 
considered and addressed and coherent with the legislative and regulatory requirements 
of a Registered Provider.  
 
The options available in respect of the minimum level of HRA balances are to retain the 
level at £750K in line with the advice of the Section 151 Officer, or adopt a different 
level. Should Members choose not to accept the advice on the level of balances, then 
this should be recorded formally in the minutes of the meeting and it could have 
implications for the Council’s financial standing, as assessed by its external auditor.  
 
The options available in respect of the Capital Programme are:  

i) To approve the programme in full, with the financing as set out;  
ii) To incorporate other increases or reductions to the programme, with appropriate 

sources of funding being identified.  
 

Any risks attached to the above would depend on measures Members proposed, and 
their impact on the council housing service and its tenants. As such, a full options 
analysis could only be undertaken once any alternative proposals are known, and 
Officers may require more time in order to do this. 
 

 Option 1: Set housing and 
garage rent levels as set out in 
this report and approve the 
provisions, reserves and 
balances position (and their 
use); the revenue budgets and 
capital programme 

Option 2: To propose 
alternatives to those outlined 
in Section 11 to the report. 

Advantages Increased rental income 
supports the Council to deliver 
against its Regulatory 
requirements and ensuring 
homes are safe and decent. 

Unknown 

Disadvantages Increased rent levels for 
tenants. 

Would require further options 
analysis 

Risks/ Mitigation The HRA budget set out in this Impact on housing service 

Page 125



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

report is sustainable in the 
long term. The risks 
associated with Option 1 are 
outlined in Appendix F – Risks 
and Assumptions. 

and council housing tenants 
unknown. Potential for 
housing service to fall foul of 
legislative and regulatory 
requirements, leading to 
unlimited fines and being 
‘named and shamed’ by 
government. 

 
The officer preferred option is Option 1: Set housing and garage rent levels as set out in 
this report and approve the provisions, reserves and balances position (and their use); 
the revenue budgets and capital programme; and all additional budget proposals as set 
out.  
 
The Tenant Voice group were consulted on 1st February at their bi-monthly meeting, 
where budget headlines, including the proposed rent increase and significant areas of 
spend and investment, were presented by the Neighbourhood and Support Services 
Manager.  
 
The Tenant Voice expressed their concern about the impact of the rent increase on 
tenants but understood and agreed that this was appropriate in order for continued 
delivery of services and future ambitions. They endorsed the rent setting proposal and 
other key areas within the budget. 
 
Councillor Caroline Jackson proposed, seconded by Councillor Wood:- 
 
“That the recommendations, as set out in the report, be approved.” 
 
Councillors then voted:- 
 
Resolved unanimously: 
 
(1) That the minimum level of HRA unallocated balances be retained at £750,000 

from 01 April 2024, and that the full Statement on Reserves and Balances as set 
out at Appendix E to the report be endorsed and referred on to Budget Council 
for approval.  
 

(2) That council housing rents be set in accordance with statutory requirements as 
follows:  

 for existing tenancies, rents will increase by 7.7% from 3 April 2024  

 for new tenancies within 2024/25, rents will be set at ‘formula rent’ 
 
(3)  That garage rents be frozen for a 12-month period (rather than increased by CPI, 

as per the rent setting policy established by Cabinet in January 2017) in order to 
protect income levels currently achieved, and in line with benchmarking across 
the sector. 

 
(4) That a delegated decision to approve the tender of five programmes of work 

(over £200K and key decisions over £250K) during 2024/25 can be made by the 
Chief Executive (as detailed below) and in line with procurement rules.  

 Energy efficiency improvement works  

 Re-rendering works to properties at Hala  

Page 126



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

 Whole House Major Voids works and refurbishment  

 External door replacement  

 Re-roofing of properties on Ryelands Estate (phase 2) 
 
(5)  That subject to the above, the resulting Housing Revenue Account budget for 

2024/25 onwards, as set out at Appendix A to the report, together with the 
resulting Capital Programme as set out at Appendix C to the report, be 
considered by Cabinet, ahead of final presentation on 20th February. 

 
Officers responsible for effecting the decision: 
 
Chief Officer Housing & Property 
Chief Officer Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Reasons for making the decision: 
 
The budget represents, in financial terms, what the Council is seeking to achieve 
through its approved Housing Strategy in relation to council housing. Whilst the report 
highlights challenges faced within the current economic environment, Lancaster City 
Council’s Housing Service continues to operate a sensible but forward-looking 
approach, seeking to meet Regulatory requirements and deliver safe and decent homes. 
 
The proposals set out in the report will have positive impacts residents within Council 
Housing dwellings specifically climate change, wellbeing / social value, health and safety 
and community safety. 

  
68 DECISION TO CONSIDER SUSTAINABILITY OF A COUNCIL HOUSING DWELLING 

BLOCK  
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Caroline Jackson) 

 
Cabinet received a report from the Chief Officer Housing & Property that sought 
decisions from Cabinet regarding the future sustainability of Bridge House, Mainway, in 
the context of the ongoing Mainway project and liabilities contained within the Building 
Safety Act. 
 
The options, options analysis, including risk assessment and officer preferred option, 
were set out in the report as follows: 
 

 Option 1: Cease to let 
dwellings within Bridge 
House and support current 
residents to move out of the 
block. 

Option 2: Commit to fully 
tenanting Bridge House while it 
remains operational. 

Advantages Safety risks are eliminated, 
and maintenance and other 
costs are not incurred 

Rental income can be achieved 
in the short term. 

Disadvantages Loss of income from rents 
would be seen – this has 
provisionally been factored 
into the HRA budget report. 

The exact lifespan of the block 
is unknown. It is feasible that 
significant money may be spent 
on the block only for it to be 
considered unsustainable in the 

Page 127



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

near future. 

Risks An empty block would pose 
its own security risks, which 
would need management by 
the service. 

Financial liabilities relating to 
tenanting the block make this a 
risky financial decision. Failure 
of the cladding, and the risk to 
health and safety, is likely to be 
an increasing risk. 

 
 
Due to the current condition of Bridge House and the risks relating to this, Option 1 is the 
preferred option. 
 
It is recognised that the decision to cease letting of Bridge House will impact current 
residents. The housing team are committed to supporting residents to accessing a 
suitable alternative housing solution, including financially in respect of reasonable 
moving costs.  In addition, ceasing to let Bridge House creates some flexibility within the 
Mainway project regarding the prospective demolition of the block. It should be noted 
that the loss of rental income for this block from April 2024 onwards has currently been 
built into HRA budget projections to be presented to Cabinet within the HRA Budget 
Report for consideration in February 2024. 
 
It was noted that the third recommendation should have read 4.4 and not 3.3 and this 
along with a typo in the introduction would be amended in the published report. 
 
Councillor Caroline Jackson proposed, seconded by Councillor Potter:- 
 
“That the recommendations, as set out in the report, be approved with ‘3.3’ in 
recommendation (3) amended to 4.4.” 
 
Councillors then voted:- 
 
Resolved unanimously: 
 
(1)  That the decision to cease to let empty properties in Bridge House, Mainway, be 

approved.  
 
(2)  That it be noted that options to facilitate vacating the remainder of Bridge House, 

Mainway, will be explored by officers.  
 
(3)  That, should the BFLR funding application in paragraph 4.4 be successful, the 

Chief Executive has delegated authority to approve acceptance of any attendant 
funding award following publication of key decision notice as required. 

 
Officer responsible for effecting the decision: 
 
Chief Officer Housing and Property 
 
Reasons for making the decision: 
 
The proposal is in support of wider Council ambitions to deliver redevelopment of the 
Mainway Estate. More widely, it supports the objectives within the Council plan to 
promote a sustainable district, and health and happy communities, by contributing to the 

Page 128



CABINET 6TH FEBRUARY 2024 
 

development of the Mainway Masterplan and the provision of new affordable homes.   
 
The impact of this decision will be mitigated. Residents currently living in Bridge House 
will be supported to move elsewhere within the council’s housing stock, into alternative 
accommodation which meets their needs as assessed using the standard allocation 
criteria.  The true cost to the Council of a failure in the cladding, or another structural 
defect due to the age of the building, while the block is occupied may far exceed the 
income lost in the intervening period until the masterplan for Mainway has been fully 
developed and approved. 

  
 
 
 
 

  

 Chair 
 

(The meeting ended at 7.54 p.m.) 
 
 

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact 
Liz Bateson, Democratic Support - email ebateson@lancaster.gov.uk 

 
MINUTES PUBLISHED ON FRIDAY 16 FEBRUARY 2024.   
 
EFFECTIVE DATE FOR IMPLEMENTING THE DECISIONS CONTAINED IN THESE MINUTES: 
MONDAY 26 FEBRUARY, 2024.   
 
 

 

Page 129


	Agenda
	8 LEADER'S REPORT
	9 Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2024-25
	10 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 - 2028/29
	Appendix A - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 2028-29
	Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024-25 to 2028-29.pdf (p.1-30)
	Appendix A - Capital Programme.pdf (p.31-32)
	Appendix B - Capital Strategy - Investing in the Future.pdf (p.33-51)
	Appendix C - Treasury Management Strategy 2024-25.pdf (p.52-75)
	Appendix D - Reserves.pdf (p.76)


	11 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2024/25
	Pay Policy Statement 24.25
	JNC Conditions of Service Handbook
	JOINT NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE for LOCAL AUTHORITY CHIEF OFFICERS 
	CONTENTS 
	PART 1 - CONSTITUTION 
	PART 2 – CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 
	PART 3 - DISCIPLINE, CAPABILITY AND REDUNDANCY 
	ANNEX 1 



	12 Motion on Notice - 53 Mondays
	13 Motion on Notice - New railway stations and electrification along the Lancaster - Morecambe - Heysham branch line
	16 MINUTES OF CABINET

